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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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BRIEMIL A (5202354 A25 HEEE R T)
PRfER LA (B2023F 7 A26 HEERT)
BEZEL+ (520235726 REEZT)
HHEBIR L+ (B2023F7 Ao HERT)
BEEZ %A (B 202357 A6 B EHE)

BREEREAE (EFE)

(820234720 B BEET)
BEE 4 (8202367 A20 BREEZT)
PRIEEMI A (B 202354 25 HEEERT)
HHEIR L+ (B2023F7 AeHEEE)
BEEZ %A (B 202357 Ao HAEEHE)

WimtE L (FE)

BEET 4 (820237 A20 BREEZT)
PRIEEMIL A (B 202354 A2s HEEERT)
BEE{Z %A (B 202357 A6 HiEBHT)

BRIEMR ST & (F/E)

(820234825 BEEZT)
WimrE 4
BEZL+ (52023F7 26 EERT)
REB{Z A (B 202357 A6 B EHT)

BEH/NME(B2023F9 A1 BEEEF)
BIBSES A (A 202349 A1 BREEHT)

Mr Lun Ruixiang (Chairman)

Mr Lun Zhao Ming (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr Lu Peijun
Mr Luo Chengyu

Mr Chen Guilin (appointed with effect from 25 April 2023)

Mr Chan Kin Man (appointed with effect from 26 July 2023)

Ms Ou Ningxin (appointed with effect from 26 July 2023)

Ms Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna (resigned with effect from 6 July 2023)
Mr Hung Wan Shun Stephen (resigned with effect from 6 July 2023)

Mr Chan Kin Man (Chairman)
(appointed with effect from 26 July 2023)
Ms Ou Ningxin (appointed with effect from 26 July 2023)
Mr Chen Guilin (appointed with effect from 25 April 2023)
Ms Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna (resigned with effect from 6 July 2023)
Mr Hung Wan Shun Stephen (resigned with effect from 6 July 2023)

Mr Lun Ruixiang (Chairman)

Ms Ou Ningxin (appointed with effect from 26 July 2023)

Mr Chen Guilin (appointed with effect from 25 April 2023)

Mr Hung Wan Shun Stephen (resigned with effect from 6 July 2023)

Mr Chen Guilin (Chairman)
(appointed with effect from 25 April 2023)
Mr Lun Ruixiang
Ms Ou Ningxin (appointed with effect from 26 July 2023)
Mr Hung Wan Shun Stephen(resigned with effect from 6 July 2023)

Ms Tang So Him (appointed with effect from 1 September 2023)
Mr Lo Chi Ho Wilfred (resigned with effect from 1 September 2023)
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Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
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Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands
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AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr Lun Zhao Ming
Ms Tang So Him (appointed with effect from 1 September 2023)
Mr Lo Chi Ho Wilfred (resigned with effect from 1 September 2023)

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS AND
HEAD OFFICE IN THE PRC

1, Beihuan Lu, Houjiezhen
Dongguan, Guangdong
PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Office No. 1907, 19th Floor
Great Eagle Centre

No. 23 Harbour Road
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F

Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

AUDITOR

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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FRERRIT

{8 IR

BN ERTEHXT
THRTREEH LT
IR AR AR R 21T
DT ML

www.huijingholdings.com

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong law:
Deacons

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Hang Seng Bank

Dongguan Rural Commercial Bank Houjie Branch
ICBC Dongguan Houjie Branch

China Construction Bank Dongguan Houjie Branch

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.huijingholdings.com
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MR
FINANCIAL SUMMARY

BEN2ANALEE

For the year ended 31 December

20194 2020 2021 € 2023 F

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

AEETT AEETT ARETTT i ARETR

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 ' RMB'000

Yz Revenue 3,605,606 5,153,233 5,309,290 85,893 941,219
BREATEF/ (BR) Profit/(loss) before tax 1,226,809 1329129 1,102,164 (2,806,057) (664,729)
FEHS L Income tax expense (606,798) (588655) (551,768) (27,839) (65,621)

BRFIES AJES Total comprehensive
FRZENE/(B8) income/(loss) for the year
FekE] attributable to owners
of the parent 613,795 485,805 279,746 (2,485,306) (723,425)
R12A31H
As at 31 December

20194 2020 2021 4F 2022 6 2023 F

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

ARETT AEETT AREFT AREFT AR®ETTT

RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

BERR Total assets 8,617,258 12,738,992 15182212 12,213,441 10,417,205
BfELHE Total liabilities (6,994,634) (8,909,356) (10930,837) (10,894,770) (9,891,786)

EniEE Total equity 1622624 3,829,636 4,251,375 1318671 525,419

¥R 2023 Annual Report 5
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

B BAIR -

TARBRRAAEFE(UTEHHEIES=E])
RARSMIR2ESZERER AT A TERE
[ARRDERENBRAG (A THEREIAE
B )EZE2023F12A31BILFEZFEEE -

(1) ¥BEXEES
HZE2023F12831BIEEE FAR
EEWANEBAREMI2EE T &L
—FRIBRLL EF499958% @ EFH A
ARM®2584BE L EMNEHA
275%  FRFBEHOABARKE73048
BT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of the Company (hereinafter referred to
as the “Board”), | am pleased to present the annual results of Huijing
Holdings Company Limited (hereinafter referred to as the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2023.

(1) Significant fluctuations in performance

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's revenue for the
year was approximately RMB941.2 million, representing a year-on-
year increase of approximately 995.8% respectively, gross profit was
approximately RMB258.4 million, gross profit margin was
approximately 27.5%, and net loss for the year was approximately
RMB730.4 million.

il

=il 1

6 SESHEMRAR AR Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

(2)

(m

HE2023F12A31H A&EEEHT
BHEEBYARBIEE TNE
445 E B IS 420,965 F 77 K °

Bt 7 iR O T i R h
0B3FMRRHEN—F - AEEREE
BHARBI041728 8T I8 LF
BERDN147%  BEEABEHNA
95.0% RFEARBEERLNARTS%  EE
efrEZRMEZ2023F12A8318 1k
FEHRBARS -

E¥XEKREZLHE

2023F  AEEDAERBUTAEER
BRTEER UWHMEHFAZL X
IREEMMEEXAER N —E—%
MEI|HBRAOR ZERAEENEZE
M NEHRADBNZLDRE R AT
B RAE S o

(2)

m

As of 31 December 2023, the Group achieved contracted sales of
approximately RMB292.3 million and contracted gross floor area sold
of approximately 20,965 sg.m..

Financial position under pressure

2023 was still a difficult year, the Group's total assets was
approximately RMB10,417.2 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 14.7% as compared to the same period last year; the
asset-liability ratio was approximately 95.0% and the net gearing
ratio was approximately 917.5%. The Board did not recommend the
payment of final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Distinct advantages in business strategies

In 2023, the Group will continue to adhere to the business model of
“focusing on residential development projects, while taking the
urban renewal projects as the core, as well as the cultural and
tourism-healthy living towns and the scientific and innovative
technologies industrial towns as the two wings (LA {¥ % 1 % & =
BER  URTERRZL  NIKESNBEIEZRER),
which constitutes its “one focus, one core, and two wings (— & — 1% /i
)’ blueprint, to enrich the diversity of profit structure and
continuously enhance the core competitiveness and sustainable
development capability of the Company.

3R 2023 Annual Report 7
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

(2)

(3

8

BHENEXREE—E

BRETMAREPRLY  [Z ke
FWMBEREAN  RERTRIAEZRE
B BT ERTE  EEM T M
EEELCNMRBERA RAMEFHFIE2—
HEAMITEBS - Z203FK @ A&
ECESEEBEMATHBREEIE®R 9
&8 B IE £ HE s AT HA AR IS 7 o

MAEXBEHESIKSERR

ERARR][ME | EHEE 2 — oAl
EX FALERTREERR:ES.
BRSCEEBNEEERIR - M
RELRRREREEIBRIREE  E
REX TEAKEREAMEER
MEEMBERREL  SHASTRE
BANAZM BELEHERS BN
MAlteE Ex TE2aEESR
SCEAFR L - A 3T AR AR IR S 40 A ik
FeRFERER - ERLEBEZFR
EWETELBERERNES  REATE
REMBHX BT R RERI - BV E
KA ERARER -

(2)

(3)

Going a step further in urban renewal

Since the State proposed in the 14th Five-Year Plan to “accelerate
the transformation of urban development, coordinate urban
planning and construction management, implement urban renewal
actions, and promote the optimisation of urban spatial structure and
quality improvement”, urban renewal is a major industry trend. By
the end of 2023, the Group has obtained the qualifications of
preparatory services providers for nine projects and is in the process
of obtaining the qualifications of preparatory services providers for
the other nine projects.

Regional economic development driven by the science
and technology industry

As one of the “two wings” of the Company’s business strategy, the
science and innovation industry also achieved a breakthrough
development during the year: Huijing - Bay Area 5G Smart
Manufacturing Port (E & « /& [2 5G 2 %58 ) will help enterprises to
upgrade and transform, and open a new chapter for a smart factory
in Dongguan Eco-environmental Park; Huijing Industry « Zhihui
Valley (E & E 2 - %5 [ &) will build a comprehensive science and
innovation park, and create a science and innovation ecosphere
integrating the transformation of scientific and technological
achievements, high-end talent apartments, joint office space and
commercial support carriers; Huijing « Jiangbian Ancient Village
project CES - /T2 &5 /1 B ) will lead a new style of civilisation,
and will be developed into a tourism resort project with
characteristics of revitalisation of villages in Dongguan. Through the
advantages accumulated in the real estate industry over the years,
Huijing is promoting the industrialisation of the research results of
artificial intelligence and technological innovation, helping the
construction of innovative industrial ecosystems.

TESIZERREBRAE]  Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

RERK  FHETSEEARISEEN
AEERERRMRE  LEXNER TR
R ERRERME OB o AR
R—FHEREF AEEKEEEINER
WRHNMEERER LESRERERET
M=BBEER -

HZE2023F 124318 KEE R 2= B8 {EH
MERERISEREMEEE R4t 10 £
B 42836679 F H K - BE
BREHIHEEEAEENZELERIRE
EM G EHREBRERE  ERERDE -

e NRABRRESERC U228
R -REE AEEP 2BRAFUALGE
EERANIFBABRROHE -

EHERORALES - RIRERERITT o FAFIENH &
BHEA04FFE_FE  WBHKEEES
FERM PR EEEET KB ma
REES -

EREREZSFE
mE
202443 A28 H

Going forward, the real estate market will continue to focus on the keynote
of “stability” and the Group will adhere to the strategic positioning of
“penetrating into Dongguan, maintaining foothold in the Greater Bay Area,
and sustaining coverage of the Southern, Central and Eastern China areas
(FMRZE - URARER MBEM FEPRNRERMME). Looking
forward to the coming year and even the next year, the Group will
continue to focus on property development projects in the Southern China
region, especially the Three-old Transformation projects in Dongguan,
Guangdong Province.

As of 31 December 2023, the Group owned a total of 18 real estate projects
and 4 parcels of land in 8 cities across the country, with a total gross floor
area of the land reserves of approximately 2,836,679 sg.m.. The high-quality
and sufficient land reserves will ensure the Group’s sustainable
development, extend the depth of the Group's brand and refine the quality
of its products.

I, on behalf of the Board, would like to take this opportunity to express my
sincere gratitude to all shareholders, investors, customers that we
cooperate with, colleagues and the community for their support.

We are forging ahead firmly in the future. The opportunities and challenges
are awaiting us when we are prepared to enter the second quarter of 2024.
We hope we can continue to work together to embark on a beautiful
chapter of urban development.

Lun Ruixiang
Board Chairman of Huijing
28 March 2024

3R 2023 Annual Report 9
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EBHEEATREZBLENEZMEKIS
KET2RFREFAENES - A RHBUT G
BESEBERY  ABERINBRREE
HoERIEWE] [BEE] [BEHIM
[ZEBJBEEZE UWRERHEMSRIERFIRM
FERREER o

EEHNEENMBRERET  AREREE
RENERED BERIVEANER  FHE
o MRER ERRERITSIBENTIN
o BBERFIAEEHEREEER A
WHEHBZL  NIRFEEMMAEXRE
BRINI—E-—EMBIXZBRE - ABORT
BRI AR BN OHETE N RAIFHEEREN

As a major part of the macro economy in China, the real estate industry has
experienced a deeply transformative adjustment in the year of 2023. The
Chinese government will continue to adhere to the keynote of its policy
that “houses are for living in, not for speculative investment”, and to adopt
city-specific measures (B{ETK B HEER) to achieve stability on the
three fronts (=#8) of land prices (B2#B{&), housing prices (BF &) and
expectations (1% T8 #1), with a view to fostering a positive cycle and
healthy development of the real estate market.

Under the new economic and policy environment, the Group has
maintained a steady momentum of development that revolves around
establishing, cultivating and expanding its foothold and presence in the
Greater Bay area, Dongguan and the high value-added cities in the
Southern, Central and Eastern China areas respectively (37 & X/E[&E » &
MR - MmRER EPREIEFIEEIMNT). As part of its “one
focus, one core, and two wings (— & — 1% M £ )" blueprint, the Group has
maintained the business model of focusing primarily on residential
development projects with urban renewal projects at its core on the one
hand, and the cultural and medical tourism living towns and scientific and
innovative technologies industrial towns as its two wings on the other (A
EERBEB/ILEL  UHHEH/ZL  XIKREEMBBIER
&% &), continuing its relentless effort to bolster the Group's core
competitiveness and capacity for sustainable development.

10 CESIERRBEMRASF Huijing Holdings Company Limited



B E WM

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REBNPAZEZREYENEE  HXRE
KEYWEME - HE2023F 128318 IEHF
B AEESSRRANARBMI2EET
[E] b 32 AN 47 995.8% o W A8 H0 T 2R 5 88 -
FEEHEAB  ZBEER0FEERT - it
AEEATEETE -

BHHE

HE203FNANBALEFE  A&BEREG
BRESBOGNHEEENARARK 20237
BT BEHZE202F12ANBIEEERERS
TBEAI337% : (VA AHEREERE ([BE
M) 8920965F 5K - B Z= 2022512 A
BSVAHLEFECZANEEREEEBTRY
60.5% ©

MEHE

HZE2023F12A3HIEFE WEHESKA
SRS R INFRIE12163% 2 £ A R #909.2
BEIT (RAEBEBURAL66% & = 2023
FRANALFE ASBECHRDLER
BEMEL67038F F K B2002FRE 2
MEEEREIEINA3191% FERBWEHEE
MMEZFHEEB(FETHEEDHNABTEA
KARME135637C » AIHLIEANKD 214.1% ©

The Group derives its revenue primarily from sales of properties and, to a
lesser extent, lease of investment properties. The Group recorded a total
revenue of approximately RMB941.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
995.8%. Revenue increase comes from Xingfu District (3£ 48 &) of Pinghu,
which was completed in 2023 but most of the properties were pre-sale
before.

Contracted sales

For the year ended 31 December 2023, including those of joint ventures,
the Group recorded (i) contracted sales of approximately RMB292.3 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 33.7% compared to the year
ended 31 December 2022, and (ii) contracted gross floor area (“GFA”) sold
of approximately 20,965 sg.m. representing a decrease of approximately
60.5% as compared to that for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Sales of properties

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue from sales of
properties recorded a year-on-year increase of over 1,216.3% to
approximately RMB909.2 million, which accounted for approximately 96.6%
of the total revenue of the Group. For the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Group recognised total GFA sold of approximately 67,038 sq.m. which
represented an increase of approximately 319.1% as compared to the same
period in 2022. The average selling price (“ASP") of the properties
recognised as property sales was approximately RMB13,563 per sq.m.,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 214.1%.

3R 2023 Annual Report 11
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TRINTEZ2023F12A31BIEEHWTEM  The following table sets out the recognised sales and GFA sold in each City

RIEHEREMEEEE®E as at 31 December 2023:
HERR HEe
2R BEEE E2ER = R UBA
BEER AR FHEE Batk
Percentage Percentage
of of
Recognised recognised  Recognised  Recognised recognised
Location GFA ASP revenue revenue
ARET/
FHOR 9 FAK  AR®TRT %
sq.m. ' RMB/sq.m. RMB'000 %
R Dongguan 1457 2.2% 5171 7533 0.8%
AR Heyuan 3222 4.8% 1,543 4972 0.6%
&R Hefei 403 0.6% 8,884 3,585 04%
&5 Henyang 210 03% 9,434 1977 0.2%
D Chengdu 619 0.9% 1,036 641 0.1%
i Pinghu 61,127 91.2% 14,568 890,492 97.9%
&t Total 67,038 100% 13,563 909,200 100%
HE MM EBFEI TR T Particulars of projects and land parcels are set out in the following table:
e ARRR
A58 Eis BEEE FIHE fhitd
il 35 BEER (1) BEEE BEER
The
Group's Total estimate
equity SaleableGFA  Investment  Unsaleable GFAforfuture Total  Attributable
Name of Project interest GFA Sold (Note 1) property GFA  development  consideration* consideration
(Enk)
(sqm)
WegER L 100% 31501 7552 - 9257 - 559891 559891 1,142
Hujing Riverside Villa Dongguan
WEE= Bn L 100% 32871 - - 5276 - 80059 80059 20987
Huijing Riverside Villa ® Perfection Dongguan
BREL Rz 100% 010 3366 - Hu - 184600 184600 6929
Royal Spring Hill Dongguan
gmia L 100% 123653 557 - 24566 - 91,794 91,794 6170
City Valley Dongguan
)3 kil RE 100% 122158 3802 1539 28659 - B1031 21031 13591
Huijing Cty Centre Dongguan
HRgs L 100% 50200 8308 - 2768 -
Century Gemini Dongguan - o 09
EEH x5 100% - - 25780 - - ’ ’
Huijing City Dongguan

12  ESIERBEMRASF Huijing Holdings Company Limited



BEEE AR
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

i RREE
BEER RugE HE
il £+ (Byit1) BEER BEER AR\ EiiRE TR
The
Group's Total estimate
equity SaleableGFA Investment Unsaleable  GFA for future Total  Attributable
Name of Project interest GFA Sold (Note 1) property GFA  development  consideration* consideration Land cost
BT7)
HRER = 100% 62602 4758 - 1670 - 80097 80097 10135
Central Palace Dongguan
EEIN 5 100% 1547 703 - 2745 - 105,260 105260 55708
Fenghua Mansion Dongguan
E25E—ERRRRIPL F= 100% 137 9204 - - - 179899 179899 27849
Hujing Group — Huijing Global Centre Dongguan
BEEEULAME ) = 100% - - - - - 23701 yEN -
Houjie Town Baotun Village Area (Note2) Dongguan
HIEEER (1213) L 100% - - - - - 259154 259154 -
Hongmei Hongwuwo (Note 3) Dongguan
FEZRRE(W3) = 100% - - - - - 186,300 186,300 -
Qingyi Sanzhong Area (Note 3) Dongguan
PRENRE (W3) = 100% - - - - - 115075 115075 -
Shatian Renzhou Area (Note 3) Dongguan
s g 100% 180,785 - - 344 - 186,131 186,131 816
BundNo8 Heyuan
NEELE b 100% 381028 315069 - 125413 - 747084 747084 9094
Nine Miles Bay Heyuan
RIZR(H7) R 100% - - - - 530,707 490517 490517 908
Dongjiang River Galleries (a portion of) Heyuan
AEESATHRL Al 100% 141,566 65894 8,121 69960 - 182723 182723 5054
Hefei Hujing City Centre Hefei
EHER-EH LR E ik 100% 90001 84840 - 741 1,1055% 330283 330283 2525
Hujing Yanhu International Resort Hengyang
$RE Tl 100% 61127 406 - 21903 - 268977 268977 31824
Xingfu District Pinghu
EilE M 0% - 206456 - 61,781 - 418600 2300 12753
Yonghe District Chenzhou
BEH Gl 100% - 338 - 9813 - 658,200 638200 19179
Jieyou District Xuzhou
ERRRRRMD & 4% 137903 94039 - 64672 - 86040 404760 27849
Hujing Global Centre Changsha
2054126 1198377 125230 60759 1638303 6308055 5,761,195 28812
* O WEEIEE A FIH I E B * Refer to the cost of land which the project company acquired

¥R 2023 Annual Report 13
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

e

14

FE/AHEREREEYEANTEEEE -
HAROEEAE  (MHYENZEHE
DAREREHEHAE  MRFERERER
WE RS RN HEEBRED MEFERE
BEFUE TEFEREBEIRS U5
AR B T AP AR EREREFAA
SEAERERISH o

EHBEEONRNBHEERBE TR
REEARHN TR E DS E - BRE—F
I BALMARRBEA2019F12A831H
MIBRER(HBBRER]) FTIETERER
— BATEHRENF —AORBEBELT L ES
FEaIBMOETHRAMNELEES TR 5
BT o8 o

R2023F 128318 BR=FRHE - AEH®T
EREPHRMNAENTEEATERR
REEER (REMELR) BAEEE HE
B-BHEE—FTHE B2HBREE(E
% — L EEBI BT & -

WL F ESBMURNE R b=
HE G EE o

Notes:

Saleable/leasable GFA refers to the internal floor area of a property, which has
been derived from the relevant (i) pre-sale permit; (ii) floor area prediction
report (55 = [ 12 T8 Bl ¥R 45 ), where a pre-sale permit is not available for the
whole or a part of a property; and/or (jii) relevant development indicators
approved by the relevant authority responsible for urban and rural planning
or the Group's internal records, where neither a pre-sale permit nor floor area
prediction report is available for the whole or a part of the development.

The expected GFA is not available for Houjie Town Baotun Village Area as the
latest land planning remains subject to approval. For further details, please
refer to the subsection under the Company’s prospectus dated 31 December
2019 (the "Prospectus”) headed “Compliance with Laws and Regulations —
Historical Non-compliance Incidents — (A) Delay in Commencement and/or
completion of construction within the prescribed period as stipulated in the
relevant land grant contracts”.

As at 31 December 2023, the land in Qingxi Sanzhong Area, Hongmei
Hongwuwo and Shatian Renzhou Area was zoned for industrial use, and the
current information (including plot ratio) is not relevant for our Group’s
purpose. For further details, please refer to the subsection under the
Prospectus headed “Business — Land reserves”.

Century Gemini and Huijing City are situated on the same parcel of land and
therefore share the same site area.

TESIZERREBRAE]  Huijing Holdings Company Limited



BEEE AR
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS -

REME Investment properties

B2023F 128318 AEBHBAEZEMEAE  As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total GFA of approximately
#9125230F 5k (A EMmMFEL38013F 77 125,230 sq.m. (leasable area of approximately 38,013 sq.m.) with rental
K) EHE2023F12ANBIUHEFENHEEY  income of approximately RMB9.1 million for the year ended 31 December
ABAREI BB - 2023.

+ S Land reserves

R2023F 128318 AEBEM LM FEEL  As at 31 December 2023, the Group has land reserves amounting to
2836679 F K BIE18EEE R4t - approximately 2,836,679 sq.m. with 18 projects and 4 parcels of land
DA KER E=AWMEENLKRIHFN  located in 8 cities in the Greater Bay Area, the Yangtze River Delta Urban
T AE Y 8 BBk T o Cluster and the Yangtze Mid-Stream Urban Cluster.

TRARR2023F12 431 BAREEILZHIEM  The following table sets out the GFA of the Group's land reserves by

EEom T RBEREEEE geographical locations as at 31 December 2023:
1h+ b fEE
T i f#EE REREEE
BEEME Bak
Percentage of
Total land total land
Location reserve GFA reserve GFA
(sgq.m.) (%)
(F77K) (%)
5E Dongguan 38,289 1.3%
AR Heyuan 847,776 29.9%
=y Hefei 65,894 2.3%
&5 Hengyang 1,190,436 42.0%
8 Pinghu 406 0.0%
BB Chenzhou 266,456 9.4%
A Xuzhou 333,383 11.8%
=Y Changsha 94,039 3.3%
&5t Total 2,836,679 100%
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The progress of the Three-old Transformation Schemes (the “Three-old
Transformation Schemes”) was as follows:

Project Zhangmutou Baoshan Area: The Three-old Transformation
Schemes for this project is carried out on a Collaborative Basis
between Villages and Enterprises. Currently, the project has secured
the approval regarding the “Overall Implementation Plan for the
Commercial and Residential Transformation Unit 1+N in Baoshan
Area, Zhangmutou Town, Dongguan City, and will subsequently
apply to deregister the current land title and enter into a new land
transfer agreement. It is expected that the Company will obtain the
new land use right certificate before the second quarter of 2024
upon the demolition of the buildings on the land and the payment
of the land transfer fee. The expected plot ratio accountable GFA
was 367,222 sg.m.

Humen Xinwan Area: The Three-old Transformation Schemes for this
project is carried out on the Right Owners Self-Redevelopment basis.
As the project is located in Humen area, which is within the territorial
spatial planning of Guangdong Province (2020-2035), the urban
renewal procedure is suspended until the completion of the
planning by relevant government authorities. The total site area of
this project is 14,910 sg.m. with an expected plot ratio accountable
GFA of 34,288 sq.m.

Shatian Renzhou Area: The Three-old Transformation Schemes for
this project is carried out on the Right Owners Self-Transformation
basis. The project is located in Shatian town with a total site area of
approximately 77,321 sq.m. The Three-old Transformation was
currently completed and the land used for the project was identified
as M3 industrial land, with an expected total GFA of 295,645 sq.m.
The Three-old Transformation Schemes for this project was
completed in July 2022. It finished the relevant land supply
procedures and is under the progress of construction.

TESIZERREBRAE]  Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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4.

The Company had entered into nine agreements as preparatory
services providers with relevant parties. The relevant projects are all
located in Dongguan city carrying out preparatory services and have
a total site area of 2,229,500 sq.m. The Three-old Transformation
Schemes for the relevant projects is expected to be carried out on
the Open Invitation for Implementing Entities basis. The details of
the projects are as follows:

HE nE 484k 1t TH AR

Project Location Total site area
(FF73K)

(sq.m.)

A el B4 REETH i el 42 323,000

Xie Gang Li Village Xiegang town, Dongguan city

WHAS&ENR(—H) REMYHE 294,400

Shatian Al Smart Town (First Phase) Shatian town, Dongguan city

dAE REmhAE 255,300

Qishi New South Qishi town, Dongguan city

I Ex REMAEILE 207,800

Cha Shan Shang Chashan town, Dongguan city

BREE REMEEHE 161,300

Qingxi Qingxia Qingxi town, Dongguan city

RILIKEA & REMEILE 105,700

Chashan Waterworks Area Chashan town, Dongguan city

BB R REMEIHBA R 210,000

Wanjiang Gonglian Area Wanjiang Gonglian area, Dongguan city

HIGHERR & R M tkigE 485,300

Hongmei Hongwuwo Area Hongmei town, Dongguan City

LA HENE R £ EA 186,700

Hengli, Wangniudun Wangniudun town, Dongguan City

&t 2,229,500

Total
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Overall performance

For the year ended 31 December 2023, total revenue of the Group was
approximately RMB941.2 million, which represented a year-on-year
increase of 995.8%. Gross profit was approximately RMB258.4 million, which
represented a year-on-year increase of 3,625.7%. Gross profit margin was
approximately 27.5%, which represented a year-on-year increase of
approximately 19.4 percentage points. For the year ended 31 December
2023, loss for the year was approximately RMB730.4 million, as compared
to a loss for the year of approximately RMB2,833.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022. For the year ended 31 December 2023, loss
attributable to owners of the parent was approximately RMB696.7 million,
while a loss attributable to owners of the parent was recorded at
approximately RMB2,452.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Revenue

Revenue increased from approximately RMB85.9 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 to approximately RMB941.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2023, which represented a year-on-year increase of 995.8%.
The GFA delivered increased from 15,997 sq.m. for the year ended 31
December 2022 to 67,038 sg.m. for year ended 31 December 2023, which
represented a year-on-year increase of approximately 319.1%, while the
ASP increased from RMB4,318 per sq.m. to RMB13,563 per sq.m. because
the main delivery items have been pre-sold in the previous years and the
price per unit is relatively high in 2023.

Cost of sales

Corresponding to the steep climb in revenue, the cost of sales increased
accordingly from approximately RMB79.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to approximately RMB682.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, which resulted from a significant increase in the GFA
delivered in 2023 as compared to the same period in 2022.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit increased from approximately RMB6.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB258.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023, with gross profit margin being approximately
8.1% and 27.5%, respectively. The increase in gross profit margin was
mainly due to the regional portfolio of property delivery and the relatively
higher average selling price of the properties in 2023.
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Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains decreased from approximately RMB106.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB7.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023. Such decrease was mainly due to (i)
the decrease of interest income of a loan to joint venture of approximately
RMB16.0 million; (i) the decrease in bank interest of approximately RMB24.7
million; and (iii) early redemption gain of senior notes for the year ended 31
December 2022, which led to the decrease for the year ended 31
December 2023 by approximately RMB54.5 million.

Fair Value Losses on Investment Properties

The fair value losses on investment properties of approximately RMB245.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 decreased to a loss of
approximately RMB70.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
Such decrease was primarily attributable to the fluctuations in the market
valuation.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses increased from approximately RMB44.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB44.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The change was relatively
small mainly because the sales policy from the previous year remains in
place.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses decreased from approximately RMB305.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB235.9 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such decrease was primarily due to
(i) a decrease in employee salary expenses of approximately RMB45.1
million; and (ii) a decrease in agency service fees and business
entertainment fees of approximately RMB29.5 million.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has the loss allowance of
approximately RMB45.7 million for trade and other receivables based on
the expected credit loss model (for the year ended 31 December 2022:
provision of approximately RMB44.4 million).
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Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has provisioned the
impairment of approximately RMB48.5 million for inventories based on the
net realisable value of inventory (for the year ended 31 December 2022:
provision of approximately RMB1,857.9 million).

Remeasurement of financial guarantee contracts

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has reversed loss
allowance of approximately RMB1.2 million for financial guarantee
contracts based on the expected credit loss model (for the year ended 31
December 2022: provision of approximately RMB8.8 million).

Other Expenses

Other expenses increased from approximately RMB217.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB292.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023. The increase was mainly due to the loss of
approximately RMB33.4 million and RMB63.6 million arising from the
disposal of subsidiaries and a joint venture respectively during the year.

Share of Profits and Losses of Joint Ventures and an
Associate

Share of losses of joint ventures and an associate turned from profits of
approximately RMB3.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
losses of approximately RMB15.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2023, which was mainly due to the investment losses of this joint venture
in Hunan in 2023.

Finance Costs

Finance cost decreased from approximately RMB199.1 miillion for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB178.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023, which was primarily due to the increase in
interest capitalization.

Income Tax Expenses

Income tax expenses increased from approximately RMB27.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB65.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023. The change was primarily due to the sales
profit of properties on Xingfu District (3 & &) of Pinghu for the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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Net Loss and Net Loss Margin

There was a net loss of approximately RMB730.4 million for the year ended

1 December 2023 as compared to the net loss of approximately
RMB2,833.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The net loss
margin decreased from approximately 3,299.3% for the year ended 31
December 2022 into a net loss margin of approximately 77.6% for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

The net loss has decreased significantly compared with 31 December 2022,
due to the fact that the market environment has not deteriorated further in
2023 and the Company has taken active countermeasures.

Looking back to 2023, the real estate industry underwent significant
changes. It was a difficult year, with the housing market facing softened
demand. Despite the policies issued to support the real estate market, the
overall market environment and financing conditions remained
challenging for most real estate enterprises.

Looking ahead to the coming year or even next year, the real estate
industry may still face a demand and financing pressure. In view of such, it
is anticipated that stimulating policies to improve the general macro
economy and the real estate market will likely continue to be issued. It is
also expected that the consumer confidence and market sentiment can be
restored at some point, taking into account the time needed for the
relevant policies to take effect. Meanwhile, the Group will continue to
implement measures to improve its operational efficiency and achieve its
business objectives.
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The Group is principally engaged in the business of property development
in China, and going forward, the Group will continue to focus on property
development projects in the Southern China region, especially the Three-
old Transformation projects in Dongguan, Guangdong Province. Taking
into account the policy about ensuring timely deliveries of pre-sold
housing and the current market conditions, the Group will continue to
focus on:

(i) the completion and delivery of its property projects, including
working with different partners;

(i) implementing measures to accelerate the sale of properties under
development and completed properties; and

(i) consolidating resources to optimize its operations and reducing
expenses and capital expenditures.

On the other hand, the Group has been facing financing pressure from
lenders and creditors and is in the process of negotiating with lenders and
creditors. The Group will continue to engage in proactive and constructive
dialogue and maintain a positive momentum with the lenders and
creditors with a view to working out solutions as soon as practical.

Finally, the Group remains optimistic and hopeful about the future, and
believe that through the efforts of all employees, the Group will overcome
the current difficult conditions. Accordingly, the Group would like to
express its sincere gratitude to the Company’s shareholders, investors,
partners, customers and employees.
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The Group operated in a capital-intensive industry and has funded its
growth primarily through cash generated from operations including
proceeds from the sale of its properties, debt financing and capital
contributions from shareholders. The Group's cash requirements relate
primarily to acquisitions of lands, properties development, debt repayment,
and clearance of all applicable taxes for projects developed.

Going forward, the Group believes that its liquidity requirements will be
satisfied by cash generated from its operating activities, banking facilities
available to us, and the net proceeds received from the Company’s global
initial public offering (the “Global Offering”) and issuing notes.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total cash and bank balances of
approximately RMB126.2 million as compared to approximately RMB78.3
million as at 31 December 2022. The increase was primarily due to an
increase in proceeds from sales of properties during the current period.
Substantially all of the Group’s cash and bank balance are denominated in
RMB.

As of 31 December 2022, the Group’s net current assets were
approximately RMB89.8 million, and as of 31 December 2023, the Group’s
net current liabilities were approximately RMB3,078.8 million. The change
from net current assets to net current liabilities was mainly due to (i) the
change in the reclassification of interest-bearing bank borrowings from
non-current liabilities to current liabilities, which resulted in an increase in
current interest-bearing bank balances of approximately RMB2,373.8
million; (i) a decrease in prepayments, other receivables and deposits by
approximately RMB1,185.9 million as of 31 December 2023, and (iii) a
decrease of approximately RMB817.4 million in properties under
construction and completed properties as of 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s borrowings of approximately
RMB1,670.1 million (2022: approximately RMB1,661.5 million) were
borrowings with floating interest rates.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had banking facilities in the total

amount of approximately RMB10,058 million, of which approximately
RMB1,893 million, representing 18.9% has been utilized.
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Key financial ratios

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's net gearing ratio (calculated as the
total borrowings and lease liabilities net of cash and bank balances divided
by total equity) was approximately 917.5%, which represented an increase
of 569.6% as compared to approximately 347.9% as at 31 December 2022.
The increase was primarily attributable to the significant decrease of
approximately 60.2% in the balance of total equity as at 31 December
2023.

The Group's current ratio was calculated based on its total current assets
divided by its total current liabilities as of the respective dates as at 31
December 2022 and 2023. The current ratio remained relatively stable at
1.1 times for both years.

Foreign exchange risk

Substantially all of the Group's revenue and expenditure are denominated
in RMB. As at 31 December 2023, the Group has not entered into any
hedging transactions. The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
closely monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

Interest rate risk

The interest rates on the Group's borrowings are primarily affected by
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings. The Group manages its
interest rate risk by closely monitoring the trend of interest rate fluctuation
and its impact on the Group's interest rate risk exposure, as well as
regulating the debt portfolio of the Group.

Pledge of assets

The Group’s bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2023 with
carrying amounts of RMB3,757.6 million (31 December 2022: RMB3,614.1
million), and RMB255.2 million (31 December 2022: RMB248.1 million)
denominated in RMB and United States dollars, respectively, out of which
approximately RMB4,012.8 million (31 December 2022: approximately
RMB3,268.5 million were secured by certain land held for development for
sale, equity interests in certain subsidiaries, properties under development,
investment properties, right of rental income and completed properties
held for sale of the Group.
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BAREE Capital commitments
MR2023F 128318 REBCEFTOMEREE  Asat 31 December 2023, the Group had commitments that are contracted
R YRS AENT but not provided for in respect of property development expenditure as
follows:
R12A31H
As at 31 December
2023 2022 F
2023 2022
(AR®TRr) (ARETIT)
(RMB’000) (RMB'000)
EHENEES 2 Contracted, but not provided for:
FREER Y Properties under development 1,886,771 2,379,630
BB Investment properties under construction 296,553 313,829
FERKEEERBERE b Purchase of land through acquisition of
assets and liabilities 283,975 480,560
| Total 2,467,299 3,174,019
MEBERRBIAERE Financial guarantees and contingent liabilities

R2023F 128318 AEBRPEEREETE  As at 31 December 2023, the Group's total financial guarantees are as
T follows:

M12A31H

As at 31 December
2023 F 2022 4F
2023 2022
(AR¥TR) (ARETT)
(RMB’000) (RMB'000)

BAAEBYE 2 EPIRED Guarantees given to banks in connection with
AR BB R ERIT IR mortgage facilities provided to customers

of the Group's properties 2,500,969 2,956,845

REERE TRTAANEBEMELENDE  The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted

IYEZELPREMITBRERMEER B by certain banks to the customers of the Group's completed properties

BRARTZHEDT  MEFPHEXREELE - Bl heldforsale. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantee arrangements, in case

AEBEEEEEBNRPRANIRITAHRMERE  of default on mortgage payments by the customers, the Group is

RIBAR® KA R B R ETRK - responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage principals together with
any accrued interest and penalties owed by the defaulted customers to
those banks.
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Under the above arrangement, the related properties were pledged to the
banks as collateral for the mortgage loans, upon default on mortgage
repayments by these customers, the banks are entitled to take over the
legal titles and will realise the pledged properties through open auction.
The Group's guarantee period starts from the start of grant of the relevant
mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance and registration of property
ownership certificates to the purchasers, which will generally be available
within one to two years after the customers take possession of the relevant
properties.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the year in respect of
the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities granted to customers of
the Group’s completed properties held for sale. In the opinion of the
Directors that in case of default on payments, the net realisable value of
the related properties would be sufficient to repay the outstanding
mortgage loans principals together with any accrued interest and penalties
and accordingly, no financial liability has been made in connection with
these guarantees.

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures

The Group (i) sold 51% of the equity interest in n Fuyang City Xinggang
Properties Company Limited* (£ 5 M 278 & # 8 R 2 7)) (‘Fuyang
Xinggang”) in July 2023; (ii) sold 40% of the equity interest in Xichang
Shuxin Property Development Company Limited* (78 & 15 {5 5 th 2= A %
B R 2 \)) ("Xichang Shuxin”) in July 2023; and (iii) sold 51% equity
interests in each of Chengdu Lida Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.* (fX
R ERIE AR F) (‘Chengdu Lida”) and Pujiang County
Gaoyu Zhongxinhai Real Estate Co, Ltd. *CH I G R FHBEEEHFR
A A) ("Gaoyu Zhongxinhai”) in July 2023, together with its jointly held
company Pujiang County Gaoyu Xinda Real Estate Co, Ltd. * GE) T & = F
BEBEAFR AT (‘Gaoyu Xinda"). As of 31 December 2023, the Group
no longer controls the above companies.
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Significant investment held

As at 31 December 2023, there was no significant investment held by the
Group.

Employee and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 260 employees (for the
year ended 31 December 2022: 388). Total expenditure on salary and
welfare of the Group'’s employees for the year ended 31 December 2023
amounted to approximately RMB97.4 million (2022: approximately
RMB134.3 million). The Group has adopted a system of determining the
remuneration of employees based on employees qualification, experience,
position and seniority. In general, the Group provides competitive
remuneration packages to employees, which include basic salaries,
allowances, discretionary bonus, performance-based rewards and year-end
bonus. The Group operates share option schemes for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the success of the Group's operations, particulars of which will be set out in
the section headed “Share Option Schemes” of the Company’s annual
report for the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group also pays social
security insurance for the Group's employees, including social insurance
and housing funds. In terms of employee training, the Group provides
consistent and systematic training to employees based on their positions
and expertise, in order to enhance their expertise in real estate and their
related fields.
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TRHFHFR2023F 12831 BAEELHFEEE  The following table sets out the GFA breakdown of the Group's land

BYHEIBE o REEAEERMA reserves by property project as at 31 December 2023:
R203E12831BEAT R203E12831BEE
Completed as at 31 December 2023 Under development as at 31 December 2023
mt g/ HES
FTHE BER LHE/HE THE FU#E LEE
BEER SEE BEER 2 REWE  BEER 0 BEER 0 REWE  BEER
Total
GFA Saleable/ estimate GFA
Unsaleable availablefor  Investment leaseable  Unsaleable  Investment for future
Property Type (d7) GFAsold sale/lease property GFA property  development Total GFA
(Tr%) ( ) (Fr%) (Enk) ( ) (THH) (T (EH%) (
(sqm) (sqm) (sqm) ) (s.m)
rENEER Residential property project
S Dongguan 162,706 939558 34448 - - - - - 1136712
AR Heyuan 100,715 561813 30009 - 285,060 59942 - 532,707 1570246
TH Pinghu 21903 61,127 3 - - - - - 834%
M Chenzhou - - - - 266456 61,781 - - 38237
Gl Xuzhou - - - - 333383 9813 - - 343,19
gt Subtotal 285,324 1562498 64863 - 884,899 131536 - 532,707 3461827
GENEER Integrated property project
% Dongguan 28659 122158 3842 - - - - - 154659
AR Hefei 7415 141,566 4374 - 61520 62,545 - - 2740
=94 Changsha 64672 137,903 94,039 - - - - - 296,014
i) Subtotal 100,746 401,627 102,255 - 61520 62,545 - - 728693
REN% Investment property
= Dongguan - - - 41109 - - - - 41109
A Hefei - - - - - - 812 - 8,121
gt Subtotal - - - 4109 - - 84121 - 125230
RBRETEN Property project promoting
N5ER specific industry
&5 Hengyang 12867 90001 347 - 81369 14574 - 1,105,59 1307878
1Nt Subtotal 12867 90001 3471 - 81,369 14574 - 1,1055% 1307878
&it Total 398937 2054126 170,589 41109 1027788 208655 84121 1638303 56023608
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RuBE1RA3N BRI RuBERA3NAEE
Completed as at 31 December 2023 Under development as at 31 December 2023
fht L1
TUHE BE  AftHE g TRE RE TUEE R FAER R/ ARG TR/fhit
BINR REER REER  REM EXER REEN BEAR  REEM  REMR SEIER ARER FIRE  RERA BIRH
Total Actual/ Actuall Actuall
estimate estimated estimated estimated
GFA Total GFA GFA construction  pre-sale construction
Total  Unsaleable available Investment  TotalGFA  Saleable Pre-saleable Presale  Unsaleable ~ Investment under forfuture commencement commencement  completion
Location sitearea GFAsold forsale  property  completed GFA GFA FA  property development development  TotalGFA time time time
Tik) (T5) (Frx) (Fnk) (F9K) (FAK) (F9R) X k) R 5K (B
(sqm) m) (sqm) (sqm) ) lsqm) (sqm)
HEER LE] 315867 49257 85 752 - 489330 - - - - - - - 489330 2010930 0141 20006
Huiing Riverside Vila Dongguan
HEER -8 Rz 10220 5276 287 - - /147 - - - - - - - B4 201791 w84 19626
Huijing Riversice Vill * Perfection ~ Dongguan
HREL B n9%e o i 3% - - - - - - - S N6 NN0NB MNSD 1739
RoyalSpring Hil Dongguan
LA R 59665 24566 13653 557 - 148776 - - - - - - - 148776 2014415 041125 01876
ity Valley Dongguan
ERHHRL LE] 37005 28659 12158 34 1539 169988 - - - - - - - 169988 20151016 01648 201978
Huijing City Centre Dongguan
5 53 Rz 17314 7168 50200 8308 - 8676 - - - - - - - 8616 2011121 12521 515
Century Gemini Dongguan
ERN 7= 17314 - - - 578 5780 - - - - - - - B8 02 AR 15430
Huiing City Dongguan
RAER R 18914 11610 62602 4758 - 79030 - - - - - - - 79030 2010414 2010428 man2
CentralPalace Dongguan
EREE-ERIRRRTL 2R - - 3 o - 1041 - - - - - - - 04 AEBne TERne FERn
Huijing Group — Huiing Giobal
Centre Dongguan
] B2 6042 8 1547 3 - 188%5 - - - - - - - 188 081024 091129 10630
Fenghua Mansion Dongguan
it 06 191365 1061716 38200 410 133480 - - - - - - o3
subtotal
Shes A LT/ 9 T - R 7] - - - - - - -GS 67T 201958 8125
Bund N8 Heyuan
hE&LE el 23500 65471 38108 30009 - 476508 285060 8151 116506 954 - 345002 - 81510 20181130 20181220 021231
Nine Miles Bay Heyuan
RIBE(H5) ik 26353 - - - - - - - - - - - S TERne FEfn AEfna
Dongjiang River Gallries 2 portion ) Heyuan
st 599860 100715 561813 30009 - 692537 285060 8151 116506 3994 - 345002 532701 157046
sublotal
ARESHTRL B 37 T415 141566 4374 - 1533% 61520 83% 29941 62545 8121 208186 - 31541 17119 07831 2002930
Hefei Hujing City Centre Hefei
EBER Rt
I L 938427 12867 90001 34n - 106339 81369 59739 4090 14574 - %983 1,1055% 1307878 2016428 0171030 0031
Hujing Yanhu IntemationalResort ~ Henyang
RE T4 114 2903 61127 46 - 8343 - - - - - - - 8343% 2020630 20001215 20030816
Kingfu District Pinghu
EE il 107319 - - - - - 26456 58956 2369 61,781 - 3857 - 3BT W98 021063 490
Yonghe District Chenzhou
R il 9%3% - - - - - 94652 15549 9813 - 381% - 1% 022101 20210827 2004110
Jieyou Distrct Xuzhou
gt 1205037 418 2190694 8251 - w0 A 16703 118779 4713 84121 975562 11055% 2424288
subtotal
ERLRRRD ] pifi] e 13798 %039 i - - - - - - - BeeM NI 07 10630
Huijing Global Centre Changsha
At 241704 398937 2054126 170589 41009 2664761 1027788 498854 185285 208655 84121 1320564 1638303 5623628
Total
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In view of the disclaimer of opinion included in the Independent Auditor’s
Report ("Disclaimer of Opinion”), the Board has undertaken the following
plans and measures to improve the Group's liquidity and financial position:

1. The Company has maintained regular discussion with creditors
regarding extending payment terms of existing loans and
borrowings when needed. Moreover, the Company will leverage on
supporting policies to obtain new loans and borrowings when
possible;

2. The Company is currently in discussion with a potential strategic
partner and/or investor regarding cooperation at the project
company level as well as the Company level. The Company targets
to reach certain agreement regarding the cooperation of one or
more projects in the next six months. If such project cooperation
materialized, the Company expects to generate certain cash inflow
from such cooperation. Once project cooperation is executed, the
Company may soon after proceed forward with the discussion
regarding cooperation at the Company level. After that the Company
may be able to leverage on the background of the strategic partner
and/or investor to negotiate an overall extension of repayment
terms with the existing loans and borrowings as well as acquiring
new loans and borrowings; and

3. As certain economic data released may signaled that the China
economy may be stabilizing, and as the supporting policies enacted
may start to take effect in the near future, the management is of the
view that the sentiment of the property market may improve in the
coming year, which would be beneficial to the Company in terms of
enabling the Company to sell properties in a timely manner when
needed. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had completed
properties held for sale, properties under developments and
investment properties amounted to approximately RMB935.7 million,
RMB3,132.2 million and RMB1,394.5 million, respectively. If the
Company is able to sell properties as planned in the coming year,
this would generate substantial cash inflow for the Company.
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The Board is of the opinion that, taking into account the above plans and
measures, the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due
within the next twelve months from 31 December 2023. Accordingly, the
Board is satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 on a going
concern basis. Notwithstanding the above plans and measures, significant
uncertainties exist as to whether the Group will be able to implement them
successfully. Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern,
adjustments may have to be made to write down the carrying values of
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effect of
these adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Disclaimer of Opinion, the
management’s position concerning the Disclaimer of Opinion (the
“Management's Position”) and measures taken by the Group to address the
Disclaimer of Opinion. The Audit Committee agreed with the
Management's Position based on the reasons above. Moreover, the Audit
Committee requested the management to take necessary actions where
possible to address the uncertainties regarding going concern underlying
the Disclaimer of Opinion that no such Disclaimer of Opinion will be made
in the forthcoming audited financial statements. The Audit Committee had
also discussed with Prism regarding the financial position of the Group,
measures taken and to be taken by the Group, and considered the Prism'’s
rationale and understood their consideration in arriving their opinion.
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Chairman and Non-Executive Director

Mr Lun Ruixiang, aged 56, was appointed as a Director on 9 January 2019
and was appointed as chairman of the Board and redesignated as a non-
executive Director on 25 March 2019. He is also the chairman of the
nomination committee and the member of the remuneration committee
of the Board. Mr Lun Ruixiang is responsible for formulating the overall
strategies, development and directions, as well as monitoring the
operations and management of the Group. Mr Lun Ruixiang founded the
Group in 2004 and has over 19 years of experience in residential and
commercial property development and business development. Mr Lun
Ruixiang has been engaging in the automobile industry in Dongguan since
January 1995.

Mr Lun Ruixiang is a relative of Mr Lun Zhao Ming and the father of Ms Lun
Ying Kit.

Executive Directors

Mr Lun Zhao Ming, aged 59, is the chief executive officer of the Group. He
has been appointed as a Director and redesignated as an executive
Director and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company on 25 March
2019. Mr Lun Zhao Ming joined the Group in June 2005 as a chairman
assistant and was primarily responsible for human resources and
administration affairs. He was promoted as a vice president in November
2009, during which time he was engaged in overseeing the daily operation
of the Group as well as management affairs. Mr Lun Zhao Ming was
promoted as a senior vice president in January 2015, and was promoted as
the chief executive officer of the Group in January 2018. In addition to
participating to monitor our daily operation and management, he is also
participating to formulate the Group’s business strategies and directions
and serving as director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr Lun Zhao Ming worked at Dongguan Humen
Port Mayong Xinsha Development Co,, Ltd. (5 5210 52 P95 fifl /& 372 59
B PR A F]), a company primarily engaged in industrial park
development, from September 2003 to May 2005. Mr Lun Zhao Ming
graduated from Sun Yat-Sen University in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC") with a bachelor's degree in science in July 1984.

Mr Lun Zhao Ming is a relative of Mr Lun Ruixiang and Ms Lun Ying Kit.
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Mr Lu Peijun, aged 51, joined the Group as the financial controller in
March 2005 and became a vice president of the Group in May 2015. He has
been appointed as a Director and redesignated as an executive Director
and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company on 25 March 2019. Mr
Lu is mainly responsible for risk control department of the Company and
assisting in monitoring project implementation and progress. He has more
than 12 years of finance-related experience before joining the Group. He
worked at Guangdong Development Bank (R 2 E £ 17) (now known
as China Guangfa Bank (&2 R 1T)) from January 1994 to March 2005.

Mr Lu graduated from South China Normal University with a degree of
bachelor in legal studies through online education in February 2005.

Mr Luo Chengyu, aged 40, is the vice president of the Group and was
appointed as an Executive Director on 7 May 2021. Mr Luo is mainly
responsible for the management of the investment development
department and financing management department of the Company. He
obtained a bachelor’s degree in traffic engineering from Huazhong
University of Science and Technology in 2006 and a master's degree in
architecture and civil engineering from Huazhong University of Science
and Technology in 2014. From 2008 to 2016, he worked for the People’s
Government of Town Street governed by Dongguan City, responsible for
urban construction and planning, investment promotion, major municipal
projects management, industrial park development and etc. From 2016 to
2017, he was the head of the Urban Renewal Industry Centre of
Guangdong Zhongtian Group. He is familiar with the operation mode and
rules of urban renewal with rich experience in project management, as well
as excellent coordination capability.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr Chan Kin Man, aged 44, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 26 July 2023. He is also the chairman of the audit
committee of the Board.

Mr Chan studied at Saint Joseph’s College from September 1998 to June
2000 and obtained a Bachelor degree of Arts in Accountancy from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 2003. Mr Chan is a
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants of the UK
(ACCA) and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(HKICPA).

Mr Chan has many years of experience in financing, auditing, accounting,
etc.. From September 2003 to March 2010, Mr Chan acted as an
accountant, senior accountant and audit manager in Ernst & Young, and
participated in projects relating to listings in Hong Kong and annual audits
for various companies. From August 2010 to November 2015, Mr Chan
served as the financial controller in New Northeast Electric Holding Limited
(FEIABERIZR AR A 7). From July 2016 to September 2019, Mr
Chan served as the general manager of capital operation center and the
investor relations director in LVGEM (China) Investment Company Limited
(£ = (F )% & B BR A 7A)). Starting from September 2019 and
November 2019, Mr Chan has been serving as the chief financial officer and
company secretary of LVGEM (China) Real Estate Investment Company
Limited (a company whose shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), stock code: 00095), respectively.
Starting from June 2020, Mr Chan is an independent non-executive director
of Zuoli Kechuang Micro-finance Company Limited* (£ &8I/ N8E & 5k
%13 B BR A A)) (a company whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 06866).

Ms Ou Ningxin, aged 43, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 26 July 2023. She is also a member of the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Board.

Ms Ou has around 20 years of working experience as solicitor. She obtained
the legal professional qualification certificate in the PRC in March 2004 and
qualified practicing certificate in the PRC in 2005, respectively. Ms Ou is
currently a practicing lawyer in Dongguan, PRC. She is the co-founder and
chief lawyer of Guangdong Tianbing Law Firm* (& 3R K ZZE RN ET5FT).
Ms Ou specializes in work associated with legal services including
corporate equity investment and financing, corporate governance and
inheritance, family offices, commercial arbitration and mediation etc..
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Ms Ou has served as the director of the Female Lawyers Working
Committee of the Dongguan Lawyers Association* (R 5= M 2 A 1 & K
BRI TIEZEE) the director of the Family Law Professional Committee*
(REBEEEH % ZE®
outstanding committee d|rector in both committees. She is currently the
director of Dongguan Lawyers Association* (SR 3= 2 Al 15 &
of the Legal Professional Committee of Commeroal Arb|trat|on and
Mediation* (7 E P& B F R IEEHE X Z B8 ®), the arbitrator of
Dongguan Arbitration Commission* (3 52 ﬁlﬁi B ), and the
arbitrator of Guangzhou Arbitration Commission* F':“}Hﬁlﬁi/\ & She
is also the supervisor of Dongguan Red Cross Society* (B 52 M AL 5%
chief supervisor of New Social Stratum Friendship Association in V\/anyang
(BT,
in Wuchuan Chamber of Commerce of Dongguan City* (R 522 )l i &
F{E), director of Association of Women Entrepreneurs in Wanjiang* (£
I EFKWE) and legal counsel of Chamber of Commerce in
Wanjiang* (& I B &), Individual Private Association* (1E 48 L & % &
and Catering Association* (& £k 1% & ). Ms Ou graduated with a degree of
Bachelor in Civil and Commercial Law from Southwest University of Political
Science & Law in the PRC in 2003.

, which she was awarded the honor of

), director

executive committee of Young Entrepreneurs’ Association

Mr Chen Guilin, aged 59, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 25 April 2023. He is also the chairman of the
remuneration committee, and a member of audit committee and
nomination committee of the Board.

Mr Chen has over 30 years of experience in engineering design consulting,
project contracting, real estate development and property investment. He
has been appointed as the chairman and design director of Dongguan
Meilin Jianye Design Engineering Co,, Ltd* (e M EME EF T T2
B R~ Al) since August 2004. He has also been appointed as the
chairman of Hefei Meilin Land Investment Co, Ltd* (& IBTI EME 1 1%
& B R AR since April 2013. He is the founder and chairman of Chizhou
Meilin Real Estate Co,, Ltd* GhINZEM B EBR A
since April 2014

) in Anhui Province

Mr Chen holds a Bachelor of Engineering degree in Water Conservancy and
Hydropower Engineering Construction from Hohai University in Nanjing.
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Mr Chen Shaobin, aged 56, is a vice president of the Group. He first joined
as the deputy general manager of Real Estate Development Department in
the Group in April 2004 and became our vice president in May 2016. Mr
Chen is responsible for assisting the Group’s outreaching affairs.

Ms Lun Ying Kit, aged 29, is the vice president of the Group. In 2016, she
obtained a bachelor’s degree in art and business from the University of
New South Wales, Australia, and a master's degree in marketing from
University of New South Wales, Australia in 2018. She is in charge of the
Group's brand management, customer relationship management and
commercial sector of property with excellent market acumen, insight and
team management ability.

Ms Lun Ying Kit is the daughter of Mr Lun Ruixiang and a relative of Mr Lun
Zhao Ming.

*  For identification purpose only
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The Board is committed to achieving high corporate governance standards.
The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are essential
in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability. The
Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its
own code of corporate governance.

The Board had reviewed its corporate governance practices throughout the year
ended 31 December 2023, and confirmed that up to the date of this annual
report the Company has complied with all principles and code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules save
as the deviations disclosed below. The Company will continue to enhance its
corporate governance practices and will review from time to time to ensure the
compliance with the evolving regulatory requirements.

On 9 December 2022, Ms Lin Yanna (“Ms Lin") resigned as an independent
non-executive Director as she needed to devote more time on her personal
commitments. Upon the resignation of Ms Lin, she also ceased to be the
chairman of the remuneration committee (“Remuneration Committee”)
and a member of each of the Audit Committee and nomination committee
(“Nomination Committee”) of the Company. As a result, the Company
temporarily failed to comply with the requirements as set out in Rules
3.10(1), 3.21, 3.25 and 3.27A of the Listing Rules and shall appoint an
independent non-executive Director within three months after failing to
meet the requirement according to Rule 3.11. On 15 March 2023, the Stock
Exchange agreed to grant the waiver to the Company to extend the time
to 30 April 2023 for filling the vacancies. On 25 April 2023, Mr Chen Guilin
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee, and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee. Following the appointment of Mr
Chen Guilin, the Company was in compliance with the requirements under
Rules 3.10(1), 3.21, 3.25 and 3.27A of the Listing Rules.

On 6 July 2023, (i) Ms Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna (“Ms Chiu") resigned as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee
as she desired to devote more time to other business and personal
commitments; and (i) Mr Hung Wan Shun Stephen (“Mr Hung") resigned
as an independent non-executive Director and a member of each of the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
due to his other business commitments. Following the resignations of Ms
Chiu and Mr Hung, the Company temporarily failed to comply with the
requirements as set out in Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2), 3.10A, 3.21, 3.25, 3.27A and
13.92 of the Listing Rules.
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On 26 July 2023, (i) Mr Chan Kin Man was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee; and (i)
Ms Ou Ningxin (“Ms Ou") was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director, and a member of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. Following the appointments of
Mr Chan Kin Man and Ms Ou, the Company re-complied with the
requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2), 3.10A, 3.21, 3.25,3.27A and 13.92
of the Listing Rules.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as its code for dealing in securities of the Company by the
Directors. Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors and all the
Directors have confirmed their compliance with the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company has also established written guidelines on terms no less
exacting than the Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines”) for
securities transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information of the Group. No incident of non-
compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by the employees was
noted by the Company during the period commencing from the Listing
Date to the date of this annual report.

The composition of the Board as at the date of this annual report is as
follows:

Non-executive Director:

Mr Lun Ruixiang (Chairman)

Executive Directors:
Mr Lun Zhao Ming (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr Lu Peijun
Mr Luo Chengyu

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr Chen Guilin (appointed with effect from 25 April 2023)

Ms Ou Ningxin (appointed with effect from 26 July 2023)

Mr Chan Kin Man (appointed with effect from 26 July 2023)

Ms Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna (resigned with effect from 6 July 2023)
MrHung Wan Shun Stephen (resigned with effect from 6 July 2023)
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The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the section
headed "Profile of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual.

The chairman, being Mr Lun Ruixiang, provides leadership for and
management of the Board. He is responsible for ensuring that all Directors
are properly briefed on issues to be discussed at Board meetings and
receive, in a timely manner, adequate, accurate, clear, complete and
reliable information. He also takes primary responsibility to ensure that the
Board works effectively, performs its responsibilities and discusses all key
and appropriate issues in a timely manner. He fulfills this by encouraging
Directors to make a full and active contribution to the Board’s affairs and
ensure the Board acts in the best interests of the Company. He also
encourages Directors with different views to voice their concerns, allows
sufficient time for discussion of issues and ensures Board decisions fairly
reflect Board consensus. The chairman is responsible for facilitating the
effective contribution of non-executive Directors and ensuring constructive
relations between executive and non-executive Directors.

The chief executive officer, being Mr Lun Zhao Ming, is responsible for
leading the day-to-day management of the Group’s business in accordance
with the strategy, policies and programmes approved by the Board. The
chief executive officer is also responsible for providing reports and advice
to the Board on the performance of the Group’s business. The chief
executive officer would be supported by the management, who provides
relevant information and recommendations to facilitate informed decision
making.

Mr Lun Ruixiang is a relative of Mr Lun Zhao Ming. Save as disclosed
aforesaid, none of the members of the Board is related to one another.

Independent Non-executive Directors

As at the date of this report, the Board met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors, representing one-third of the Board, with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise, save as disclosed below.
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On 9 December 2022, Ms Lin resigned as an independent non-executive
Director as she needed to devote more time on her personal
commitments. Upon the resignation of Ms Lin, she also ceased to be the
chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and nomination committee of the Company. As a result,
the Company temporarily failed to comply with the requirements as set
out in Rules 3.10(1), 3.21, 3.25 and 3.27A of the Listing Rules and shall
appoint an independent non-executive Director within three months after
failing to meet the requirement according to Rule 3.11. On 15 March 2023,
the Stock Exchange has agreed to grant the waiver to the Company to
extend the time to 30 April 2023 for filling the vacancies. On 25 April 2023,
Mr Chen Guilin was appointed as an independent non-executive Director,
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and a member of each of
the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee. Following the
appointment of Mr Chen Guilin, the Company was in compliance with the
requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.21, 3.25 and 3.27A of the Listing Rules.

On 6 July 2023, (i) Ms Chiu resigned as an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee as she desired to devote
more time to other business and personal commitments; and (ii) Mr Hung
resigned as an independent non-executive Director and a member of each
of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee due to his other business commitments. Following the
resignations of Ms Chiu and Mr Hung, the Company temporarily failed to
comply with the requirements as set out in Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2), 3.10A,
3.21,3.25,327A and 13.92 of the Listing Rules.

On 26 July 2023, (i) Mr Chan Kin Man was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee; and (i)
Ms Ou was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, and a
member of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee. Following the appointments of Mr Chan Kin Man
and Ms Ou, the Company re-complied with the requirements under Rules
3.10(1),3.10(2), 3.10A, 3.21,3.25,3.27A and 13.92 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her independence
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

Paragraph C.2.7 of the CG Code provides that the chairman should at least
annually hold meetings with the independent non-executive Directors
without the executive Directors and non-executive Directors present. The
Chairman held a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors
during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Appointment and re-election of Directors

In accordance with the Code Provision B.2.2, every Director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. Under the Articles of Association of the
Company, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for
the time being, (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. Also, under the Articles of Association of the
Company, any Director appointed either by the board or in a general
meeting by ordinary resolution to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to
the Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that
meeting.

Each of the Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) is
appointed for an initial term of three years and is subject to retirement by
rotation once every three years.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and performance and
is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. The Directors make decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company.

All Directors, including non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company as well as the services and advice from the company secretary
and senior management of the Company. The Directors may, upon
request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company's expenses, for discharging their duties to
the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by
them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution required from each
Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company.

Confirmations have been received from all Directors that they have
provided sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2023. Directors have also disclosed to the
Company their interests as director or other office in other public
companies and organisation in a timely manner, and have regularly
reported to the Company on any subsequent changes.
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Directors

fmimeE &

mEREA LA

EME LA

BB EAE
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The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), significant domestic and/or overseas investments, financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant operational
matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing
decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. All
Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company's expenses and/or reading materials relevant to the Company’s
business or to the directors’ duties and responsibilities.

A summary of training received by Directors and/or reading materials
relevant to the business or directors’ duties during the period under review
and as at the date of this annual report according to the records provided
by the Directors is as follows:

HEENE
A, B

Attended
briefings/
trainings/
read materials

Mr Lun Ruixiang

Mr Lun Zhao Ming

Mr Lu Peijun

Mr Luo Chengyu

Mr Chan Kin Man (appointed with effect from 26 July 2023)
Ms Ou Ningxin (appointed with effect from 26 July 2023)
Mr Chen Guilin (appointed with effect from 25 April 2023)

AN N U N N U N
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Board meetings

Code provisions C.5.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the Board should
meet regularly and Board meetings should be held at least four times each
year. The Board held four meetings and no annual general meeting during
the year ended 31 December 2023. The table below sets forth the details of
the attendance record:

HE
BRBFEARSY HE '
BITRE HITRE
Attended/
Number of Attended/
annual general Number of
Name of Directors meeting(s) meeting(s) held
fm It 55 A Mr Lun Ruixiang 38 A N/A 4/4
GECEE P Mr Lun Zhao Ming ANE A N/A 4/4
EmESLEE Mr Lu Peijun AN I N/A 4/4
BB AE Mr Luo Chengyu 38 A N/A 4/4
PR id R 5 A& Mr Chan Kin Man (appointed with effect
(820237820 BEZT) from 26 July 2023) 38 A N/A 3/4
Br=mea 4 Ms Ou Ningxin (appointed with effect
(B2023F7H20HBEZE) from 26 July 2023) NEFAN/A 3/4
PRAEMRSE A& Mr Chen Guilin (appointed with effect
(B2023F 425 HBEER L) from 25 April 2023) N5 A N/A 3/4
HEEZ T Ms Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna
(B2023F7 A6 HEET) (resigned with effect from 6 July 2023) 38 A N/A 1/4
RREEL A Mr Hung Wan Shun Stephen
(B2023%F7 A6 BfEEHT) (resigned with effect from 6 July 2023) S A N/A /4
EEEZET BOARD COMMITTEES
g E MY EZEES - HFMEZEEKIE  TheBoard has established the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
# § Ee PEBRAQRRFTHBENER > and Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the
PN MATAZEEETZECYEHFIEME  Company's affairs. All the said Board committees of the Company are
H&ﬁé%ﬁ CEHR ARG LB FTAEY W A] established with defined written terms of reference, which are posted on

EXEZBENANOKNEBY /B
$iL 7%% BEREFEZBEeNERLNKE
HEHNAFRIABER] —H -

the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and are available to
shareholders upon request.

The majority of the members of the said Board committees are
independent non-executive Directors and the list of the chairman and
members of each Board committee is set out in the section headed
“Corporate Information” of this annual report.
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Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are (i) to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the external auditor, and to consider any
questions of resignation or dismissal of that auditor; (ii) to review and
monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable standards;
(iii) to communicate and monitoring the work of internal audit and external
auditors to develop and implement policy on the engagement of an
external auditor to supply non-audit services, and to report to the Board,
identify and make recommendations on any matters requiring action or
improvement; (iv) discuss with the external auditor before the audit
commences, the nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations,
and ensure coordination where more than one audit firm is involved:; (v) to
examine the financial positions of the Company; (vi) to oversee the
Company’s financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems; and (vii) to oversee the Company’s corporate governance
functions.

As of the date of this report, the Audit Committee was chaired by Mr Chan
Kin Man with two other members, Ms Ou Ningxin and Mr Chen Guilin, all
being independent non-executive Directors.

Mr Chan Kin Man is the chairman of the Audit Committee, met the
appropriate professional qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and
3.21 of the Listing Rules.

During the reporting period, the Audit Committee had (among others)
reviewed and recommended the change of external auditors of the
Company.
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Name of committee member

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audit plan, reviewed the annual
financial results and report as well as the audit report prepared by the
external auditor relating to accounting issues and major findings in course
of audit, reviewed major internal audit issues, reviewed the financial
reporting system, compliance procedures, internal control and risk
management systems and processes, recommended re-appointment of
external auditors and relevant scope of works and continuing connected
transactions, ensured the Company's corporate governance function and
fulfilled duties as aforesaid required. From the perspective of the
Company's corporate governance, the Audit Committee has also reviewed
the Company’'s compliance with the Listing Rules and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
three Audit Committee meetings were held. The table below sets forth the
details of the attendance record:

HEER
HITRE

Attended/
Number of
meeting(s) held

PREER 4 (/) Mr Chan Kin Man (Chairman)

(B2023%F 7R 208 BEZFE) (appointed with effect from 26 July 2023) 2/3
BEgi+ (8202397 A26HBEZE)  MsOu Ningxin (appointed with effect from 26 July 2023) 2/3
PRAEM A (B 2023494 A25 HAREZR (L)  MrChen Guilin (appointed with effect from 25 April 2023) 2/3
BB+ Ms Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna

(B2023F7 A6 BiEEHT) (resigned with effect from 6 July 2023) 1/3
RREEL A Mr Hung Wan Shun Stephen

(B2023F7 A6 BiEEIT) (resigned with effect from 6 July 2023) 1/3

TMEES Remuneration Committee

FTHEZEENEIZREBRINALAES
EEBEEBHMOFMBRRERE k2
SLIER N BB BRE 2 12 Fr DA I 5] %7 BHBR 3R [7)
E=xgRbEHR W2RESFENLEER
RRERN RIEEEEFHMES (%A
MATEZRLRSREEENHFNTE(BRE
AR  RRSENNEES (A
BRI BB M S EmE))

MEBFSREEZ  (VRAIFRTEF OB
MEBBEFFREEZ: WVEBRRAAKLEMNTT

EPALRARAXNNIE BEABNE
T ARARR B E b 82 b 3 10 5L 151
R RBEMBERNERESS > ZERL 2
ZEFEMAERTESRSNEEENERE -

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are (i) to recommend
the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy and structure for the
Directors and senior management remuneration and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;
(i) to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives; (iii) to make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment; (iv) to make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive
Directors; (v) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies in the
industry in which the Company operates, time commitment and
responsibilities, and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group; and
(vi) to consider and recommend to the Board for approval the grant of
share options to Directors and senior management pursuant to any share
option schemes in effect.
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Name of committee member

BREEM ST A& (/)
(B2023F4 825 B EER )
RimrE L4
BEZA+ (B52023F7 A0 BEERT)
BRI (E 44 (B 20234E 7 A6 B #EBH(E)
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The Remuneration Committee has adopted the second model described
in paragraph E.1.2(c) under Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (i.e. make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Director and senior management member).

As of the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee was chaired by
Mr Chen Guilin, an independent non-executive Director with two other
members, Mr Lun Ruixiang, a non-executive Director and Ms Ou Ningxin,
an independent non-executive Director. No Director involved in deciding
his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has considered and recommended to the
Board the remuneration package of the individual executive Directors and
senior management as well as the remuneration of the non-executive
Directors and fulfilled duties as aforesaid required. During the year ended
31 December 2023, two Remuneration Committee meetings were held.
The table below sets forth the details of the attendance record:

HEER
HITRE

Attended/
Number of
meeting(s) held

Mr Chen Guilin (Chairman)

(appointed with effect from 25 April 2023) 1/2
Mr Lun Ruixiang 2/2
Ms Ou Ningxin (appointed with effect from 26 July 2023) N5 A N/A
Mr Hung Wan Shun Stephen

(resigned with effect from 6 July 2023) 1/2

Details of the Directors’ remuneration for the period under review are set
out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

REEARESENFMEFEINGE MR
RMFFES -
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Details of the remuneration by band of the members of senior
management (excluding Directors) of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023 is set out below:

i B 0 ] (PR A 45 B A B BR RE B 2 BR M) A

Remuneration bands (excluding Number of

equity-settled share option expense) person(s)

AR 750,000 TTE A TR RMB750,000 or below 0

AR ¥ 750,001 . E A R ¥ 1,000,000 7T RMB750,001 to RMB1,000,000 1

A B ¥ 1,000,001 7T A RMB1,000,001 or above 1
BErEae Nomination Committee

REZEGNIZRECEIEFRVES
EMAB BB HERkZTE ARES
& RECA AR AR D X BRS FF AV E 52

REDRERY OREARBEEFAE
TR () DEAENARBEEE

THERBETESTHNARAEZTSRHE
i VERNEFEREZTTEMBRR R
REXERRETIFLERE VBT
FRITEFNEIULI -

RAZESEHERBEFHHEREARREA
WHIE BB REEURRARREEBENIA
BITRGEBEMNEN REZEQNER
EEHERBIRETESTSELRE -

BEARERY REAZECHINTES
IR EEETRE  REMMEBEIIFHR
TEERERL T RREMEL -

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i) review the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy; (i) to make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors; (iii) to identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Directors and make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorship; (iv) to review the policy on Board diversity and make
disclosure of such in the corporate governance report; and (v) to assess the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee will assess the candidate or incumbent on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time and
effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The recommendations of
the Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board for decision.

As of the date of this report, the Nomination Committee was chaired by Mr

Lun Ruixiang, a non-executive Director with two other independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms Ou Ningxin and Mr Chen Guilin.
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REZECCORITEETSMEE - HE -4 The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size, composition
BEZmilt BREFESMEZT/LEE +  and diversity of the Board, reviewed the board diversity policy, as well as
FZBIIFENTESNBIM - MEERMT  assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors, made
EEMNEETCRIEFURBEITEXURTER  recommendation to the Board on the re-election of the retiring Directors
BE -REZEEHE2023F12A31HIEF  and fulfilled duties as aforesaid required. During the year ended 31
ERERITMAZHE - NRIEEZANEFE  December 2023, two Nomination Committee meetings were held. The

AOER - table below sets forth the details of the attendance record:
HE &3
B|ITRE
Attended/
Number of
Name of committee member meeting(s) held
fmIRFEE LA (E/E) Mr Lun Ruixiang (Chairman) 2/2
IR+ (H2023F 7 A20 BEEZR(T)  Ms OuNingxin (appointed with effect from 26 July 2023) T3 A N/A
BRAEMCAE (B 2023F 4 H25 HREZT)  MrChen Guilin (appointed with effect from 25 April 2023) 1/2
RRIE(S A (520239 7 Ao HBEHE) Mr Hung Wan Shun Stephen
(resigned with effect from 6 July 2023) 1/2
REBEX Nomination Policy

BHZE203F12A31BLEFE - REBEZEEE  During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee
EMRABCR ([IRBBER]) - B EEZE  adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) setting out the
RIEEEF UWe BMEREEESIRE  selection criteria and nomination procedures to identify, select and

A BBHERFBOT : recommend candidates for Directors. Details of the Nomination Policy as
follows:

i BM ()  Objective
REZESRENESTRAAENRE The Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable candidates to
A UEHEEZWRREHERS  RRE the Board for it to consider and make recommendations to the
RETERRER XD REFEM Shareholders for election as the Directors at general meetings or
& FRF ZE R © appoint as Directors to fill casual vacancies.
REZESCERBEENBRT 18 The Nomination Committee may, as it considers appropriate,
HERERRAREG LEBHEFTHBL nominate a number of candidates more than the number of
1RIBAANE - AR ZSER A S - Directors to be appointed or re-appointed at a general meeting, or

the number of casual vacancies to be filled.

48 CESEERARAR]  Huijing Holdings Company Limited



M A

PEEIAWRSE

)
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(i) BEZEE
FEAEEENREALERBEGREN
FmAESENE REZTESLEN
AEPEETRERY  EENRIZBE .
ERAREERKQENITE LR K
B B AR KRR S ARG
IEBAARRTKRREMNEES L TL
BERENESFEZLERAE - ZEA
REHSZ WIERMENZSERER
EM - RERZEEEERABEEMBNR
TERNBERREREMA -

(iii) REBEEF
RAZESRBFESSHRERREE
A(NE)  HERSHANEE -REZE
Bgh RN IIESTSKERZMNFEE
}\o

REZEGRYERBREZRE Y
ExenHiEK BRI HEFS
BRME - REAZEGREEZRE
ARBRAGES2E MEEGIEHE
AFE BRI o

FEBMBBKA WERATZRBRES
CERBHEEBRRAGL2E -

RTRFEZTSRENEEARBERASZ
EHER NRAGRBRR B XBE - E2E
REANES  BE (BREENMIBEER)
B REFWMEERRE  ROIRER
RENEAEMEMN SR GERRABRT

REAAERRAE A AT ERERR AR
WEBRZXEMBANHLEREAER -

EEeRMHEBREANEARRAS2E
HIFTE R RER SR

(ii)  Selection Criteria

In assessing a proposed candidate for the recommendation of
appointment or re-appointment of the members of the Board, the
factors which would be used as reference by the Nomination
Committee include but not limited to the Director’s reputation for
integrity, his/her accomplishment and experience in the industry
which the Group operates, his/her commitment in respect of
available time and relevant interest as well as the diversity in all its
aspects as set out in the Board Diversity Policy adopted by the
Company from time to time. These factors are for reference only, and
not meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to nominate any person, as it
considers appropriate.

(iii) Nomination Procedures

The Nomination Committee shall invite nominations of candidates
from Board members if any, for consideration by the Nomination
Committee prior to its meeting. The nomination committee may also
put forward candidates who are not nominated by Board members.

For filling a casual vacancy and/or as an addition to the Board, the
nomination committee shall make recommendations for the Board’s
consideration and approval. For proposing candidates to stand for
election at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee shall make
nominations to the Board for its consideration and recommendation.

Until the issue of the shareholder circular, the nominated persons shall not
assume that they have been proposed by the Board to stand for election at
the general meeting.

In order to provide information of the candidates nominated by the Board
to stand for election at a general meeting, a circular will be sent to
shareholders. The names, brief biographies (including qualifications and
relevant experience), independence, proposed remuneration and any
other information, as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and
regulations, of the proposed candidates will be included in the circular to
shareholders.

A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any time before the
general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the Company Secretary.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its

recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any general
meeting.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity Policy”) in
accordance with the provisions of the Listing Rules, which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board. All Board appointments shall
be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
selection criteria, having regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The
nomination committee will monitor the implementation of the Diversity
Policy and will review the Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its
effectiveness.

The Diversity Policy also sets out the Board’s commitment to gender
diversity and other diversity aspects. The Company currently has one
female Director, and the Board will take opportunities to increase the
proportion of female members over time as and when selecting and
making recommendation on suitable candidates as Directors.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the period under review with the support
from the Company’s finance and accounts department.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other financial disclosures required under
the Listing Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the
Board for approval.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “"Material uncertainties relating to
going concern” in the Independent Auditor’s Report, the Directors are not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company'’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

Notwithstanding the above, as set forth in the section headed “THE
MANAGEMENT POSITION, VIEWS AND ASSESSMENT ON THE DISCLAIMER
OPINION" in this Corporate Governance Report, the Directors have taken
and will continue to implement measures to improve the Group’'s liquidity
and financial position. Based on the plans and measures, the Board is
satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 on a going
concern basis.
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In view of the disclaimer of opinion included in the Independent Auditor’s
Report ("Disclaimer of Opinion”), the Board has undertaken the following
plans and measures to improve the Group's liquidity and financial position:

1. The Company has maintained regular discussion with creditors
regarding extending payment terms of existing loans and
borrowings when needed. Moreover, the Company will leverage on
supporting policies to obtain new loans and borrowings when
possible;

2. The Company is currently in discussion with a potential strategic
partner and/or investor regarding cooperation at the project
company level as well as the Company level. The Company targets
to reach certain agreement regarding the cooperation of one or
more projects in the next six months. If such project cooperation
materialized, the Company expects to generate certain cash inflow
from such cooperation. Once project cooperation is executed, the
Company may soon after proceed forward with the discussion
regarding cooperation at the Company level. After that the Company
may be able to leverage on the background of the strategic partner
and/or investor to negotiate an overall extension of repayment
terms with the existing loans and borrowings as well as acquiring
new loans and borrowings; and

3. As certain economic data released may signaled that the China
economy may be stabilizing, and as the supporting policies enacted
may start to take effect in the near future, the management is of the
view that the sentiment of the property market may improve in the
coming year, which would be beneficial to the Company in terms of
enabling the Company to sell properties in a timely manner when
needed. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had completed
properties held for sale, properties under developments and
investment properties amounted to approximately RMB935.7 million,
RMB3,132.2 million and RMB1,394.5 million, respectively. If the
Company is able to sell properties as planned in the coming year,
this would generate substantial cash inflow for the Company.
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The Board is of the opinion that, taking into account the above plans and
measures, the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due
within the next twelve months from 31 December 2023. Accordingly, the
Board is satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 on a going
concern basis. Notwithstanding the above plans and measures, significant
uncertainties exist as to whether the Group will be able to implement them
successfully. Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern,
adjustments may have to be made to write down the carrying values of
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effect of
these adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Disclaimer of Opinion, the
management’s position concerning the Disclaimer of Opinion (the
“Management’s Position”) and measures taken by the Group to address the
Disclaimer of Opinion. The Audit Committee agreed with the
Management's Position based on the reasons above. Moreover, the Audit
Committee requested the management to take necessary actions where
possible to address the uncertainties regarding going concern underlying
the Disclaimer of Opinion that no such Disclaimer of Opinion will be made
in the forthcoming audited financial statements. The Audit Committee had
also discussed with Prism regarding the financial position of the Group,
measures taken and to be taken by the Group, and considered the Prism's
rationale and understood their consideration in arriving their opinion.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report”.
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The remuneration paid to Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited (“Prism”),
the external auditors of the Company for the period under review was
RMB3.7 million for audit services, respectively.

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
supports the Board by ensuring good information flow within the Board
and the Board policy and procedures are followed. The Company Secretary
is an employee of the Company and has day-to- day knowledge of its
affairs. The selection, appointment or dismissal of the Company Secretary
will be approved by the Board as appropriate at a physical board meeting.

On 1 September 2023, Mr Lo Chi Ho Wilfred tendered his resignation as (i)
the Company Secretary; (i) the authorised representative of the Company
(the “Authorised Representative”) under Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules; and
(iii) the authorised representative for acceptance of service of process and
notices on behalf of the Company in Hong Kong under Part 16 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Rule
19.05(2) of the Listing Rules (the “Process Agent”). Following the resignation
of Mr Lo Chi Ho Wilfred, Ms Tang So Him was appointed as (i) the Company
Secretary; (ii) the Authorised Representative; and (iii) the Process Agent
with effect from 1 September 2023. Ms Tang So Him is a director and a
founder of AFFLUENT SEA CORPORATE SERVICES LIMITED, the external
professional service provider, and engaged by the Company as its
company secretary. The external professional service provider's primary
contact person at the Company is Ms Wang Di, the general manager of Risk
Control Center of the Group.

Both Mr Lo Chi Ho and Ms Tang So Him have taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Duties of the Board and the Management

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and reviewing
their effectiveness at least annually through the audit committee.

The Board is responsible for assessing and determining the nature and
extent of the risks that the Group is willing to take in achieving the strategic
objectives, and monitoring the establishment and maintenances of
appropriate and effective risk management and internal controls system.
The management is responsible for designing and maintaining an effective
risk management and internal control system as well as providing
confirmations to the Board on the effectiveness of the system.
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Such risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
that there will be no material misstatements or losses.

Risk Management

The Group's risk management structure meets the best practice model
known as “Three Lines of Defense Model” with the first line of defense
being operational management and internal control measures, the second
line of defense being finance, cost and quality control, human resources
functions, legal and compliance, and company secretarial, and the third
line of defense being internal audit.

E—ER ETERBR F=ERR
1st Line of Defense 2nd Line of Defense 3rd Line of Defense
: : : hEE
B : 72 S L] EERE
. External Regulator
» F
EEEE P fnanee Auditor
Operational RARESEE
Management - Cost and Quality
- Control
ADER i R EBE T
Human Resources ' ! Internal Audit
pEEEEE G RRRAR
Internal Control Legal and Compliance

Measures NEMESETK

Company Secretarial

Affairs
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board, through the audit
committee, conducted a comprehensive review of the risk management
system, identified the risks facing the Group and adopted the relevant
countermeasures with the help of external consultants, clarified the main
department responsible for risk management, countermeasures, objectives for
improvement, and reported the assessment results to the audit committee.

Internal Control

The Group’s risk management system is integrated with internal control
system which was developed based on the COSO (the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission) principles.

The internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance on the effectiveness and efficiency of operations in
achieving the established corporate objectives, safeguarding the Group’s
assets, providing reliable financial reporting information and complying
with the applicable laws and regulations. Systems and procedures are also
established to identify, measure, manage and control, rather than eliminate,
different risks arising from different business and functional activities.

Internal Audit

The internal audit department plays an important role in enhancing
internal control system of the Group. It assists the Board in determining
whether sound internal control system is maintained and operated in
compliance with the established processes and standards by performing
periodic audits over all major operations of the Group, under a rotational
cycle. An annual audit plan (comprising annual audit focus and audit
frequencies) is prepared based on the department’s independent risk
assessment. Such work plan is discussed and agreed with the audit
committee at the beginning of each financial year. If any material risks or
internal control defects are found, the internal audit department will
discuss with respective department heads to have actions agreed and
subsequently followed up, in order to ensure that satisfactory controls are
maintained. Major internal audit findings will be submitted to the audit
committee for review and all improvement actions will be properly
followed up by management to ensure that they are implemented within
a reasonable period of time.

The Group complies with the requirements of Securities & Futures
Ordinance (“SFO") and the Listing Rules. The Group will disclose inside
information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the
information falls within any of the “safe harbours” provisions and satisfies
the conditions under the SFO. Before the information is fully disclosed to
the public, the Group will ensure that the information is kept strictly
confidential.
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The Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or inside
information and established and implemented procedures for responding
to external enquiries about the Group's affairs, so that only the executive
Directors are authorized to communicate with parties outside the Group.

Through the Audit Committee, the Board has conducted annual review of
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems for the Year, covering all material financial, operational and
compliance controls, and it has considered the Group's risk management
and internal control system to be effective and adequate.

The Board strives to maintain on-going dialogues with the shareholders
through various communication channels, for instance, the publication of
notices, announcements, circulars, interim and annual reports. All such
information are available on the Company’s website.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides an opportunity for
shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. The Chairman of
the Company and the Chairman of the Board committees will attend the
annual general meeting to answer shareholders’ questions. The external
auditor of the Company will also attend the annual general meeting to
answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor’s
independence.

The Board has established a shareholders’ communication policy which
will be reviewed regularly to ensure its effectiveness to enhance
shareholders’ relationship with the Company and to comply with the
relevant rules and corporate governance code.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’” communication policy and considered it to be conducted
effectively during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting

According to Article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association, any one or
more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at a general
meeting

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
However, shareholders who wish to propose resolutions may follow Article
58 of the Company's Articles of Association for requisitioning an
extraordinary general meeting and including a resolution at such meeting.
The requirements and procedures of Article 58 of the Company’s Articles of
Association are set out above.

Regarding proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures are
available on the website of the Company.

Shareholders’ enquiries
If shareholders have any queries in connection with their shareholdings,

please write to or contact the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at:

17/F Far East Finance Centre 16 Harcourt Road Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2980 1066

Fax: (852) 2262 7584

Website: www.tricorglobal.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

There was no change in the constitutional documents of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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The Directors pleased to present their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the Year.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities and other particulars of the principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

The results of the Group for the Year and the financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2023 are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 99 to 220 of this annual report.

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

The Board has adopted a dividend policy. The principles and guidelines of
such are as follows:

(@) The Company has no fixed dividend payout ratio;

(b)  Any declaration and payment of dividends by the Company shall be
made in accordance with the constitutional documents of the
Company and the relevant laws and regulations, including the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands (the “Cayman Companies
Law"). Pursuant to the Cayman Companies Law, the Company shall
not declare or pay a dividend or make a distribution out of
contributed surplus (which, for this purpose, includes proceeds
arising from donated shares, credits resulting from the redemption
or conversion of shares at less than the amount set up as nominal
capital, and donations of cash and other assets to the Company), if
there are reasonable grounds for believing that (i) the Company is, or
would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they
become due; or (ii) the realisable value of the Company’s assets
would thereby be less than its liabilities;

(@  Any declaration and payment of dividends by the Company,
including the amount of any dividends to be declared, is subject to
the discretion of the Board and, where required under the
constitutional documents of the Company and the Cayman
Companies Law, the approval of the shareholders of the Company
(the "Shareholders”); and
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(d)  The Directors may recommend a declaration and payment of
dividends after taking into account the Group's operations and
earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial
condition, contractual restrictions, capital expenditure and future
development requirements, Shareholders' interests and other factors
which they may deem relevant at such time.

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (2024 AGM")
will be held on Tuesday, 25 June 2024. The notice of 2024 AGM will be
published and issued to shareholders of the Company in due course.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 20
June 2024 to Tuesday, 25 June 2024 (both days inclusive), for the purpose
of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the 2024
AGM. In order to be entitled to attend and vote at the 2024 AGM, all
completed transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited of 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong
Time) on Wednesday, 19 June 2024.

An overview and the outlook of the Group's business are provided in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion &
Analysis” of this annual report. No important event affecting the Group has
occurred since the end of the Year. Certain financial key performance
indicators can be found in the section headed “Financial Highlights”.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
shown in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.

An account of the Group's relationship with its key stakeholders and
discussions on the Group's environmental policies and performance are
included in a separate “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”,
which will be published in compliance with the stipulations under the
Listing Rules, and in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report”.

The Company is in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Company for the Year.

3R 2023 Annual Report 59



HEG WS
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

FTERBRIAEEM Principal risk and uncertainties

AEBERERBEBIEF HBEE - W  The Group believes that the risk management practices are important and

A NHRERCARAEBA R M A EME,  use its best effort to ensure it is sufficient to mitigate the risks present in

BEMUR2ERMBRRFRFERNRR our operations and financial position as efficiently and effectively as
possible:

— BANEBRAIRBORRSPEYEMS —
BRI WA e X BMEM TSR BT
MEE

— EMEEREZFNmEmSFES TRR —
KA HETE M

— BM2EETENRERAVEFTEESZK —
ARER MEBERNEER AR
Krlge T @

— R R EERE  —
BEAEHNER

— RN ARREFMIE - FESREM  —
T APT AT B R 1 R RO R PG

—  BARARKAIGEEEARE LAERS  —
EREEAHMERAEEMHES LT
WiEk SRS ERMNER B
BN - EEXBERATR

— BMONEBLR2E (BRBEMOBTE —
MER)ERARE EXRBFBE A
MATARR - BB S X2 hBEEBED
15 N B PR & PR b 3 1O USRS )
VR

— DEHRBSRAEEN  HRMANME —
P SMEELE LES AR Al
BMAREELEE (BETILRER &
BOEREFEHFENDRIME) RE
BiR &

— BMEBREELENEERR - —

Our business and prospects depend on the performance of the PRC
property market and may be adversely affected by any market
fluctuations;

Our expansion into new geographical markets presents certain risks
and uncertainties;

Our involvement in urban renewal developments may require more
costs and resources and the benefits from such developments may
not become apparent in the near future;

We may not be able to recoup committed resources if our land
acquisition fails;

We may acquire land parcels in the future, title or other defects of
which we may not be able to remedy;

We may not be able to acquire land reserves in desirable locations
that are suitable for our development at commercially acceptable
prices in the future, which may affect our business, financial
conditions, results of operation and prospects;

Our business and operations, including our urban renewal projects,
are highly subject to government policies and regulations. We are
susceptible to adverse changes in policies in the PRC real estate
market and in regions we operate;

Property development involve uncertainties, and we may incur
impairment losses of our assets (including our land reserves,
properties under development and completed properties held for
sale) if our property development or our property becomes less
economically viable; and

We are exposed to the credit risk of our joint venture.

BRAAEBEEEmMBAOEMER X TFETEM ©  For other risks and uncertainties facing by the Group, please refer to the
FELHEBRERIRABEZE]—& - section headed “Risk Factors” in the Prospectus.
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FHRSRIERERASE USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

AARFR2020F1 B16 BN EB KT The Company was successfully listed on the Main Board of the Stock
T BREEEERINBBTHERAZE  Exchange on 16 January 2020. 788,100,000 new ordinary shares of the
REITHREE001 B TTH 788,100,000 % ¥ Company of HK$0.01 each were allotted and issued at the offer price of
B - FEMBBRMOBITRAR ETWEA% - HKS$1.93 per share. The net proceeds from the Company’s listing amounted
AARMEMABREFEAIIEED  to HKS1,391.1 million after deducting share issuance costs and listing
Lo RSB RBIFERBESERIEB  expenses. Such net proceeds are intended to be or have been applied in
ERIAKRFEINAEBRERZR] — &R accordance with the proposed applications as set out in the section
BEEA - AEREREREEHIINT headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. A summary
of the use of proceeds is set out below:

ARRAETAEREFE(EEET)
Net proceeds from the Company’s listing (in HK$ millions)

REFHAM REFHAH REANEZ

FiBRERE TEAR L d: AEA BitBEE
Expected
Utilized asat Unutilized as at timeline of
the date of this the date of this unutilized
Use of proceeds Planneduse  annualreport  annual report proceeds
BHEERMBHIEE - Tofund development costs to advance 765.] 765.] - TERA
REFRKAL urban renewal projects N/A
BEMEER (AAM - Developmentand construction costs for the 2782 2782 - N
ESHTHRLR development of existing property projects, N/A
HHES B ER namely Hefei Hijing City Centre and
XfRNE) M E R Huijing Yanhu International Resort
BEKA
EEETHANE « Repayment of certain existing interest 2782 2782 - S
RITEAREMER bearing bank borrowings and other N/A
borrowings
REESEEEES . Toprovide funding for working capital 696 696 - il
REM—RARBRE and other general corporate purposes N/A
wE Total 13911 13911 -
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Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Year are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

Save for the share option schemes of the Company as disclosed in the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report of the Directors and
in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group during the Year or subsisted
at the end of the Year.

Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year amounted to
HK$93,100 (2022: Nil).

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 48 to the financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

Under the Cayman Companies Law, the Company may make distribution
to the Shareholders out of contributed surplus. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of this
contributed surplus if it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

The five largest customers in aggregate accounted for less than 30.0% of
the Group's turnover for the Year. The five largest suppliers in aggregate
and the largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 68.2%
and approximately 17.9% respectively by value of the Group’s total
purchases for the Year.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders (which, to
the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5.0% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the major customers or
suppliers noted above.

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Chairman and Non-Executive Director

Mr Lun Ruixiang

Executive Directors

Mr Lun Zhao Ming (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr Lu Peijun

Mr Luo Chengyu

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr Chen Guilin (appointed with effect from 25 April 2023)

Mr Chan Kin Man (appointed with effect from 26 July 2023)

Ms Ou Ningxin (appointed with effect from 26 July 2023)

Ms Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna (resigned with effect from 6 July 2023)
Mr Hung Wan Shun Stephen (resigned with effect from 6 July 2023)
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According to Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, Mr Chen Guilin, Mr
Chan Kin Man and Ms Ou Ningxin who was appointed as independent
non-executive Director on 25 April 2023, 26 July 2023 and 26 July 2023
respectively, shall held office only until the 2024 AGM.

According to Articles 84(1) and 84(2) of the Articles of Association, and the
provisions in the CG Code, Mr Lun Zhao Ming, Mr Lu Peijun and Mr Luo
Chengyu will retire from office, and being eligible, have been
recommended by the Board for re-election as Directors at the 2024 AGM.
The proposals for the re-election of the aforementioned Directors will be
put forward at the 2024 AGM.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors and as at the date of this
report still considers them to be independent.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contract with the Group
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive and/or their respective associates of the Company in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")), which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required to be entered in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code,
were as follows:
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(i) MAEQTRMDZER () Interestsin shares of the Company
BERERN BRAEML
BB (Hfzt1) HE R 5 ny Bk
Underlying Approximate
Number of shares percentage of
Name of Director Nature of Interests shares (Note 1) interested Total shareholding
fim3m 55 4 RmrEER (Hat2) 3,937,331,000 (1) - 3,937,331,000 74.94%
Mr Lun Ruixiang Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 2)
Ao B es 44,659,000 (L) 2,600,000 47,259,000 0.90%
Interest of spouse (KteE3)
(Note 3)
EREEA - 9,600,000 9,600,000 0.18%
Beneficial owner
fmERALE EREAA - 6,000,000 6,000,000 0.11%
MrLun Zhao Ming Beneficial owner
EmELE ESEAA - 6,000,000 6,000,000 0.11%
Mr Lu Peijun Beneficial owner
BKEESE ExEBA - 1,800,000 1,800,000 0.03%
Mr Luo Chengyu Beneficial owner
Htat - Notes:
1. FEILIRERZATRZEROOTAI(E 1. The letter "L" denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part XV of

EREZLAEGEOEXVED)

REBEREEEME L REBEEARDA
3,937,331,000 R D W ERIERBR A G AR
ELEER2ERE -

F5 8 782 R] 44,659,000 A% A% 1 79 T BX 15 AR B PR
ANAHBROZLZITER2ERR  MIBEFE
FREIEED - BRI =2 TR A EERE
RRER A B FTFAEREE MDA -
HRGREELEARD =L ENER  BIE
BHERBERY  BTAEREARREG =L I
FriFfaRI 2B MR+ A -

the SFO) in such shares.

2. Wui Ying Holdings Limited, which was incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands, holding 3,937,331,000 shares of the Company, is beneficially wholly-
owned by Mr Lun Ruixiang.

3. Wui Shing Holdings Limited, holding 44,659,000 shares of the Company, is
beneficially wholly-owned by Ms Chan Hau Wan and Ms Chan Hau Wan is
deemed to be interested in the same number of shares held by Wui Shing
Holdings Limited by virtue of the SFO. Since Mr Lun Ruixiang is the spouse of
Ms Chan Hau Wan, he is also deemed to be interested in the same number of
shares which are held by Ms Chan Hau Wan by virtue of the SFO.
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(i) RAQTHEBEENER (i) Interestsin the associated corporation of the Company

HEEEEN  REBEEZEN
HEEE RS HEERIBE REBDLE

Numberof Percentage of

class of shareholding
securitiesin interests in the

the associated associated
Name of Director Name of associated company Nature of interests company company
i i 5 5 A M &R B R AR EnBAA 1 100%
Mr Lun Ruixiang Wui Ying Holdings Limited Beneficial owner
Br ESCRTHEEE SN - 722023 F 12 A 31 Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
A BMEESEERAAAN&ESTTHRAER Directors and the chief executive of the Company had registered an
RAR R SEFMAERER 2 K&K - A interest or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
R REEETHEEREBEES RAE debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
EOIEID2IGER 2 BERAR - R that was required to be recorded pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
BIRESFRIASTTHE AR R REERZ A or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
ZIERRRE ° pursuant to the Model Code.

66 CESIERRARAR  Huijing Holdings Company Limited



HELHS

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS s

EFERRNARQT RS R HEE R
BRI AR

R2023F12A31H M TAT (BRESHA
NEIMGREITBABIN EARQFRMDAEE
BihhEaERS AR  REREZHLS
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, the following persons (other than a Director or
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the

shares or underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in the
register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO:

BRHOBE HEEERHN REMA
RRERW MR EmtE (Hiet1) MHE R Bk
Underlying Approximate
Number of shares percentage of
Name of Shareholder Nature of Interests shares (Note 1) interested shareholding
ERERARLDA REEEES 3,937,331,000 (1) - 3,937331,000 74.94%
Wui Ying Holdings Limited  Interest in a controlled corporation
ROkt (R ¥ 3,937,331,000 (L) 9,600,000  3,946,931,000 75.12%
Ms Chan Hau Wan Interest of spouse (Kiz22)
(Note 2)
REEE RS 44,659,000 (L) - 44,659,000 0.85%
Interest in a controlled corporation
ERBEAA - 2,600,000 2,600,000 0.05%
Beneficial owner
Bitat Notes:
1. FHILARRZALRZERGOITEIGE 1. The letter 'L” denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part XV of

EREZFRAEGEPEXVE)

2. ¥ 5 N A 7] 3,937,331,000 B A% 19 B FE 22 458 A%
BRARHABHELEERZEEE MR
EEERBEES - BImELERRABRE
BIERBERARMFEREBOROTES
R ARBRO=Z T ARIsHE L EnEeE
BEEERAEED  BIAEE AN R
FSEFTFEREE MR T A RS -

P % 1758 % B R A BlHF A 44,659,000 & 2R A 7 %
- HROEZT2EERER  MIBREE
FREEGEN  RIO=Z Wi A% ER
TIRBMR AR E AR EE RMDOER -

M EXCATIREESN  R2023F 128318 - #
B|ATRARRZRG AR D PR
B E RHIEEOIE B6 BETFN AR TN E
ARz ESSAE -

the SFO) in such shares.

2. Wui Ying Holdings Limited, holding 3,937,331,000 shares of the Company, is
beneficially wholly-owned by Mr Lun Ruixiang and Mr Lun Ruixiang is
deemed to be interested in the same number of shares held by Wui Ying
Holdings Limited by virtue of the SFO. Since Ms Chan Hau Wan is the spouse
of Mr Lun Ruixiang, she is also deemed to be interested in the same number
of shares which are held by Mr Lun Ruixiang by virtue of the SFO.

Wui Shing Holdings Limited, holding 44,659,000 shares of the Company, is
beneficially wholly-owned by Ms Chan Hau Wan and Ms Chan Hau Wan is
deemed to be interested in the same number of shares held by Wui Shing
Holdings Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no person had registered
an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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1. B®:
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3. HAAHBREABREFETH
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SHHGEBITRANE S X
R2023F12831H BEHELA
SR BREE ] FEITH
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4. BRAHABRENBRESETSE

ZLHEEEREEBRENGS
A :
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ME=HE -

5. BRETAIBRONVER:
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Al B AR AT B IR SRR R AR LE -

A.

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”), effective
from 6 April 2019:

1. Purpose:

The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to provide
selected participants with the opportunity to acquire
proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage
selected participants to work towards enhancing the value of
the Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole. The Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme provides the Company with a flexible means of
retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and/or providing benefits to selected
participants.

2. Participants:

The Board may in its absolute discretion, select any persons to
whom options are offered or granted.

3.  Total number of shares available for issue under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the percentage of
issued share capital as of the date of this report:

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of shares of the
Company available for issue under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme is 50,250,000, representing 0.96% of the issued share
capital of the Company.

4, Maximum entitlement of each participant under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme:

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme contains no provisions on
the maximum entitlement of each participant.

5.  The period within which shares must be taken up under
an option:

Subject to the provisions for early termination contained in
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the options granted to the
grantees shall become exercisable in accordance with the
time as indicated in the letter of grant to each grantee.
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The amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option and the period within which payments must be
made:

An offer of the grant of an option shall be deemed to have
been accepted when the duplicate letter comprising
acceptance of the option duly signed by the grantee together
with a non-refundable remittance in favour of the Company of
RMB1.0 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is
received by the Company within the period specified in the
letter containing the offer of the grant of the option. Once
such acceptance is made, the option shall be deemed to have
been granted and to have taken effect from the offer date.

The minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised:

The Board may in its absolute discretion when offering the
grant of an option impose any conditions, restrictions or
limitations in relation thereto in addition to those set forth in
the Pre-IPO Share Scheme as the Board may think fit (to be
stated in the offer letter) including, among others, vesting
period and conditions, restrictions or limitations relating to the
achievement of operating or financial targets.

The basis of determining the exercise price:

The subscription price in respect of an option granted under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be 50% to 70% of the
final offer price at which the shares of the Company are being
offered and issued to investors in the global offering.

The remaining life of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme:

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was expired on the Listing
Date. Subsequent to the expiry of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme, no further option shall be offered but in all other
respects, the provisions of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect and all options granted
prior to such expiry shall continue to be valid and exercisable
subject to and in accordance with the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme.
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BB E RN SR ERER S The movements in the number of share options under the
REHNERESE N AEENE Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme during the Year were as follows:
FIFREHNTE
BREETHROEA
Number of shares under the options
#2023 KEE rEE rEE AEE  R2023F
SREFRRSA 1810 Bl g i %% 128318 T /B/%)
Asat Vesting/
Asat Granted  Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 31 Exercise Exercise
Date of grant 1 January during during during during December price per period
Category and name of participant  (dd/mm/yyyy) 2023  theYear theYear  theYear  theVYear 2023 share (dd/mm/yyyy)
gz
Directors
RinELE 06/04/2019 8600000 - - - - 8600000  0965ITT (Hzt1)
Mr Lun Ruixiang HK$0.965 (Note 1)
23/10/2019 1,000,000 - - - - 1000000 09657 (1)
HK$0.965 (Note 1)
RRALE 06/04/2019 6,000,000 - - - - 6000000 09657 (Hi#1)
MrLun Zhao Ming HK$0.965 (Note 1)
EPELE 06/04/2019 6,000,000 - - - - 6000000 09653TT (Hzt1)
MrLu Peijun HK$0.965 (Note 1)
EMEEE 06/04/2019 1,800,000 - - - - 1800000 1351AT (1)
MrLuo Chengyu HK$1.351 (Note 1)
gt 23400,000 - - - - 23400000
Sub-total
EZUHEA
Associate of Director
RBzZ T (fi#2) 23/10/2019 2600000 - - - - 2600000 09657 (Hrs#1)
Ms Chan Hau Wan (Note 2) HK$0.965 (Note 1)
g 2600000 - - - - 2600000
Sub-total
EE
Employees
At 06/04/2019 14900000 - - - - 14900000 09653 (Hi#1)
In aggregate HK$0.965 (Note 1)
06/04/2019 4,550,000 - - - — 4550000 125457 7T (HizE1)
HK$1.2545 (Note 1)
06/04/2019 3,150,000 - - - 1150000 2000000 13517 (Hi#1)
HK$1.351 (Note 1)
06/04/2019 2800000 - - - - 2800000 135137 (B1:#3)
HK$1.351 (Note 3)
IS) 25400000 - - - 1150000 24250000
Sub-total
b 51,400,000 - - - 1,150000 50,250,000
Total
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Notes:

20% of the underlying shares of the Company were vested
from 16 January 2020 to 15 January 2021; 20% of the
underlying shares of the Company were vested from 16
January 2021 to 15 January 2022; 20% of the underlying shares
of the Company were vested from 16 January 2022 to 15
January 2023; 20% of the underlying shares of the Company
were vested from 16 January 2023 to 15 January 2024; 20% of
the underlying shares of the Company were vested from 16
January 2024 to 15 January 2025.

Ms Chan Hau Wan is the spouse of Mr Lun Ruixiang. Pursuant
to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, Ms Chan Hau Wan is an
associate of Mr Lun Ruixiang.

The underlying shares of the Company were vested in five
vesting periods as the same manner in note 1 above. The first
vesting date varies for different grantees from 19 June 2020 to
4 March 2021.
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Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (the
“Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”) by resolutions in writing of
the Shareholders on 11 December 2019. The following is a
summary of the principal terms of the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme:

Purpose:

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to
provide eligible participants with the opportunity to acquire
proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage
eligible participants to work towards enhancing the value of
the Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company
and Shareholders as a whole. The Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme will provide the Company with a flexible means of
retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and/or providing benefits to eligible
participants.

Participants:

Any individual, being an employee, director or proposed
director, consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent,
franchisee, partner, adviser or contractor of any member of the
Group or any affiliate or a close associate of any of the
aforesaid individuals, whom the Board considers, in its
absolute discretion, qualified is entitled to be offered and
granted options.

Total number of shares available for issue under the
Post- IPO Share Option Scheme and the percentage of
issued share capital as at the date of this report:

The maximum number of shares of the Company which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Post IPO-Share Option Scheme and any other schemes, in
aggregate, is 525,400,000, being no more than 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue on 16 January 2020, being the
date the shares of the Company commence trading on the
Stock Exchange, unless approved by the Shareholders at
general meeting.
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The maximum number of shares of the Company which may
be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the
Post- IPO Share Option Scheme:

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the option already granted or to be
granted to each eligible participant (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant shall not exceed 1%
in aggregate of the shares of the Company in issue. Any grant
of further options above this limit shall be subject to, among
others, approval of the Shareholders at general meeting, with
such eligible participant and his close associates (or his
associates if such eligible participant is a connected person of
the Company) abstaining from voting.

The period within which shares must be taken up under
an option:

The period which the Board may in its absolute discretion
determine but in any event not exceeding ten years from the
date of grant.

The minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised:

The Board may on a case-by-case basis and at its discretion
when making an offer, impose any conditions, restrictions or
limitations in relation thereto in addition to those expressly set
forth in the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme as it may think fit
(which shall be stated in the offer letter) including, among
other things, vesting period and conditions, restrictions or
limitations relating to the achievement of operating or
financial targets.
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7.  The amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option and the period within which payments must be
made:

An offer shall be deemed to have been accepted when the
Company receives a duplicate offer letter duly signed from the
grantee together with a non-refundable remittance of HK$1.00
in favour of the Company as consideration for the grant
thereof within 20 business days from the date of offer. Once
accepted, the option shall be deemed to have granted as from
the date on which it was offered to the relevant eligible
participant. Unless otherwise stated in the terms of the offer
letter, any offer may be accepted for a number of the
Company's shares less than which is offered provided that it is
accepted in respect of a board lot for dealings in the
Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange or an integral
multiple thereof.

8.  The basis of determining the exercise price:

The exercise price of the option shall be determined by the
Board but shall be not less than the higher of (i) the closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer of the
grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer of the grant; and (iii)
the nominal value of a share of the Company on the date of
offer of the grant.

9.  Theremaining life of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme:

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a

MHERET10FAER - period of 10 years commencing on the Listing Date.
BLETMBAEEEZERBEAFHRAS - From the Listing Date up to and including as of the date of this
BEEREREE N AAZEEERERE annual report, no options were granted under the Post-IPO Share
FTEIERE - Option Scheme.

74  ESERABRRZAT Huijing Holdings Company Limited



HELHS

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

FRIEERERTRABRAR R RE(E[E
B 2 B - B REREN Em R

KRR IR [ FERBER & ST REES - A
ARAFEAREBEALZHARAT  HH

EAMBARRER AR RES T &L
BB ET—EEN BRSEFHHESE
BEMExX 18RAT FREEESARTRE
A EAE A BRI IS - MEM A

BAREF/77ESAE[HER S| —MFHEE
BN RAFEAN BEESE (KEBEEZHH
ENTMER B HEYAEBER (M
AABHETAMBRAGTHRENEBRAR A
RN —H) EBEAREENAANRS &
AR R E AR -

EERNGFEBHERS

RMBFERE HEES  ARAFHERBKRRER
BREZAENETHEA(EXR LEMAA R
HASEXGERAHEEBENBRFHAERE
PR B E R R H (RERBEBIRIN P HEA
I

Save as disclosed in the sections headed "“DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OF ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS” and "SHARE OPTION SCHEMES”, at no time during the
Year did there subsist any arrangement to which the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or holding companies, was a party, and the objects of or one of
the objects of such arrangement are/is to enable the Directors or their
respective spouse or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” on
pages 77 to 88 of this report, none of the Directors (or any entities
connected with the Directors) had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

Directors’ interests in competing business

During the financial year, none of the Directors, the controlling shareholder
of the Company and their respective close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) has any interests in any business apart from the Group's
business, which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.
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Other than the Directors’ letters of appointment, no contracts concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the
Year.

The Company shall receive, from each of the controlling shareholders of
the Company (the “Covenantor”), an annual declaration on his/her/its
compliance with the undertakings contained in the deed of non-
competition (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) entered into by each of
them in favour of the Company pursuant to which each of the Covenantors
has undertaken to the Company that he/she/it shall or shall procure that
his/her/its close associates (other than members of the Group) shall:

(i) not, directly or indirectly, carry on, or participate in, or be interested
or involved or engaged in or acquire or hold any right or interest (in
each case whether for his/her/its own account or in conjunction
with or on behalf of other person, and as a shareholder, partner,
agent or otherwise and whether for profit, reward or otherwise) in
any business which is or is about to be engaged in any business or
investment activities in the PRC and Hong Kong, except for the
existing Ancillary Properties (as defined in the Prospectus), which is
the same as, similar or in competition or likely to compete with the
businesses carried on or contemplated to be carried or by any
member of the Group (the “Restricted Business”);

(i) ifthere is any project or new business opportunity that relates to the
Restricted Business (“New Business Opportunities” and each, a “New
Business Opportunity”), refer such New Business Opportunity to the
Group for consideration;

(i) notinvest or participate in any Restricted Business;

(iv)  If any of the Covenantors, their respective close associates and/or
companies controlled by them (other than the Group) wishes to sell
any interest in land to any third party (the “Opportunity for Sale”),
each of the Covenantors will and will procure their associates that
the Opportunity for Sale is offered to the Company and the
Company shall have a first right of refusal in respect of such
Opportunity for Sale; and
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(v)  provide, during the Relevant Period (as defined in the Prospectus),
where necessary and at least on an annual basis, all information
necessary for the review by the Company and the independent non-
executive Directors, subject to any relevant laws, rules and
regulations or any contractual obligations, to enable them to review
the Covenantors’ and their close associates’ (other than members of
the Group) compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition, and to
enable the Company to enforce the Deed of Non-Competition.

Details of the Deed of Non-Competition were disclosed in the Prospectus
under the section headed “Relationship with Our Controlling Shareholders”.

As of the date of this annual report, the Company had received an annual
written confirmation from each of the Covenantors in respect of their and
their close associates’ compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition. The
independent non-executive Directors had reviewed and were satisfied that
each of the Covenantors has complied with the Deed of Non-Competition
for the Period and up to the date of this annual report.

Details of the continuing connected transactions of the Company during
the Year are as follows:

(1) Residential Property Management Services Framework
Agreement with Dongguan Huijing Property
Management Company Limited (“Dongguan Property
Management”)

On 17 December 2021, the Company entered into a Residential
Property Management Services Framework Agreement with
Dongguan Property Management. Dongguan Property Management
shall provide services to the Group include but not limited to the
provision of safety and security services, daily cleaning, hygiene,
greening and maintenance services and fire safety management
services to the unsold residential properties. Dongguan Property
Management is beneficially owned as to 60.0% by Ms Chan Hau Wan
and as to 40.0% by Mr Lun Ruixiang, and is therefore an associate of
Mr Lun Ruixiang and Ms Chan Hau Wan and a connected person of
the Company under the Listing Rules.

The Residential Property Management Services Framework

Agreement shall take effect from 1 January 2022 and continue until
31 December 2024 (both dates inclusive).
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The services fees shall be determined principally by arm’s length
commercial negotiations after taking into account factors including
the numbers and locations of the projects, the operational costs
(including labour costs, material costs, management costs and the
mark-up rate, if applicable) with reference to the comparable market
price for similar services and similar type of projects of Dongguan
Property Management in the market from three independent third
party service providers.

The above term of the Residential Property Management Services
Framework Agreement has been incorporated to ensure that the
pricing terms are fair and reasonable, on normal commercial terms
and shall be no less favorable than those offered by the independent
third parties.

The annual cap of the service fees under the Residential Property
Management Services Framework Agreement for the period ending

1 December 2023 shall not exceed RMB13 million. The service fees
are expected to be satisfied by internal resources of the Group.

The above annual caps have been determined by reference to,
among others, the following factors:

(i) the historical transaction amount incurred under the 2019-
2021 Property Management Services Framework Agreement
(and revised by the Supplemental Agreement);

(i) the current property projects under which had engaged
Dongguan Property Management for the unsold residential
property management services, and new property projects
which are expected to complete from 2022 to 2024
respectively, with reference to the historical unsold rate,
projected increase of GFA of unsold residential property as a
result of the Group’s expected growth in the number of
property projects and subsequent projected increase for the
current property projects;

(i) the comparable market price by independent third parties on
normal commercial terms for providing similar services and
guidance rate by relevant government authorities; and

(iv)  other factors such as the experience of Dongguan Property
Management in provision of management services for unsold
residential properties.
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(2)

Commercial Property Management Services Framework
Agreement with Dongguan Property Management

On 17 December 2021, the Company entered into a Commercial
Property Management Services Framework Agreement with
Dongguan Property Management in relation to the services agreed
to be provided by Dongguan Property Management to the Group
include but not limited to the office support services for the existing
and anticipated new office buildings such as in Guangdong, Hunan,
Zhejiang and Jiangsu provinces, including property and facilities
maintenance, security services, cleaning services, gardening services,
public area maintenance, greeting and other property management
related services.

The Commercial Property Management Services Framework
Agreement shall take effect from 1 January 2022 and continue until
31 December 2024 (both dates inclusive).

The service fees shall be determined principally by arm'’s length
commercial negotiations after taking into account factors including
the numbers and locations of the projects, the operational costs
(including labour costs, material costs, management costs and the
mark-up rate, if applicable) with reference to the comparable market
price for similar services and similar type of projects of Dongguan
Property Management in the market from three independent third
party service providers.

The above term of the Commercial Property Management Services
Framework Agreement has been incorporated to ensure that the
pricing terms are fair and reasonable, on normal commercial terms,
and shall be no less favourable than those offered by the
independent third parties.

The annual cap of the service fees under the Commercial Property
Management Services Framework Agreement for the period ending
31 December 2023 shall not exceed RMB11.7 million. The service
fees are expected to be satisfied by internal resources of the Group.
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(3)

The above annual caps have been determined by reference to,
among others, the following factors:

() the historical transaction amount incurred under the 2021
Commercial Property Management Services Framework
Agreement;

(i) the anticipated growing demand for office support services
for the forthcoming year from 2022 to 2024, with reference to
the expansion of the Group to new regions such as Zhejiang
and Jiangsu provinces, and the anticipated increase in
demand of quantity and quality of the existing administrative
services of the Group;

(i) the comparable market price by independent third parties on
normal commercial terms for providing similar services; and

(iv)  other factors such as the experience of Dongguan Property
Management in provision of office support services.

Sales Centre Support Services Framework Agreement
with Dongguan Property Management

On 17 December 2021, the Company entered into The Sales Centre
Support Services Framework Agreement with Dongguan Property
Management in relation to the sales centre support services agreed
to be provided by Dongguan Property Management to the Group
include but not limited to the provision of cleaning and security,
customer reception and other relevant support services in sales
office, showrooms, display units and club houses in various locations
in the PRC, depending on the location of the property projects on
project based.

The Sales Centre Support Services Framework Agreement will take
effect on 1 January 2022 until 31 December 2024 (both dates
inclusive).

The service fees shall be determined principally by arm’s length
commercial negotiations after taking into account factors including
the numbers and locations of the projects, the operational costs
(including labour costs, material costs, management costs and the
mark-up rate, if applicable) with reference to the comparable market
price for similar services and similar type of projects of Dongguan
Property Management in the market from three independent third
party service providers.
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The above term of the Sales Centre Support Services Framework
Agreement has been incorporated to ensure that the pricing terms
are fair and reasonable, on normal commercial terms, and shall be
no less favourable than those offered by the independent third
parties.

The annual cap of the service fees under the Sales Centre Support
Services Framework Agreement for the period ending 31 December
2023 shall not exceed RMB24.3 million. The service fees are expected
to be satisfied by internal resources of the Group.

The above annual caps have been determined by reference to,
among others, the following factors:

(M the historical transaction amount incurred under the 2021
Sales Centre Support Services Framework Agreement;

(i) the sales centres of existing projects and new property
development projects in the forthcoming year from 2022 to
2024 with reference to size, geographical locations, facilities
and human resources allocation of the relevant display units,
sales offices and clubhouses;

(i) the comparable market price by independent third parties on
normal commercial terms for providing similar services; and

(iv)  other factors such as the experience of Dongguan Property
Management in provision of sales centre support services and
the demand of the Company in improving efficiency of
marketing operation.
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(4)

Construction Consultation and Inspection Services
Framework Agreement with Dongguan Property
Management

On 17 December 2021, the Company entered into The Construction
Consultation and Inspection Services Framework Agreement with
Dongguan Property Management in relation to the Construction
Consultation and Inspection Services agreed to be provided by
Dongguan Property Management to the Group include but not
limited to the provision of consultation services at the early
construction stage and inspection services before delivery for the
property projects of the Group.

The Construction Consultation and Inspection Services Framework
Agreement shall take effect from 1 January 2022 and continue until
31 December 2024 (both dates inclusive).

The service fees shall be determined principally by arm’s length
commercial negotiations after taking into account factors including
the numbers and locations of the projects, the operational costs
(including labour costs, material costs, management costs and the
mark-up rate, if applicable) with reference to the comparable market
price for similar services and similar type of projects of Dongguan
Property Management in the market from three independent third
party service providers.

The above term of the Construction Consultation and Inspection
Services Framework Agreement has been incorporated to ensure
that the pricing terms are fair and reasonable, on normal commercial
terms, and shall be no less favourable than those offered by the
independent third parties.

The annual cap of the service fees under the Construction
Consultation and Inspection Services Framework Agreement for the
period ending 31 December 2023 shall not exceed RMB3.9 million.
The service fees are expected to be satisfied by internal resources of
the Group.
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The above annual caps have been determined by reference to,

among others, the following factors:

U]

(if)

(iif)

the historical transaction amount incurred between the Group
and Dongguan Property Management for construction
consultation and inspection services;

the estimated demand of the Company for construction
consultation and inspection services for the coming year from
2022 to 2024;

the comparable market price by independent third parties on
normal commercial terms for providing similar services; and

other factors such as the experience of Dongguan Property
Management in provision of construction consultation and
inspection services.

As each of the Dongguan Property Management Agreements

("Dongguan Property Management Agreements”) was entered into
between the Company and Dongguan Property Management, the
Company has aggregated the annual caps of the transactions
contemplated under the aforesaid agreements under Rule 14A.82 of

the Listing Rules. As a result of aggregation, the aggregate value of

the proposed annual caps for the aforesaid agreements for each of
the year ending 31 December 2023, amounts to RMB52.9 million,
respectively.
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(5)

Commercial Operational and Value-added Services
Framework Agreement with Dongguan Huisheng
Commercial Management Co., Ltd. (“Dongguan
Huisheng”)

On 17 December 2021, the Company entered into the Commercial
Operational and Value-added Services Framework Agreement in
relation to Dongguan Huisheng is commissioned to provide the
commercial operational services and value-added services for various
investment properties in connection with the management projects
of (i) Huijing City in Houjie in Dongguan, the PRC; (i) Huijing City in
Zhangmutou in Dongguan, the PRC; and (iii) Huijing City in Hefei,
the PRC (the "Three Huijing City”) which are held by the Group.
Pursuant to the Commercial Operational and Value-added Services
Framework Agreement, the services agreed to be provided by
Dongguan Huisheng to the Group include but not limited to the (i)
commercial operational services such as shopping mall operational
management, promotion and marketing, security and logistics and
maintaining good relationships with tenants and customers; and (ii)
value-added services, such as market positioning of potential
customers and tenants, selection of style of decoration and layout or
the Three Huijing City. Dongguan Huisheng is beneficially owned by
Mr Lun Ruixiang, and is therefore an associate of Mr Lun Ruixiang
and a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The Commercial Operational and Value-added Services Framework
Agreement shall take effect from 1 January 2022 and continue until
31 December 2024 (both dates inclusive).

The service fees shall be determined principally by arm’s length
commercial negotiations after taking into account factors including
conditions of the “Three Huijing City”, the operational costs (including
labour costs, material costs, management costs and the mark-up
rate, if applicable) with reference to the comparable market price for
providing similar services of Dongguan Huisheng in the market from
three independent third party service providers.

The above term of the Commercial Operational and Value-added
Services Framework Agreement has been designed to ensure that
the pricing terms are fair and reasonable, on normal commercial
terms, and shall be no less favourable than those offered by the
independent third parties.
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(6)

The annual cap of the service fees under the Commercial
Operational and Value-added Services Framework Agreement for
the period ending 31 December 2023 shall not exceed RMB28.8
million. The service fees are expected to be satisfied by internal
resources of the Group.

The above annual caps have been determined by reference to,
among others, the following factors:

(i) the historical transaction amount incurred under the 2021
Commercial Operational and Value-added Services Framework
Agreement;

(i) the estimated demand of the Company for commercial
operational services and commercial value-added services for
the forthcoming year from 2022 to 2024;

(i) the comparable market price by independent third parties on
normal commercial terms for providing similar services; and

(iv)  other factors such as the experience of Dongguan Huisheng
in commercial operational and value-added services.

Framework Decoration Services Agreement with
Guangdong Huifeng Eco-technology Limited
(“Guangdong Huifeng”) for the provision of interior
decoration services

On 17 December 2021, the Company entered into a framework
interior decoration services agreement with Guangdong Huifeng to
govern the terms and conditions of the transactions between the
Group and Guangdong Huifeng in connection with the provision of
interior decoration services to the Group (the “Framework Decoration
Services Agreement”). Pursuant to the Framework Decoration
Services Agreement, where Guangdong Huifeng shall be selected
following the relevant selection process, Guangdong Huifeng shall
provide interior decoration services to the Group according to the
definitive building decoration services agreement to be signed by
the Group with Guangdong Huifeng from time to time. Guangdong
Huifeng is beneficially owned by Mr Lun Ruixiang, and is therefore
an associate of Mr Lun Ruixiang and a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules.
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The Framework Decoration Services Agreement shall take effect
from 1 January 2022 and continue until 31 December 2024 (both
dates inclusive).

The service fees shall be determined principally by arm’s length
commercial negotiations after taking into account factors including
the numbers and locations of the projects, the operational costs
(including labour costs, material costs, management costs and the
mark-up rate, if applicable) with reference to the comparable market
price for providing similar services of Guangdong Huifeng in the
market from three independent third party service providers.

The above term of the Framework Decoration Services Agreement
has been designed to ensure that the pricing terms are fair and
reasonable, on normal commercial terms, and shall be no less
favourable than those offered by the independent third parties.

The annual cap of the service fees under the Framework Decoration
Services Framework Agreement for the period ending 31 December
2023 shall not exceed RMB80 million. The service fees are expected
to be satisfied by internal resources of the Group.

The above annual caps have been determined by reference to,
among others, the following factors:

(i) the historical transaction amount incurred under the 2019-
2021 Framework Decoration Services Agreement;

(i) the estimated demand of the Group for the relevant interior
decoration services, projected with reference to the aggregate
GFA under development for our existing property projects in
forthcoming year from 2022 to 2024, respectively;

(i) the comparable market price by independent third parties on
normal commercial terms for providing similar services; and

(iv)  other factors such as the experience of Guangdong Huifeng in
interior decoration services and the diversity of our supplier
base in connection with the interior decoration services.
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As the highest applicable percentage ratio under Rule 14A.78 of the
Listing Rule in respect of the proposed annual cap under (1) the
Dongguan Property Management Agreements, (2) the Commercial
Operational and Value-added Services Framework Agreement, and
(3) the Decoration Services Framework Agreement exceeds 0.1%,
but is less than 5.0%, such transactions contemplated under each of
the Agreements are therefore subject to the reporting,
announcement and annual review requirements, but are exempt
from the independent Shareholders’ approval requirement under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Mr Lun Ruixiang has abstained from voting on the relevant board
resolutions of the Board in relation to the Agreements in accordance
with the articles of association of the Company. Other than Mr Lun
Ruixiang, none of the other Directors is required to abstain from
voting on the relevant board resolutions of the Board in relation to
the Agreements.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Dongguan Property Management Agreements, the Commercial
Operational and Value-added Services Framework Agreement, and
the Framework Decoration Services Agreement, and confirmed that
each of the continuing connected transactions has been entered
into:

(@) in the ordinary and usual course of the business of the
Company;

(b)  on normal commercial terms or better to the Group; and
() in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the
above continuing connected transactions, the terms of which

are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders
as a whole.
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Prism, the Company's auditor, was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions above in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Prism has issued an unqualified letter containing its
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other non-exempt connected
and continuing connected transactions, arrangement or contracts of
significance to which the Company, its holding company or
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a material
interest or interest in competing business, whether directly or
indirectly, nor contracts of significance between the Company or its
subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder or its subsidiaries,
subsisted at the end of the Year.

Certain significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the Year, which do not constitute connected or continuing
connected transactions under the Listing Rules are disclosed in note 43 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, the Directors or other
officers of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets and profits of the Company against all losses or damages which they
may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or
omitted in or about the execution of their duty in their respective offices.
The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed
securities of the Company.

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as of 31
December 2023 are set out in notes 29 and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

A summary of the results and the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 5 of
this annual report.

Particulars of the projects and land parcels of the Group are shown on
pages 12 to 17 of this annual report.

The Directors and senior management of the Company receive
compensation in the form of fees, salaries, contributions to pension
schemes, discretionary bonuses, housing and other allowances and other
benefits in kind. The Company also reimburses Directors and senior
management for expenses which are necessarily and reasonably incurred
for providing services to the Company or discharging their duties in
relation to the operations of the Company.

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up by the
Human Resources Department and the employees’ emoluments are
determined on the basis of their qualifications, experiences and area of
expertises.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Company
are reviewed and recommended by the remuneration committee of the
Company and decided by the Board, having regard to the Company’s
performance and the remuneration benchmark in the industry.
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The Group has adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme for the Directors and the employees of the
Group, details of which are disclosed in section headed “Share Option
Schemes”.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements set out in this annual report.

As at the date of this report, breaches of the following loan agreements
have given rise to a disclosure obligation pursuant to Rules 13.19 and 13.21
of the Listing Rules:

A civil proceeding was filed by a trust company (the “Trust Company A”")
against certain subsidiaries of the Company in respect of a past-due trust
loan. The Trust Company A demanded (i) the relevant subsidiaries to repay
the outstanding principal of trust loan together with accrued interests
amounting to approximately RMB300 million (calculated up to 25 June
2023); and (i) the Trust Company A shall have the priority in compensation
over the proceeds from the auction or sale of certain assets or equity
interests pledged by the relevant subsidiaries for the trust loan.

A civil legal proceeding has been filed to the Middle Civil Court of
Dongguan, Guangdong* (BB & R ZEm 1 A REBRT) (the “Court”)
against certain subsidiaries of the Company. The legal proceeding was filed
by a trust company (the “Trust Company A”") regarding a subsidiary of the
Company failed to repay a fixed-income financial product in connection
with a subsidiary of the Company (the “Financial Product”) issued by the
Trust Company A. The outstanding principal of the Financial Product
together with accrued interests amounting to approximately RMB156
million as at 26 December 2023. The chairman and non-executive director
of the Company, Mr Lun Ruixiang and his spouse are guarantors (the
"Guarantors”) to the Financial Product. The Trust Company A has applied
for and the Court has granted a freezing order on certain assets owned by
the Group and the Guarantors, including certain retail shops and car
parking spaces.
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A civil proceeding was filed to the Shanghai Financial Court* (8 & &%
BT ) by a creditor of the Company (the “Creditor”) against certain
subsidiaries of the Company, Mr Lun Ruixiang, the chairman and non-
executive director of the Company, and his spouse, in respect of a past-due
entrust loan made by the Bank of Dongguan on behalf of the Creditor. The
Creditor requested (i) the relevant subsidiaries to repay the outstanding
principal of the entrust loan together with accrued interests and penalties
and related expenses amounting to approximately RMB530 million
(calculated up to 8 December 2023); and (ii) the Creditor shall have the
priority in compensation over the proceeds from the auction or sale of
certain assets or equity interests pledged by the relevant subsidiaries for
the entrust loan.

An enforcement case (the “Case”) was submitted to the Court against
certain subsidiaries of the Company relating to a past-due pledged loan
lent by a trust company (the “Trust Company B") with a principal amount of
RMB150 million, requiring the relevant subsidiaries of the Company to
repay the Trust Company B the outstanding principal of the trust loan and
interests amounting to approximately RMB154.5 million.

A civil proceeding was filed by an asset management company (the "AM
Company”) due to the breach of loan repayment by certain subsidiaries of
the Company. The AM Company demanded (i) the relevant subsidiaries to
repay the outstanding principal of the loan together with accrued interests
amounting to approximately RMB394.0 million; and (ii) the AM Company
shall have the priority in compensation over the proceeds from the auction
or sale of certain assets or equity interests pledged by the relevant
subsidiaries for the loan.

As of the date of this report, the Company is in the process of negotiating
with the Creditors, the Trust Company A, the Trust Company B, the Trust
Company C and the AM Company, and complying with the relevant legal
procedures regarding the relevant proceedings or the Case. Please see the
announcements of the Company dated 29 September 2023, 27 December
2023 and 4 March 2024 for details.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other matter subsisting as at the

date of this report which requires disclosure pursuant to Rule 13.21 of the
Listing Rules.
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According to Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong, there must be an open market in
the securities for which listing is sought and for a sufficient public float of
an issuer’s listed securities to be maintained. This normally means that at
least 25.0% of the issuer’s total number of issued shares must at all times be
held by the public. Pursuant to Rule 8.08(1)(d) of the Listing Rules, the Stock
Exchange may, subject to certain conditions and at its discretion, accept a
lower percentage of between 15.0% to 25.0% in the case of issuers with an
expected market capitalization at the time of listing of over HK$10.0 billion.

The Stock Exchange had granted the Company a waiver from strict
compliance with the requirement under Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules
to accept a lower public float percentage subject to the condition that:

(i) the minimum public float shall be the higher of (a) 15.0%; or (b) such
percentage of Shares to be held by the public immediately after the
completion of the global offering (as increased by any Shares to be
issued under any exercise of the Over-allotment Option (as defined
in the Prospectus));

(i) the Company’s market capitalisation at the time of listing is over
HKS$10 billion;

(i)  the Company will make appropriate disclosure of the lower
prescribed percentage of public float in the Prospectus together
with a confirmation of sufficiency of public float in its successive
annual reports after the listing; and

(iv)  there will be an open market in the shares offered in the global
offering, and the number of shares and the extent of their
distribution would enable the market to operate properly.

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the Company has
maintained the sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules.
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The changes in Directors’ information as required to be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules for the reporting period and up to the
date of this annual report are set out below:

On 9 December 2022, Ms Lin Yanna resigned as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of each of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee as
she needed to devote more time on her personal commitments. Please see
the announcement of the Company dated 9 December 2022 for details.

On 25 April 2023, Mr Chen Guilin was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of each of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee.
Please see the announcement of the Company dated 25 April 2023 for
details.

On 6 July 2023, (i) Ms Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna resigned as an independent
non-executive Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee as she
desired to devote more time to other business and personal commitments;
and (i) Mr Hung Wan Shun Stephen resigned as an independent non-
executive Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee due to his other
business commitments. Please see the announcement of the Company
dated 6 July 2023 for details.

On 26 July 2023, (i) Mr Chan Kin Man was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee; and (ii)
Ms Ou Ningxin was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
and a member of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee. Please see the announcement of the
Company dated 26 July 2023 for details.
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The Company is committed to maintain a high level of corporate
governance. Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report as set out on
pages 37 to 57 of this annual report. Save as disclosed in this annual report,
the Board is of the opinion that the Company has complied with all code
provisions set out in the CG Code during the Year.

On 31 July 2023, Ernst & Young resigned as the auditor of the Company
and Prism was appointed by the Directors to fill the casual vacancy so
arising on 7 August 2023. The consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2023 have been audited by Prism whose term of
office will expire upon the conclusion of the 2024 AGM. A resolution to re-
appoint Prism as the independent auditor will be proposed to the
shareholders at the 2024 AGM.

By Order of the Board
Lun Ruixiang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024

¥ For identification purpose only
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To the shareholders of Huijing Holdings Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Huijing
Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 99 to 220, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group. Because of the significance of the matter described in the Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in
our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Material uncertainties relating to going concern

As set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
incurred a net loss of RMB730,350,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023 and as of that date, the Group's current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by RMB3,078,824,000, the interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, senior notes and accrued interests on these payables with the
carrying amounts of RMB4,012,871,000, RMB908,543,000 and
RMB309,228,000 respectively, which will be due for repayment within the
next twelve months from the end of reporting period or repayable on
demand, while its available cash and cash equivalent amounted to
RMB6,009,000. In addition, the Group had defaulted or cross defaulted
certain interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and the senior notes
with accrued interests in aggregate of RMB4,401,048,000 as at 31
December 2023 and remained outstanding as of the date of approval of
the consolidated financial statements. The non-compliance constituted an
event of default, such that the lenders may exercise their rights to serve
notice to demand immediate repayment of all outstanding debts including
interests. Apart of the aforesaid, subsequent to 31 December 2023 and up
to the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements, the Group
did not repay principal and interest in total of approximately
RMB5,193,553,000 for certain interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
and senior notes. These conditions, together with other matters as set out
in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence
of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt about the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern and therefore it may be
unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course
of business.
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Material uncertainties relating to going concern (Continued)

The directors of the Company have taken measures to improve the Group's
liquidity and financial position as set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared by the directors of the Company on a going concern basis, the
validity of which depends on the outcome of these measures, which are
subject to material uncertainties. We are unable to determine whether the
use of the going concern assumption in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is appropriate.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate, adjustments
would have to be made to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively, and to write
down the values of assets to their recoverable amounts and to provide for
any further liabilities which may arise. The consolidated financial
statements do not include any such adjustments. However, material
uncertainties exist in relation to the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in view of the Group’s future cash flow. We consider that
appropriate disclosures have been made in the consolidated financial
statements concerning this situation but we have not obtained sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the Group's ability to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due and we consider the
potential cumulative effect on the consolidated financial statements of this
material uncertainty relating to going concern to be so significant that we
have disclaimed our opinion.
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors of the Company determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor's report, solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. However, because of
the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our
report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lee Kwok Lun.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lee Kwok Lun

Practising Certificate Number: P06294

Hong Kong
28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

BUZ20234F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

2023 F 2022 4
2023 2022
AR® T ARBFT
RMB'000 RMB'000
Wz REVENUE 5 941,219 85,893
& AR Cost of sales (682,803) (78,957)
E7 Gross profit 258,416 6,936
E A R W e Other income and gains 5 7,608 106,188
HERDHRAX Selling and distribution expenses (44,429) (44,347)
THE X Administrative expenses (235,861) (305,120)
wEYERNTFEES Fair value losses on investment properties 14 (70,717) (245,854)
B 5 K E b EBARFURE Impairment of trade and other receivables (45,683) (44,351)
Mo & = A B IR)FE Write-down of inventories to
net realisable value (48,507) (1,857,898)
HEMAx Other expenses (292,812) (217,564)
B EREREMNGTE Remeasurement of financial guarantee
contracts 1,164 (8,755)
BA TSR Finance costs 6 (178,409) (199,097)
NhEERERNREE Share of profits and losses of joint ventures (14,446) 4392
DIE—REE D E G T REIE  Share of profit and loss of an associate (1,053) (587)
MRBLATE R LOSS BEFORE TAX 7 (664,729) (2,806,057)
FriS Bl = Income tax expense 10 (65,621) (27,339)
FRER LOSS FOR THE YEAR (730,350) (2,833,896)
AT FES - Attributable to:
AR A A Owners of the parent (696,720) (2,452,694)
JEER S Non-controlling interests (33,630) (381,202)
(730,350) (2,833,896)
BARBEEARGEERER LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE PARENT
EARREE () Basic and diluted (per share) RMB A K # RMB A R #&
12 (0.13) 7t (047)7T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

B2 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022 5
2023 2022
AR®T T ARET T
RMB'000 RMB'000
FABE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (730,350) (2,833,896)
HieHgteanmsizBaRe Other comprehensive income that
EMEmEA - will not be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods:
BMEXRRBRBRERIIELETE Exchange differences on
translation of financial
statements of the Company 11,444 39,804
HizHfngEfsEEzBmke Other comprehensive loss that
HEh2mEE - may be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods:
BENBRARMBEHRE CIER =58 Exchange differences on
translation of financial
statements of the subsidiaries (38,149) (72,416)
FREMPHEEE Other comprehensive loss for the year (26,705) (32,612)
FRAZHEEERBE TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEAR (757,055) (2,866,508)
PR Attributable to:
SARHEA A Owners of the parent (723,425) (2,485,306)
3'5? % 4 7 Non-controlling interests (33,630) (381,202)

(757,055) (2,866,508)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSFHON

20234 12 A31 H Asat 31 December 2023

2023
2023

AR®T R
RMB'000

2022 5
2022
ARBFT
RMB'000

FREBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Wz - BE RE&E Property, plant and equipment 13 64,824 67,236
FREEE Right-of-use assets 15(a) 23,112 28,440
wEWE Investment properties 14 1,394,500 1,596,000
mEEE Intangible assets 16 3,880 5,097
REBRENRE Investments in joint ventures 17 216,955 276,352
R—REELENEE Investment in an associate 18 7,295 1,648
FERMBE U E SR i Land held for development for sale 19 1,808,138 1,442,722
EEFRTBE E Deferred tax assets 32 165,800 168,839
FIRBEELE TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 3,684,504 3,586,334
REEE CURRENT ASSETS
FERMBE A ERN i Land held for development for sale 19 513,011 381,000
e Properties under development 20 3,132,198 3,622,833
BERERNE % TS Completed properties held for sale 21 935,667 1,262,412
E 5 REBRN Trade receivables 22 9,669 20,930
FENFIE - EhEURGRIB R E M Prepayments, other receivables and
éff‘»—z other assets 23 1,594,550 2,780,418

FEML A B 1 E R Receivables from joint ventures 17 373,897 378,604
BEAFEET AR ﬁﬁZ@ BEE  Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss 24 44,311 99,403
A LR ER Prepaid land appreciation tax 3,238 3,239
He RIRTTHER Cash and bank balances 25 126,160 78,268
REBEEHLE TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 6,732,701 8,627,107
REEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
B S EERR Trade payables 26 1,290,873 1,342,089
Efb e FIE - BUILZE K EET Other payables, deposits received and

3= accruals 27 1,093,927 814,837

HEBE Lease liabilities 15(b) 5,445 5,162
AEHEE Contract liabilities 28 1,162,247 2,513,734
FFERIT REMER Interest-bearing bank and other

borrowings 29 4,012,871 1,639,070
BERE Senior notes 30 908,543 772,673
TEMESHREE Provision for corporate income tax 674,419 774,357
T Hb I AT B Provision for land appreciation tax 37 663,200 675,357
REEERE TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 9,811,525 8,537,279
RE (BB, EBEEE NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (3,078,824) 89,828
EERERRABAE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT

LIABILITIES 605,680 3,676,162
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

HR20234F 12 A31 H Asat 31 December 2023

2023 F
2023

KtaE ARET T
Notes RMB'000

2022 5
2022
ARBTT
RMB'000

FRBERE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
FTERIT R EAMBER Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings 29 - 2,223,192
HEEE Lease liabilities 15(b) 20,091 25215
EEHIBAE Deferred tax liabilities 32 60,170 109,084
IRBEERAE TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 80,261 2,357,491
EEFE NET ASSETS 525,419 1,318,671
s EQUITY
BAREEAEGER Equity attributable to owners of
the parent
BEITRA Issued capital 33 47,972 47972
G Reserves 35 (35,789) 684,720
12,183 732,692
FEPERR A A Non-controlling interests 513,236 585,979
RSB Total equity 525,419 1,318,671
i B8R EWE
Lun Zhao Ming Lu Peijun
- BFH
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BUZ20234F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

BRIRA

Issued
capital
ARBTR
RMB'000

REEE

Share
premium
ARETT
RMB'000

RRERE
Share
option
reserve
ARBT T
RMB'000

BOTHA AR

Attributable to owners of the parent

EXRE HARk EnGE RiE8 i OFEREE RRSE
Statutory Non-

Capital Merger surplus  Exchange Accumulated controlling Total

reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity

AR®TR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

RaBEIA1A At 1 January 2023 47,972 737,120 81,161 656 499 259,962 (42,376)  (352,302) 732,692 585979 1,318,671
ERER Loss for the year - - - - - - - (696720  (696720)  (33,630)  (730,350)
EREMREFS: Other comprehensive loss for the year:
BEHBRRNELESE  Exchange differences on translation
offinancial statements - - - - - - (26,705) - (26,705) - (26,705)
FNEEBELEE Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - - - (26705 (696720)  (723425)  (33,630)  (757,055)
HEMBERR (W8 Disposalof subsidiares (note 38) - - - - - - - - - (B9 (39,113)
IEREENBERERE  Fquitysettled share option
(W) arrangements (note 34) - - 3,022 - - - - - 3,022 - 3,02
BREXUKERD Transferring share option reserve upon
BRRREGR the forfeiture or expiring of share
options - - 2,118) - - - - 2,012 (106) o (106)
RasE1NANA Asat 31 December 2023 47972 737,120 82,065 656" 499 259,962' (69,081)° (1,047,010) 12,183 513,236 525,419
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

B2 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

RanE1A1R At 1 January 2022 47972 843471 86,631 656 499 259962 (9.764) 2092237 3,321,664 929711 4251375
FRER Loss for the year - - - - - - - A6 (4S269) (381200 (28338%)
FREMRZEEE Other comprehensive loss for the year:
BEHBRROELZE  Exchange differences on translation
of financial statements - - - - - - (32612 - (32612) - (32612)
FREABEAE Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - - - (32612)  (2452694) (2485306 (381200  (2866,508)
B RER Acquisition of non-controlling interest - - - - - - - - - (22,000) (22,000)
REFERBRRZER Contribution from non-controlling
shareholders - - - - - - - - - 59470 59470
IEREEMBERERE  Equitysettled share option
(Brit34) arrangements (note %4) - - 7266 - - - - - 7266 - 7,66
BREXUIERT Transferring share option
gaRhERE reserve upon the forfeiture or
expiring of share options (12736) 8,155 (4581) - (4581)
BER0NFREBMRE  Final 2021 dividend declared - (106350) - - - - - - (10635) - (106351)
R00E12A318 Asat 31 December 2022 47972 737,120 81,161 656" 499 259962 (42376 (352,302 732692 585979 1318671

* ZERBRVERGEAVUBRARAAEAR
35,789,000 7T (20224 : A R % 684,720,000
TSR AR MBaRa i -

104

*

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of negative
amount of RMB35,789,000 (2022: positive amount of RMB684,720,000) in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BUZ20234F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

2023
2023

AR®TR
RMB'000

2022 5
2022
ARBFIT
RMB'000

REED OPERATING ACTIVITIES
BT B B 1R Loss before tax (664,729) (2,806,057)
FE Adjustments for;
RITF B U A Bank interest income 5 (248) (24,904)
M—REELEERN Interest income of a loan to a joint

FEWA venture 5 - (15,951)

M BERRETE Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment 7 7,776 7,199
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 7 5,705 7,555
| & EE Amortisation of intangible assets 7 1,056 1,506
EmEEERERS Equity-settled share option expense 7 3,022 7,266

R Wt K Forfeited contributions 7 (106) (4,581)
REMERNTEEERTE Fair value loss on investment properties,

net 14 70,717 245,854
BAFEABIREZESMEE  Fairvalue changes on financial assets at

ZANFEEE) fair value through profit or loss 7 57,615 129,260
HEWME BEMKMBEBIEBR  Gainondisposal of items of property,

g plant and equipment 5 (137) (288)
ERELEEEWE Gain on redemption of senior note 5 = (54,523)
HEWB QR EEFEE Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net 38 33,407 _
HE—XRAEDEREEFE  Lossondisposal of a joint venture, net 63,605 -
DMhEERERMNREE Share of profits and losses of joint

ventures 14,446 (4,392)
DI —REL O RFI MEIE  Share of profit and loss of an associate 18 1,053 587
B 5 & B A JE W AR FURE Impairment of trade and other
receivables 45,683 44,351
WREFE Write-down of inventories 7 48,507 1,857,898
VB ERERAENTE Remeasurement of financial guarantee
contracts (1,164) 8,755
B TSR A Finance costs 6 178,409 199,097
(135,383) (401,368)
FERZE A E S/ HIE I Increase of land held for development for
sale (73,951) (772,063)
ey ZE M Increase in properties under development (434,464) (974,870)
BEHENE R TYE Decrease/(increase) in completed
(1) properties held for sale 711,307 (441,933)
2 RBRFUR D Decrease in trade receivables 9,665 15,925
TERTFRIE ~ HAth fEUGRIE 2 Decrease in prepayments, other receivables
H & ERD and other assets 184,818 550,773
B HERBEZE N Crd) Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 333,489 (335,987)
EHaERD Decrease in contract liabilities (815,260) (167,222)
HinfeT31E - BRIES R Increase in other payables, deposits
FERTE AE N received and accruals 257,300 168,161
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

B2 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022 4
2023 2022
AR® T ARBTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
reEmB/ (A R: Cash generated from/(used in)
operations 37,521 (2,358,584)
B U F 8 Interest received 248 24,904
EAPBIEMSH PRC corporate income tax paid (22,679) (1,178)
AT A I (E R PRC land appreciation tax paid (2,360) (12,187)
REFTHHREB(FFRARE NET CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN)
REFE OPERATING ACTIVITIES 12,730 (2,347,045)
REED INVESTING ACTIVITIES
REGELENGEEH Settlement from joint ventures = 1,150
BTERELEZER Advance to joint ventures (489) 6,812)
BEWE BERZXHEIERB Purchases of items of property, plant and
equipment 13 (848) (6,669)
NEEVEE Additions of intangible assets 16 = (282)
REREME Additions of investment properties 14 (7,423) -
HEZEATFEFABEZ Disposal of financial assets at fair value
TREE through profit or loss = 19,423
I g B 8 A A Acquisitions of subsidiaries 37 1,403 -
& B R A Disposal of subsidiaries 38 (2,567) -
HEYE - JFBU;E% MBEEBA  Proceeds from disposal of items of
FriS 308 property, plant and equipment 574 405
SREIRE (8m), 8 (Increase)/decrease in restricted cash (69,152) 1,167,131
HER—REELENRE Disposal of investment in a joint venture 50,900 -
RETES (A FERe NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/FROM
REFREHE INVESTING ACTIVITIES (27,602) 1,174,346
BEEE FINANCING ACTIVITY
ERHLE Interest paid (133,952) (448,144)
U B I 2 Hx*& Acquisition of non-controlling interests - (22,000)
FTERTT R E A fE K New bank and other borrowings 249,233 1,821,393
EEIRIT R EAMER Repayment of bank and other borrowings (98,946) (1,555,372)
BRBEBEITHA Issuance costs of senior notes = (17,267)
B OB L EE Redemption of senior notes = (149,560)
R B FEEAR AR R 2 iR Contribution from non-controlling
shareholders - 59,470
HENFO RS D Principal portion of lease payments 39(c) (6,717) (7,540)
MEFTBHRE(FFRA)RE NET CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN)
MEFH FINANCING ACTIVITIES 9,618 (319,020)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BUZ20234F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

2023 F 2022 5
2023 2022

it AR®TR ARETTT
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000

ReRRSSEYRLBE NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS (5,254) (1,491,719)
FNERERESEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE

BEGINNING OF YEAR 27,269 1,484,290
R EF Effect of foreign exchange rate changes,

net (16,006) 34,698
FERBRERBRLEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT

END OF YEAR 6,009 27,269

ReRBeESEYESRIW ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS
B RIRTTEH Cash and bank balances 25 126,160 78,268
B ZBRHIE S Less: Restricted cash (120,151) (50,999)
RERESRERMMA Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the
HeMRLEEY consolidated statement of cash flows 6,009 27,269
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B2 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

108

SERBERAR(TARED) R—FKR
20191 HORREBERSHE A RE (8
NE)VEREFSEMKINER RS
RAR - RABIBsE MM BRI R
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands °
RARFRBEBEZL XM N BB
BB 23FRER R 191E 1907 E ©

AABBMDR2020F 1 B 16 BEER B
ABRBEAERAR ([BAT]) ER T -

ARRBREEBRRAR - FR - AR
RN ﬂIxﬁéEPiEJ\EA%D!(FEP
BDRENEHAERKE - ARAES
(EFDRB ARAHNRKRMERE
BrRRERZERBERAR (E&] -
REBRIFSEMAKIL) - MARE
EERBRRASmERFELE ((RIRFELEED
CEBRER) ROz L (TBREt]
mintf R EREE) CERERTERAR
nAE) (s ERARR]) -

Huijing Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) is an exempted
company with limited liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
9 January 2019 under the Companies Law, Cap 22 of the Cayman
Islands. The registered office address of the Company is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong is located at Office No. 1907, 19th Floor, Great Eagle
Centre, No. 23 Harbour Road, Hong Kong.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 16
January 2020.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year,
the Company's subsidiaries were principally engaged in property
development and investment in the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC"). In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
"Directors”), the ultimate and immediate holding company of the
Company is Wui Ying Holdings Limited (“Wui Ying”, which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands) and the controlling
shareholders of the Company are Mr Lun Ruixiang (“Mr Lun
Ruixiang”, through Wui Ying) and Ms Chan Hau Wan (“Ms Chan”,
spouse of Mr Lun Ruixiang and through Wui Shing Holdings Limited)
(collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BUZ20234F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

1. REIREEER »#)

ERHERRNER

ARANEEHBRAWFERBLT

BEERERAT
Hai Feng Holdings Limited

REmERIREFHERE
ARDE

Dongguan Huijing Kailun Bay Property
Development Limited

ESSEERARS
Huijing Group Limited

HEEREMERERRRR
Hengyang Huijing Property Development
Limited

SMESFHEERARLDF
Dongguan Huijing Property Development
Company Limited

REmERRBIEERER
BRAR(REERREE])

Dongguan Huijing East Automobile
Development Limited ("Dongguan
Huijing East Automobile”)

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries

MR
BEREL

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and
place of operations

Hong Kong

FRE A
PRC/Chinese Mainland

FREL/ R E R
PRC/Chinese Mainland

FREL/ R E R
PRC/Chinese Mainland

R EL R E R
PRC/Chinese Mainland

FRE L i
PRC/Chinese Mainland

RETERYBEUERBERAA FE,/ HEAM

Dongguan Jade Peninsula Property
Development Limited

PRC/Chinese Mainland

CRITZER
SMRAEE

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered share

capital

1,000,000 7T
HK$1,000,000

AR 50,000,000 7T
RMB50,000,000

AR #1,500,000,000 7T
RMB1,500,000,000

AR 50505051 7T

RMB50,505,051

AR 1,0000007C
RMB1,000,000

AR H30,000,000 7T

RMB30,000,000

AR 10000007
RMB1,000,000

KRR AL R
BRERD

Percentage of

indirect equity
interest
attributable

to the Company

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%

100%

100%
100%

40.8%""

40.8%""

100%
100%

3R 2023 Annual Report

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

TERH

Principal activities

RERR

Investment holding

VESGE:S

Property development

MEFREAR
REZR

Property development
and investment
holding

ESGE

Property development

ESGES

Property development

ESES

Property development

ESES

Property development
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1.

110

L2EREEEH @)

ERMBARNEER (&)

AREEEXERAA

Hefei Fuhua Properties Limited

RRERIKBENREER
BRAR

Dongyuan Dongjiang River Village Long He
Investment Development Limited

REGREEXREBRAR™
Dongyuan Yayuan Property Investment
Limited

REMEBREHERDAM
Dongguan Haiya Trading Limited

REMEMEHNEERRLDA
Dongguan Humen Wanfang Properties
Limited

REERIKBEXBERAF
Dongyuan Dongjiang River Village
Properties Limited

EEERERRERR A

Hengyang Yanhu Eco-tourism Limited

DMHRER(RZ)ERAR
Songsen Furniture (Dongguan)
Company Limited

SESHEMRAR AR Huijing Holdings Company Limited

1.

(Continued)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

SRR
BEREL

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and
place of operations

FE, R E A
PRC/Chinese Mainland

FE R E
PRC/Chinese Mainland

B E A i
PRC/Chinese Mainland

HE, R E
PRC/Chinese Mainland

FE R E A
PRC/Chinese Mainland

FE R E R
PRC/Chinese Mainland

B, E R
PRC/Chinese Mainland

B/ E A i
PRC/Chinese Mainland

BRTEER/
HEfRAHEE

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/

registered share
capital

AR H 150,000,000 7
RMB150,000,000

AR 50,000,000 7T
RMB50,000,000

AR 30,000,0007T
RMB30,000,000

AR ¥ 500,0007T
RMB500,000
AR 100,000,000 7T

RMB100,000,000

AR 61,250,0007T
RMB61,250,000

AR ¥ 5,000,000 7T
RMBS5,000,000

11,000,000/ 7T
HK$ 11,000,000

AR AL
REBA
Percentage of
indirect equity
interest
attributable

to the Company

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%
98%

98%

92%
92%

100%

100%

100%
100%

TEEH

Principal activities

MERE LR EER

Property development
and investment
holding

EES

Property development

NER%E

Property development

MERE

Property development

EES

Property development

ESGE:S

Property development

EGE

Property development

NER%E

Property development
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BUZ20234F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

1.

PREIREBEER @)

EHENBLRNER (&)

REmRatEXREARLQA"

Dongguan Jiayishi Investment Limited

RRBERIEBRFERERAT
([FTEE])*

Dongyuan Dongjiang River Galleries
Tourism Development Company Ltd.
("Dongjiang River Galleries”)

RERmBEERAR
Dongguan Shangyi Clock Co, Ltd.

REMhBESEABRAF
Dongguan Ruicheng Information
Consulting Co, Ltd.

*

RETBEERELRANERFRAF

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

ML B
BEREL

Place of

incorporation/

establishment and
place of operations

R EL/ R E R
PRC/Chinese Mainland

FRE i
PRC/Chinese Mainland

FRE i
PRC/Chinese Mainland

FE/ R E R
PRC/Chinese Mainland

' RIEPBEZRELRIEEELE - "
e RBPEEREBLATICERRERE - @
M BRI EAREEGEZERRED "

R50ntERT  REBNER B

R RE MEZA
SEMBATF

i EEB/\\I:A—J-

XA HEEX AR EAR
E@ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ$x%ﬁﬁ%*e

ERIHEBEERRETEFEAKEFA
EEIERAEBEEFERBAIND
ARBIMBRAR - EERAR JIHE
MBARZHBRELIREBNIE

BATARII AR

TIE?%&'HIEﬁE’H% :

Dz
Lt

ERITZER/ AQRAELHEE
R A EE BREESL FEXEK
Percentage of
Nominal valueof indirect equity
issued ordinary/ interest
registered share attributable
capital tothe Company Principal activities
AR 50,000,000 7 100%  ¥ERE
RMB50,000,000 100%  Property development
AR 29679950 7T 100% MERE
RMB29,679,950 100%  Property development
27,000,000 7T 100% FMEEES
HK$27,000,000 100%  Real estate rental
AR #5,0000007T 100 FEHERE
RIMB5,000,000 100%  Real estate rental

Registered as domestic limited liability companies under PRC law.
Registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law.
Registered as a sino-foreign equity entity under PRC law.

This company is accounted for as subsidiary of the Group because the
Group owns more than half of the voting rights even though the
equity interests in this entity attributable to the Group are less than
50%.

The English names of these companies represent the best effort made
by management of the Company to directly translate their Chinese
names as they did not register any official English name.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of the other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the

directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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AEBEE203F12A3BIEFEE
& EEF A A R 7303500007 0 B2
ZBH AFEENRSHAGEBHERD
B E ANR3,0788240007C 0 5 BERTT
MEAMER BEEAEERZEEMNFE
MESMEEEAE I AARE
4,012,871,0007C * A IR #5 908,543,000 7T
A R #309,2280007T @ I #8345 Hi K
BEFARR @B AR HIE RS IR Bk
EEg MAUHARELBESSEDA
A R #6,009,0007T © kAN + 722023 4F 12
A31 R AEEA T ERITREME
HARBAZEEREFFEEHORR
X E #) 4 5 AR ¥ 4,401,0480007T © B
WA M REAIEB D AREE -
ENTABRENEH  ARERAT
AT R B B anm s - EkBE
EBRREMNBEANMEREER - KL
wESN R2023FENANHENESR
SRAMBHRIERE  REFELKE
EATHEBRITREMERIAREBLE
BERNASEANBAEXHODARE
5,193,553,0007C ' i EEHRIFERKBPRF
FEEATHEEN A8 ANEENE

BREENELBARM -

ERLAER  EEEEFRERAKE
B W& Mz BED DR+ )\ (E A B
RERERR  XFRDERE T EHLHF
BREECNELERRENFIER - Bk
RESRBIEE N R E NS BT

M AEBE D HIE A TEBIAEE -

@ AEBE-—EBEFINZEXRLZXEY
XEBER NAREBEHEMNREZYE

RERTYRHENEE

The Group incurred a net loss of RMB730,350,000 for the year ended
31 December 2023 and as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by RMB3,078,824,000, the interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, senior notes and accrued
interests on these payables with the carrying amounts of
RMB4,012,871,000, RMB908,543,000 and RMB309,228,000
respectively, which will be due for repayment within the next twelve
months from the end of reporting period or repayable on demand,
while its available cash and cash equivalent amounted to
RMB6,009,000. In addition, the Group had defaulted or cross
defaulted certain interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and
the senior notes with accrued interests in aggregate of
RMB4,401,048,000 as at 31 December 2023 and remained
outstanding as of the date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements. The non-compliance constituted an event of default,
such that the lenders may exercise their rights to serve notice to
demand immediate repayment of all outstanding debts including
interests. Apart of the aforesaid, subsequent to 31 December 2023
and up to the date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not repay principal and interest in total of
approximately RMB5,193,553,000 for certain interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings and senior notes. These events and conditions
indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

In light of the above, the Directors have carefully considered the
Group's expected cash flow projections not less than 18 months
from the date of reporting period and have given due consideration
to the matters that give rise to material doubt as to its ability to
continue as a going concern. The following plans and measures are
formulated to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve the
financial position of the Group:

(@)  the Group has been focusing on the completion and delivery
of its property projects as well as the implementation of
measures to accelerate the sale of properties under
development and completed properties;

112 ESZEREBRZAE  Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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b)) AEB-—BHEEBRASERNAENLE
BYRIAXREARAIH B
SHEEBHARRAEETYE
BHRER UWEEBINBRSAA
R/ SORER MM o peoh - K&
B 2 B B AR B 15 5 M AR RR T
VENEARX RERBDER
SEEREAAMEHRRER
54

© AEBILBEGHERREERAD
EBEAEEE TERE MU
EITERE - ASECRELERY
BHRBETERMEHS KA
EERMBREREE -

EXCEHHEEEREASEE RS
HREF DR 18 @A RENBESRE
B WERR - BEE LA R
M AEERERSLELRETRE
SYRBITERALERINPOUMBEE
F-Eit BEERA ERELEER
IREZFGAVHHRRIIEEE -

BEWL  AKERELTER LAFER
HRIDFEEANEEE - AREREE
EERFELEERIORNANEEEBAT
TRELEFREMEMEERS MG

(@ AU REFHERMRAEYE
HE - AREBINRERYER
BERTYEHEENTER &

b REETERRDEERLHE
TTHRE -

(b)  the Group has been consolidating resources to optimise its
operations and reducing expenses and capital expenditures,
including to look for partners to jointly develop certain
property development projects to generate additional cash
inflows and/or reduce cash outflows. In addition, the Group
has implemented cost control measures and eliminated
unnecessary capital expenditures to preserve liquidity for on-
going development of its existing property development
projects; and

(c)  the Group is actively in discussion with its existing lenders to
renew and/or refinance the Group's certain borrowings. The
Group has engaged in constructive dialogue with prospective
financiers to explore possible refinancing options.

The Directors have reviewed the cash flow projections of the Group
prepared by the management covering a period of not less than 18
months from the end of the reporting period, they are of the opinion
that, taking into account the above plans and measures, the Group
will be able to adequately fund its operations and meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due in the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, the Directors consider that the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis is
appropriate.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to
whether the Group is able to achieve its plans and measures as
described above. Whether the Group will be able to continue as a
going concern would depend upon the Group's ability to generate
adequate financing and operating cash flows through the following:

(@)  the successful and timely completion and delivery of its
property projects as well as the implementation of measures
to accelerate the sale of properties under development and
completed properties; and

(b)  the successful renewal and/or refinancing of its certain
borrowings.
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HASKBEREER Lt st 81 FE i
AR BERERLE  WAED
B URBEEEBEMREETKE 2
B EmRRELENE - T RERFD
Be XYHKIFRBEENFRDAED
NEFDBERRBEENRBAMR &
EBREABNZERNANGEAWBEER
P B Bk o

l

N

ZEMBHRRDBBEELEGFANAE
(IFE ST AE]) B EEMB R
A ((HBMBHREER] - BIEM
BEEAMBHRELER BE S ER
(IBBEFTER) k2B REEAR
EPIREEE R RS - ZEMBHRETD
RIBESLRALRE - QA PERE
ZHREMENRE A FEFAREZ SR
BERIN - ZFHBREIAARE (TA
R&DIR  BBR=HERIN ER
BEUNEERRIZ TR (ARET
JT) °

mEH%E
HRAEPMBREREEARRRENBAR
(I AE®E]) HZE2023%F12A831H
IEFEZHEHRER - HBRAREARAT
EESHEZSINEE (RELELE
) EALEBRASHIEEHZMIE
R g mAE T R AKRREESE
AR #EER - BAENERHEEHSR
WiED (RIS AEBERI AR I EZER
EHSMBEBISNREGEN) FEZ
&[0 RAF - BIEVSIE HIRE -

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the value of
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets as
current assets and non-current liabilities as current liabilities. The
effects of these potential adjustments have not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (the “HKFRSs") (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA”") and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for investment properties and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss which have been measured at fair
value. These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (‘RMB")
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB'000) except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023. A subsidiary
is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e, existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

TESIZERREBRAE]  Huijing Holdings Company Limited



NN

AR e I R M A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BUZ20234F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

REEE(E)

—RmE AEZHERERNAHRER
BBt - ERARAHEAELINREY
RARZHOREREURERN - EFEE
ERHNEHREERNK  A5EE

ZRMEEBEENER 8%

(@ BEREHREMER
BRIRHE

BREEN

b) HMANLHELNERN: &

(] AEEMEERERETIEERE

Bt A BB B Rk Th iR B R A B A A &Y
HREHHE CA-BNEHEREH -
MEBARNEERASERGEHEY
B adiE  WEBRFESIREZ
ERFIERIEZRRILE -

BakEME2ERAZSEXS S FEBER
REBERRAHA ARIEERERAR
B AME RSB EFERE S AR
BEat - BEAEEXERFIRRSEH
W%E%EW@EWW%F&E& &
wmo A AT RBEREHANEGEE
BRI 2 BUKEH -

WEE RIERBER AT A = 1812
I?E*E&yﬁﬁﬁ“ﬁ rEEE
EFTHERTEHREER -HBA
7%%%%?\%@«1%%%%%%)
RS HAE -

MARERE—RMNBER 7%%%%
A|HEEUERAREEE (BIEFE) -

f& - Eﬁ#%h@‘&[%&@ﬁﬁ
RRBEBRIIRETMEENATE
RAAE L EEDRGREAL - RATR
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Eﬁmﬁﬁlaaﬁﬁ%mﬁéﬁtﬁ
ERR—HESEFHBEEBENREE
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Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control described above. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.
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REBERNAFEFBHRERE XRAT The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for
& A

FFETR] RAEMERT B AV B mEER - the first time for the current year's financial statements:
EBHBRERAE R REAH HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

EEEHENEVRE  SHRRE
BENKRSENER
EEPEACTEY

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

HoERESEEY Eit At IER
(BE%)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

BREEMNE R  HE-RGELNEER
(BE%) RERBHELHE

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12

BRSHENE R FEHENE - SH-U% Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar

(BFTAR) i Two Model Rules
HRARANEBRFNE REIBE] B AT B The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs that are
WMEEANEERFZENT - applicable to the Group are described below:

BEGFENE1ROE DTZ’SK* @  Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose their
ERFERAEEASITHEREE material accounting policy information rather than their
MTEEEZSHEEK -WRK significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information
IR ERGEREERYKHREP

BENHEMES —HLEE  AII
SEMWEATETERAN TR
i‘%ﬁﬁfﬁ)ﬂ%*ﬁﬂ%Lﬁbﬁﬁﬁx¥fii§fﬁﬁ
HERE - PR gt R B B3t
EEEM ﬂ(%@ﬁﬂ‘%iﬁ%ﬁgﬂw

is material if, when considered together with other information
included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements provide non-

BB ER 2WELEAHEE
RIRMAEERMESEARS
BRI EETE MR T IFR B IES -
REEEET B HRR M E25% H
BTEARGHHEREE - &RIEF
HAREEMERER T TEHIE' B &
e BRIENWREEMTE -

mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of
materiality to accounting policy disclosures. The Group has
disclosed the material accounting policy information in note
2.5 to the financial statements. The amendments did not have
any impact on the measurement, recognition or presentation
of any items in the Group’s financial statements.

ESIERABR /AT Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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BRGTEAF 8 (BRI X)) BB
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ARBEN) MEERIRRE - R
BT AKRBCKEREEE
MEEREELMERMEERE
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AIE125E M E RS 1 Btk
HIEA P BN KPP I ROER
BETFIARBEEAELERTE

BB GRTERE 125 (BFTA)
BB E — S = OEE RS
ABHMEE R eERLEER
B EAFRERBEZEMN
S ZIDEBARE £ RETRIA
RZEEATRITEERSIAR
BRE NEPUBEHRREMRE
B T RERE R SE A
BHRER  BREXE-SEE
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REEE MRFETHARE
WEEAIRE -

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. Since the Group’s approach and policy
align with the amendments, the amendments had no impact
on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow the scope
of the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are required
to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient
taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability for
temporary differences arising from these transactions. Upon
the application of the amendments, the Group has
determined the temporary differences arising from right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities separately to the financial
statements. However, they did not have any material impact
on the overall deferred tax balances presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position as the related
deferred tax balances qualified for offsetting under HKAS 12.

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary exception
from the recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes arising
from the implementation of the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development. The amendments also introduce disclosure
requirements for the affected entities to help users of the
financial statements better understand the entities’ exposure
to Pillar Two income taxes, including the disclosure of current
tax related to Pillar Two income taxes separately in the periods
when Pillar Two legislation is effective and the disclosure of
known or reasonably estimable information of their exposure
to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which the legislation is
enacted or substantively enacted but not yet in effect. Since
the Group did not fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model
rules, the amendments did not have any impact to the Group.
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B R AR EHER] BB M 15 3R
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BRAMBREENE 0% REEZRAPELET

REBECHERZ Y  AELEEMEELE
(BETK) HEE
FEUBRERAZ 6% EADHNEERE
(BFTA)
BBSEHIE 15 BEZBERAERT
(BETK) ([2020 F EZTA)
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BRI KRS RS TR
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BELENENR K
(BETK)

20241 A1 Bk B HEMFER
S

2025 1 A1 Az B REMFER
e

i 2R SE SR I AR AR B H - HE AT AR R AN

YE B 2020 F 8 5T AN & 2022 FAE R AN K
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ARFE B mERERFE

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs, that have
been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.
The Group intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when
they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current (the
2020 Amendments”)"*

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the 2022
Amendments’)"*

Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements’
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments,
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding
wording with no change in conclusion

TESIZERREBRAE]  Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition
of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the
sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss
resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor's interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise
any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it
retains. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by a
right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist at the
end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected
by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion option in
a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an equity instrument
would the terms of a liability not impact its classification. The 2022
Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a liability
arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity
must comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures are
required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively
with early application permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the 2022
Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently assessing the
impact of the amendments and whether existing loan agreements
may require revision. Based on a preliminary assessment, the
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of
such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities,
cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application of the
amendments is permitted. The amendments provide certain
transition reliefs regarding comparative information, quantitative
information as at the beginning of the annual reporting period and
interim disclosures. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether
a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it shall
estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of
information that enable users of financial statements to understand
the impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot
restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate component of
equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it has significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.
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Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The Group's share of
the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of
associates and joint ventures is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the
Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its
associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's investments in the associates or joint ventures, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or
joint ventures is included as part of the Group's investments in
associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other case, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint
venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified as
held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.
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Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group'’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each
of the Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.
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Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
actin their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable
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Fair value measurement (Continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for non-financial asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and investment properties), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in
use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest
group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A
previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

()

or

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

(i)

(ii)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at
fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of each
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the year
in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.

Property under construction or development for future use as an
investment property is classified as investment property under
construction. If the fair value cannot be reliably determined, the
investment property under construction will be measured at cost
until such time when fair value can be determined or construction is
completed.

When the Group completes the construction or development of a
self-constructed investment property, any difference between the
fair value of the property at the completion date and its previous
carrying amount is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
atintervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 20-33.33%
Motor vehicles 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.
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conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach

leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments

and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Office premises Over the lease terms
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the
end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(©

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or
a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of office premises (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).
Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as
operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss
due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount
of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for
as finance leases.

Land held for development for sale

The land held for development for sale represents parcels of land
owned by the Group for the purpose of development of properties
for sale. The land held for development for sale are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. It is transferred to properties
under development upon commencement of the construction work
of the related property development project.
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Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for sale after
completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost,
comprising land costs, construction costs, borrowing costs,
professional fees and other costs incurred directly attributable to
such properties during the development period, and net realisable
value.

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless
the construction period of the relevant property development
project is expected to complete beyond the normal operating cycle.
On completion, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sale.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value.

Cost of completed properties held for sale is determined by an
apportionment of the total costs of land and buildings attributable
to the unsold properties.

Net realisable value is determined by reference to the sale proceeds
of properties sold in the ordinary course of business, less applicable
variable selling expenses, or by management estimates based on the
prevailing market conditions.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets represent computer software, which acquired
separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of
intangible assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value
at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life
are reviewed at least at each financial year end.
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Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Software is stated at cost less any impairment loss and is amortised
on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 5 to 10 years.
The useful life of software is determined mainly with reference to (i)
maintenance expenditure required to obtain the expected future
economic benefits from the software for continuous operations, (ii)
expected usage required from the operations of the Group and the
infrequent change of the software, (iii) product life cycles for the
similar software used in the past, and (iv) the period of control over
the software.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them. With the exception of
trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out
for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI") on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.
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Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group'’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity
investments are also recognised as other income in the statement of
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability
or non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for
as a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are
not closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the same
terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a
derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value
through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit
or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the
terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that
would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset
out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to be
classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit
orloss.
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Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and
borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
lease liabilities, senior notes and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

R 2023 Annual Report 137



e

B MR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B2 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

138

tRMEE &)
BRIEREN

AEBERNBERAQRIZREH
RAEN R AR E B ARER
BEBTANGREEDHHANHK
BEANEH - MBERFREDMBRER
FERRAAE (B ZEREKE
HRRZRAETHE) - RV HER
% AEBRUTMEPORSEE
MHBEREGO: (OVREIEMEERE]
P8R REENEMEERE (FAHE
EERDEE R VTEIANSRR
(M) DR BANR T -

n\ ﬁﬁwbﬁl’r‘ﬂﬁF&ETE

CREE G MER —HeREE
W—HoX—HRREREEN—FD)
FETHNMER T B IERA L4 -1 (B
RAEENGRA M BHRRKPBER)

BEEEWRDRRERENEND
W Bk

AEBCEREEEERDRS
MERER - HAERE—HEDETF]

RHAZEELT EEERERT
EE‘)RT KBRS RES
EHENTE=T: MG ﬁﬁl
EE’“’%FW%&K% % K [@
kb $’§@I$@ﬁi}’“3ﬂ%
BEMBABOERNE®R B
EL‘““%EE’W“%'JTZE” °

EAKECDERAES REERDRSE
MENEMKCIT L —HBTF LR
AEEFEEESERBEEMBENR

RERHERERE - EAKELEE
FAREEERBARI D E R M@
TMEEREE TSI NRERAKR
%@ﬁf/,ﬁifﬁﬂﬁﬁzf‘iﬁﬁwﬁﬁﬁ’“
BE R&ZBAT  AEBET#ER A
MERBE BREENMBERBEDNAR
MRASERBENREENELESE -

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee contracts at
the higher of: (i) the expected credit loss ("ECL") allowance
determined in accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment
of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e, removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates
if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.
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Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
(Continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and
a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
orloss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt instruments
not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from
the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on
a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 90
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial
asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at
each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed,
for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is
recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is
virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in
the statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of each reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.
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Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associate and joint ventures, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associate and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be
entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and the customer at
contract inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15
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Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Sale of properties

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the asset is
transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the contract
and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the asset may be
transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of the asset is
transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

provides benefits which are received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the Group performs; or

does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If control of the asset is transferred over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on the Group's efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of the performance obligation that best depict the
Group's performance in satisfying the performance obligation.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
amount of consideration for the effect of a financing component if it
is significant.

For sales contracts for which the control of the property is transferred
at a point in time, revenue is recognised when the customer obtains
the physical possession and the Group has a present right to
payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.
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Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from other sources
Rental income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis, using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument
of the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).

Contract costs
Costs to fulfil a contract

Other than the costs which are capitalised as properties under
development, property, plant and equipment and intangible assets,
costs incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as
an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@)  The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will
be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance
obligations in the future.

(c)  The costs are expected to be recovered.
The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent

with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which
the asset relate. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.
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Contract costs (Continued)
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been obtained. Incremental
costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised when incurred if the
costs relate to revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered. Incremental
costs of obtaining a contract are charged to the statement of profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the pattern of the
revenue to which the related asset is recognised. Other costs of
obtaining a contract are expensed when incurred.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees
(including directors of the Company) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees render services in exchange for equity instruments
("equity-settled transactions”). The cost of equity-settled transactions
with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the
date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an
external valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are
given in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or
loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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Share-based payments (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification. Where an
equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on
the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the
award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where
non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for
the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on
the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated
as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in
the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in Chinese
Mainland are required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain proportion of their payroll costs to
the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they have been
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB while the
Company’s functional currency is the Hong Kong dollar. In the
opinion of the directors, as the Group’s operations are mainly in
Chinese Mainland, the use of RMB as the presentation currency is
more appropriate for the presentation of the Group's results and
financial position. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange prevailing at
the end of the financial periods. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising
on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in
fair value of the item (i.e, translation difference on the item whose
fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).
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Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of the Company and certain subsidiaries
operating outside Chinese Mainland are currencies other than RMB.
As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements of
profit or loss are translated into RMB at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange reserve,
except to the extent that the differences are attributable to non-
controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of Hong Kong subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of Hong Kong subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into RMB at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.
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The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Classification between investment properties and completed
properties held for sale

The Group develops properties held for sale and properties held to
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Judgement is made by
management in determining whether a property is designated as an
investment property or a completed property held for sale. The
Group considers its intention of holding the properties at the early
development stage of the related properties. During the course of
construction, the related properties under construction are
accounted for as properties under development included in current
assets if the properties are intended for sale after their completion,
whereas, the properties are accounted for as investment properties
under construction included in non-current assets if the properties
are intended to be held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation. Upon completion of the properties, the properties
developed for sale are transferred to completed properties held for
sale and are stated at cost, while the properties developed to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation are transferred to investment
properties and are subject to revaluation at each reporting date.
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Judgements (Continued)
Deferred tax on investment properties

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets arising from investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the directors have reviewed the Group's
investment property portfolio and concluded that the Group's
investment properties are held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than
through sale. Therefore, in determining the Group's deferred tax on
investment properties, the directors have determined that the
presumption set out in HKAS 12 Income Taxes that investment
properties measured using the fair value model are recovered
through sale is rebutted.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, and
the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits
together with future tax planning strategies. The carrying amount of
deferred tax assets at 31 December 2023 was RMB165,800,000 (2022:
RMB168,839,000). Further details are included in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
disclosed below:

Impairment review for properties under development,
completed properties held for sale and land held for
development for sale

Properties under development and completed properties held for
sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The
estimated net realisable value is the estimated selling price less
selling expenses and the estimated cost of completion (if any), which
are estimated based on the best available information. The land held
for development for sale is initially stated at cost less any impairment
losses and is not depreciated.

The Group has engaged an external valuer to perform a valuation of
the Group's properties under development, completed properties
held for sale and land held for development for sale as at the end of
the reporting period to assess if the net realisable values of these
assets are lower than their carrying amounts.

The carrying amounts of properties under development, completed
properties held for sale and land held for development for sale at 31
December 2023 were RMB3,132,198,000 (2022: RMB3,622,833,000),
RMB935,667,000 (2022: RMB1,262,412,000) and RMB2,321,149,000
(2022: RMB1,823,722,000), respectively.

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in the PRC. As certain
matters relating to the income taxes have not yet been confirmed
by the local tax bureau, objective estimates and judgements based
on currently enacted tax laws, regulations and other related policies
are required in determining the provision for income taxes to be
made. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts originally recorded, the differences will impact on the
income tax and tax provisions in the period in which the differences
realise. The carrying amount of corporate income tax payables at 31
December 2023 was RMB674,419,000 (2022: RMB774,357,000).
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Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT")

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for LAT is based
on management's best estimates according to the understanding of
the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are subject to the determination
by the tax authorities upon the completion of the property
development projects. The Group has not finalised its LAT calculation
and payments with the tax authorities for certain of its property
development projects. The final outcome could be different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, and any differences will
impact on the LAT expenses and the related provision in the period
in which the differences realise. The carrying amount of provision for
land appreciation tax at 31 December 2023 was RMB663,200,000
(2022: RMB675,357,000).

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

Investment properties, including completed investment properties
and investment properties under construction, are revalued at the
end of the reporting period based on the appraised market value
provided by independent professional valuers. Such valuations are
based on certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and
might materially differ from the actual results. In making the
estimation, the Group considers information from current prices in
an active market for similar properties and uses assumptions that are
mainly based on market conditions existing at the reporting date.

The principal assumptions for the Group's estimation of the fair value
include those related to estimated rental values with reference to
the current market rents for similar properties in the same location
and condition, appropriate rental growth rates, discount rates, long
term vacancy rates, occupancy rates and capitalisation rates.

The carrying amount of investment properties at 31 December 2023
was RMB1,394,500,000 (2022: RMB1,596,000,000). Further details are
set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

ESIERABR /AT Huijing Holdings Company Limited



NN

A SRR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BUZ20234F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

N A EERE (&)

HE —EEREBERAR
AEEEZESETHENMEZOF
ToRFt - EREEERME ([EERE
RARDFEHERARE - BEEFKF =
SASERBEURERE S SEIUGERRE
REEEEEMRLZEE  MABEK
Ao BLUREEAFTESRINZ
Mo Fit - EERMERRT K&
B [ eSS BRI - A B A R R
B (N BRI IR ERH 2 KB A A
MmE)AEBHMNEETHEARRE
B2 R R Ak B (208 T & 30 Ik DAKY
BRARZWEEEREI L) - AIZAFT
MERMEE - ERBEREARE B
AREBEER R BREABE (M5 HN
R)EEEEBFTMNRLAELETE
BRENGES (WHBRRNEREE
FPAR) ©

AEBEERFE-MEH DYE
BITE AR BT - AR 2T S ¥
& o

ith & & #
HRAEE AN REFABRETER
BH A A T - RN [E 8 90%
IERENE EM A B AN -
BIEENH 2T EER - AL - EEE
REEIMEEHT TS A% SR
KOEAEREEINERER -

EHEFEEFHNEHR

HZE2023F 12831 ILFEE - =
BIEEHRZIRAMEAERE AR
ABI10% 8 A £ (B = 2022%F 12 8318
IEFE - AR¥9,2000007C 5 B £ 8 —
SNBEPEREEEWE) -

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR") to
measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group
would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar
security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR
therefore reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which
requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or
when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of
the lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s
functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required
to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s
stand-alone credit rating).

The Group is principally engaged in one single operating segment,
i.e, the property development and investment business. Accordingly,
no operating segment information is presented.

Geographical information

No geographical information by operating segment is presented as
the Group's revenue from the external customers is derived solely
from its operations in Chinese Mainland and more than 90% of the
non-current assets of the Group are located in Chinese Mainland.
Accordingly, in the opinion of the Directors, the presentation of
geographical information would provide no additional useful
information to the users of these financial statements.

Information about major customers

During year ended 31 December 2023, no revenue from transaction
with a single external customer contributed 10% or more of the
Group's total revenue (During the year ended 31 December 2022:
RMB9,200,000 was derived from sale of properties in the PRC with a
single external customer).
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5. Wrzs - HitUg A R Uk 2S 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
REBHREITAT - An analysis of the Group's revenue is as follows:
2023 F 2022 FF
2023 2022
ARBTR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
Yz Revenue
KB EP &K Revenue from contracts with customers
PR EEE Sale of properties in the PRC 909,200 69,070
2K B A i R A9 25 Revenue from other sources
e W ALz Gross rental income 32,019 16,823
B Total revenue 941,219 85,893
REEFEHNNKE Revenue from contracts with customers
(a) WZERHA (a) Disaggregated revenue information
FERBEFPEANRETEXE— All revenue from contracts with customers are recognised at a
R Bh TR point in time.
TRERNWERAMBERTA The following table shows the amount of revenue recognised
FUEHNEAENKRESEIRAH in the current year that were included in the contract liabilities
MEKMBLOETER at the beginning of the reporting period and recognised from

performance obligations satisfied in present periods:

2023 F 20226
2023 2022
ARBTR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
REYFTAGHNAED Revenue recognised that was
B iR included in contract liabilities

at the beginning of the year:

e icheS Sale of properties 897,063 51,804
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5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers: (Continued)

(b)

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied when the physical
possession or the legal title of the completed property is
obtained by the customer.

The contracted sales amounts allocated to the remaining
performance obligations as at 31 December are as follows:

2022 5
2022
ARBTT
RMB'000

2023 F
2023

AR®T
RMB’000

TEHER A KENSE Amounts expected to be

recognised as revenue:
—FR Within one year 329,558 995916
—Fi& After one year 1,150,212 1,442,024
#Et Total 1,479,770 2,437,940
SEZEHRTERANETHNENHEE The contracted sales amounts allocated to the remaining

THEBHNEENE —FRER
AR APENEESRMF
NET-MABREMOEESRTE
MEETNANHESREHRN —
FAERS/KE LRBENS
BY TBREZRAOATERE -

performance obligations which are expected to be recognised
as revenue after one year relate to the sale of properties, of
which the performance obligations are to be satisfied within
two years. All the other contracted sales amounts allocated to
the remaining performance obligations are expected to be
recognised as revenue within one year. The amounts disclosed
above do not include variable consideration which is
constrained.
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5. U= - Htdr A R Ukes ) 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)
REEFEFEHNNNE (&) Revenue from contracts with customers: (Continued)
REBEAMPARKEHIDTOT An analysis of the Group’s other income and gains is as follows:
2023 F 2022 4F
2023 2022
ARBTr ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
H A R & Other income and gains
EAFERABRZ Dividend income from financial assets at fair value
SREERNRBWA through profit or loss = 3,034
M—REEBDEEFHF]EUW A Interest income of a loan to a joint venture - 15,951
PE R ZRFH Foreign exchange differences, net 1,586 -
IRITH B HA Bank interest income 248 24,902
B IEE Forfeiture of deposits 30 415
HEWE  BEMEKHBEEBER  Gainon disposal of items of property, plant and
& equipment 137 288
BOELER RS Gain on redemption of senior notes = 54,523
Hith Others 5,607 7,075
EAth A R U 25 42 58 Total other income and gains 7,608 106,188
6. ETIERA 6. FINANCE COSTS
RS AT An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
2023 F 20224
2023 2022
ARETr AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
HEAGEHE Interest on lease liabilities 1,552 1,883
R1T R EAb R E Interest on bank and other borrowings 371,147 333,383
BEEEFE Interest on senior notes 115,580 123,986
WHmABHEENF SRS Interest expense arising from revenue contracts 5,008 4717
493,287 463,969
W BARF B Less: Interest capitalised (314,878) (264,872)
et Total 178,409 199,097
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7. BRBAESE 7. LOSS BEFORE TAX
NEFEBMBRBBTERE L& (GEA) % The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after (credit)/charging:
AT BIEEER:
2023 F 2022 F
2023 2022
KfaF ARSTR AREKTE
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
EEMEKAR Cost of properties sold 675,854 65,462
REVE S EWEELR  Direct operating expenses (including
HELERT repairs and maintenance) arising on
(BHEEERREE) rental-earning investment properties 6,949 13,495
W BERERBEITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 13 7,776 7,199
FHEEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15(c) 5,705 7,555
mIEEEE Amortisation of intangible assets’ 16 1,056 1,506
HEWB AR EE* Loss on disposal of subsidiaries* 38 33,407 -
HESERENEE Loss on disposal of a joint venture* 63,605 -
Mo FEZ ] #IHFE Write-down of inventories to net
realisable value:
FERZEUE ST Land held for development for sale 1,245 676,395
EEYE Properties under development 13,298 845,573
BIEHENBRIWE Completed properties held for sale 33,964 335,930
mEt Total 48,507 1,857,898
BRAFEFABREZ Changes in fair value of financial assets at
TREENQFEEE fair value through profit or loss* 57,615 129,260
WEFAGEHESERN Lease payments not included in the
HERK measurement of lease liabilities 15(c) - 396
% HRD BN & Auditor's remuneration 3,700 5,000

BERFIZ (BIEEEZFHE Employee benefit expense (including

(Kiaz8)) : directors’ remuneration (note 8)):
HFE - A RBEWER Salaries, bonuses and benefits in kind 86,941 122,564
BIRE u‘l'gM P Pension scheme contributions* 7,542 9,053
LA PR 7 45 55 1) B AR AR 5 =2 Equity-settled share option expense 3,022 7,266
B SR R Less: Forfeited contributions (106) (4,581)
st Total 97,399 134,302
PE 3 =R 5 E Foreign exchange differences, net (1,586) 10,078
# FFAGRAEERNITTHRAX] - ! Included in “Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement

of profit or loss.

* HAGABFENEMEY ] - * Included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.
# BEDRWERAIHRAER (EARE o There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as

) ARBREIRAEHIKTE - the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.
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BERESITBRABSEHM
FREFERERSTERABHFMNIRE L
W%EEJJ BB R BRMEGIE 383(1)@) ~ (b) *

OMNIERAR (BEESHZER) B
H'J?ﬁz*ﬁ{’ﬁ.ﬂﬁ% °

ZEMBRRNPBHRRTEBNZE
EEZAMFHMEIIMT -

8.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation.

The remuneration of each of these directors as recorded in the
financial statements of the subsidiaries is set out below:

2023 F 2022 4F

2023 2022

AR T ARBEF T

RMB’000 RMB'000

we Fees 1,046 1,169
Ep e - Other emoluments:

e EMNEYET Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 5,885 6,784

[SEEREEAN Discretionary bonuses 300 20

J«XH%E HEERERENS Equity-settled share option expense 1,311 3,227

RIKEFT B Pension scheme contributions 212 230

NEF Subtotal 7,708 10,261

BERMEMEE 25 Total fees and other emoluments 8,754 11,430

RBEFE BETESRERERTER
FERAEEREOREBEARTSE
IR AFBEERBRETS (TR RWE
34) ERERE BREE—PHEBIER
A HREMES - A SERENR
FE(RREEBHENIEERAER) R
L HBETE  BEAFERBHRER AR

CHEEBRBRELNEERESITTHRAE
%MH%W

In prior years, certain directors and the chief executive officer were
granted share options, in respect of their services to the Group,
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (as defined in note 34) of
the Company, further details of which are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements. The fair value of such options,
which has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the
vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the
amount included in the financial statements for the current year is
included in the above directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration
disclosures.
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8. EENRESITHAEE M 8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(a)

BYFHITES (a)

FARBLIERITE SR
g/l N

Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

the year were as follows:

2023 F 2022 5

2023 2022

AR® T ARBT T

RMB’000 RMB'000

HERZT Ms Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna 207 398

ARBEAA Mr Hung Wan Shun Stephen 207 398

PRIRIE £z £+ Ms Lin Yanna = 373

FBRAEMRSL & Mr Chen Guilin 278 -

PR R & Mr Chan Kin Man 177 -

BERLt Ms Ou Ningxin 177 -

1aEt Total 1,046 1,169
Bt - Notes:

(i) RSP £+ 2022 12 A9 B &
IAREIES -

(i) HEBRIREREELEER
2023F7 A6 BRERRAIES -

(i)  PREEMIC AR 2023F4 825 HE
EEARNDNRES -

vy BEREEERBEZZLIRN
2023F7 A6 A EZR T ARRQR]
FEo

FAMBEEMENBLIFATE
E2ME (20226 : &) o

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

Ms Lin Yanna resigned as a director of the Company on 9
December 2022.

Ms Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna and Mr Huang Wan Shun Stephen
resigned as directors of the Company on 6 July 2023.

Mr Chen Guilin was appointed as a director of the Company on
25 April 2023.

Mr Chan Kin Man and Ms Ou Ningxin were appointed as
directors of the Company on 26 July 2023.

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2022: Nil).
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8. EENERETHBAE® M= 8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) BITEE  —BFHTEE (b) Executive directors, a non-executive director

§e- DY
BHR HEH Bifke
BENER MERA BRERX HE 5 A g
Salaries, Equity-
allowances settled Pension

and benefits Discretionary  share option scheme Total

Fees in kind bonuses expense contributions remuneration
ARETR AR¥TRT AR¥TRT AR%Tn ARETR ARET:
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2023 F 2023
HIEE: Executive directors:

fRERELE Mr Lun Zhaomin = 1,057 = 370 55 1,482

EhERE Mr Lu Peijun - 1,357 153 370 51 1,931

BRREE Mr Luo Chengyu - 1,314 147 - 51 1,512
et Subtotal = 3,728 300 740 157 4,925
FoTES: Non-executive director:

finfELE Mr Lun Ruixiang - 2,157 - 571 55 2,783
&t Total = 5,885 300 1,311 212 7,708
2022 2022
HTEE: Executive directors:

RERETE Mr Lun Zhaomin - 1,809 - 885 58 2752

ENERE Mr Lu Peijun - 1458 10 885 52 2405

BRERE Mr Luo Chengyu - 1403 10 84 52 1,549
INEt Subtotal - 4670 2 1854 162 6,706
FHTES: Non-executive director:

L E Mr Lun Ruixiang - 2114 - 1373 68 3555
@t Total - 6,784 2 3207 230 10261
FAMBEEI LY RELF There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
ERETATEB - agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.
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9.

hEEaEHMES

FRNAEA R TINEERE=-2E=S
(202%F : =4&) » HEHMFBHN Lt
B mEMES R TR (2022F : W
B)RFEARRNBEENIEARRAHST
BABM&SEHHEERAFEENFM
ELFCNE

9.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included three
(2022: three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in
note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the
remaining two (2022: two) highest paid employees who are neither
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

2022 €
2022
ARBFIT
RMB'000

2023 &
2023

AR®T T
RMB’000

e EMNREYET Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,895 3,017
B IETEAL Discretionary bonuses 153 10
LARR #E 45 M BE AR R 2 Equity-settled share option expense 308 738
RIREETEIHE K Pension scheme contributions 78 118
et Total 3,434 3,883

FHNFUATHENFFEERHMHE
BABIT :

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

2023 & 2022 %

2023 2022

1,500,001 7 7T & 2,000,000 78 T HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 2 -
2,000,001 % 7T £ 2,500,000 78 7T HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 = 2
4Bt Total 2 2

RBEFE  ETHEEFRIFEHITH
AEBZERFMEEARERNAEELR
AR TS AR BB A - BRI — 2 5F
BHERGAMBRRMEM - ZFER
BHOAFE(REBHENBRRNE
RIRBELAHREE  BAFEN KR
RAFMBCROFALMIFEERIERK
BITHRABZ &= RS HMmER -

In prior years, share options were granted to certain non-directors
and non-chief executive highest paid employees in respect of their
services to the Group, further details of which are included in note
34 to the consolidated financial statements. The fair value of such
options, which has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss
over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and
the amounts included in the financial statements for the current year
is included in the above non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.
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10.

166

FriEHip X

AEBEARAKEKERRERNEE
PAERL % BA R [ 2 A ST 15 0 i A 3R
EREELNMEH - RERAEFER
RBRAZBERNMER  AEERHE
ERELRBRAHSEMRINER
EAGMEAAEN -

HAAEERFALEERBEEEW
FERBURF - UF AW EEL B BFIE
TR (20226 « ) - REBRFHRR
Hh & 58 1 MY B A B B 3% 25% B &K (2022
1 25%) BN R Bl D EEFTIS R o

TR ER IR T EENERENRER
E30% E60% M BN E WM EFTER
R AR A S - BT - B3R
RAREMMERERE - AEBEER
B EEEREEEERAENET -
fhEt MR BB R A L i 1 EF B -
TR ERBEEERIE SRS E BRR
Bk ML o

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in which members of
the Group are domiciled and operate. Pursuant to the rules and
regulations of the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands, the
entities within the Group incorporated in the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands are not subject to any income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the year
as the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year (2022: Nil). Subsidiaries of the Group operating
in Chinese Mainland are subject to the CIT at a rate of 25% (2022:
25%).

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the sale of
properties less deductible expenditures including land costs,
borrowing costs and other property development expenditures. The
Group has estimated and included in taxation a provision for LAT
according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws

and regulations. The LAT provision is subject to the final review and
approval by the local tax bureau.

2023 & 2022 5
2023 2022
AR T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BOER : Current:
REERSH PRCCIT 49,094 35,993
AR M E R (A 31) PRC LAT (note 31) 51,734 50,140
100,828 86,133
JEIE (Hfat32) Deferred (note 32) (35,207) (58,294)
FRABEBEZ L BE Total tax charge for the year 65,621 27,839
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10. FiiSHFAX (= 10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
FRARBRE 7( 57%( b8~ B FT1E A A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to loss before tax
FREEAEERETENRBAIEERN at the statutory rate for the jurisdictions in which the Company and
HRAMBHAX  EFAHIAR R most of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense for the year
s are as follows:
2023 F 20225
2023 2022
ARBTR AREKTE
RMB’000 RMB'000
BRI AT & 1R Loss before tax (664,729) (2,806,057)
BHRBETEMEHEGTE/TIIE  Taxat the PRC statutory income tax rate (166,182) (701,514)
EEREN—REEREEN Profits or losses attributable to joint ventures
mﬁf'ﬁl}éﬁﬁ and an associate 3,875 (951)
BAERTIA Income not subject to tax (5,422) (18,870)
Tl AEMBRAX Expenses not deductible for tax 49,042 445,722
RIERTIIBE R Tax losses not recognised 145,508 265,847
+ i I (E T B Provision for LAT 51,734 50,140
THIREMNRBEE Tax effect on LAT (12,934) (12,535)
IR Tax charge 65,621 27,839
HZE20BFNANBIEFEZDHE The share of tax attributable to joint ventures amounting to Nil
BhERLMEBEAE (02F : AR (2022:RMB1,464,000) for the year ended 31 December 2023, is
146400070) ' FTAGRAEBEETN[H included in “Share of profits and losses of joint ventures” in the
MeEBELERNKEE] - consolidated profit of loss.
1. IR 11. DIVIDENDS
EEGTEBIRNBIZE 2023 F K 20225 The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for the
2ANHILEFENRE - year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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12. BREHE AEESREE 12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS

OF THE PARENT
EREREESEDIERATRREESA The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on the
FEAL AR IR A R ¥ 696,720,000 7T (2022 loss for the year attributable to owners of the parent of
F: AR ¥2452694,00070) K F AN B 5 RMB696,720,000 (2022: RMB2,452,694,000), and the weighted
1T B 2 N RE S 25 #05,254,000,000 A& average number of ordinary shares of 5,254,000,000 (2022:
(2022 4F : 5,254,000,000 8% ) 5T & © 5,254,000,000) in issue during the year.
BRERNRBEBEDERATSER The calculations of the basic and diluted loss per share are based on:
=
2023 F 20224
2023 2022
ARBTRT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
Eia Loss
ARTEEIREARNMEEEIE Y Loss attributable to owners of the parent,
AR E AEILEBE used in the basic and diluted loss per share
calculation (696,720) (2,452,694)
gl 4=
Number of shares
2023 F 2022 5
2023 2022
Bz 17 Shares
ARGTEEREABEZFA Weighted average number of ordinary shares in
BT M AR H) I T issue during the year used in the basic loss
per share calculation 5,254,000,000 5,254,000,000

g TR IMNEFHE : Effect of dilution — weighted average number
of ordinary shares:

AR Share options = -
Rt EEREFEE TR Weighted average number of ordinary shares in
Eﬁéﬂ IR ey hnE T 19 88 issue during the year used in the diluted loss
per share calculation 5,254,000,000  5,254,000,000
AR RERENTTEES NG F Because the exercise price of the Company’s share options was
HHE B AFESRESBHENEE higher than the average market price for shares, the diluted loss per
REREEER - share is same as basic loss per share during the year.
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13. W% - BERRE

2023F12A31H

31 December 2023

HENXEE

Leasehold
improvements
ARET R
RMB'000

HE #ER
BAERE
Furniture,
fixtures and
office
equipment
AR¥ETR
RMB'000

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Motor
vehicles

ARBTR
RMB'000

ARBTR
RMB’000

R2023F1 818 At 1 January 2023;

A Cost 21,823 63,911 22,947 108,681

2HITE Accumulated depreciation (5,170) (16,932) (19,343) (41,445)
REFE Net carrying amount 16,653 46,979 3,604 67,236
R2023F1 818 At 1 January 2023, net of

R RFITE accumulated depreciation 16,653 46,979 3,604 67,236
W EEHIB N R) (B7£37)  Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) - 4,991 = 4,991
NE Additions 546 12 290 848
& Disposals = (436) 1) (437)
HEM B AR (A75£38)  Disposals of subsidiaries (note 38) = (80) = (80)
FRITERE (F/i27)  Depreciation provided during

the year (note 7) (3,160) (3,158) (1,458) (7,776)

0 i 8 B Exchange realignment 34 8 - 42
202312 A31H At 31 December 2023, net of

R ZFHTE accumulated depreciation 14,073 48,316 2,435 64,824
202312 A31H At 31 December 2023:

A Cost 22,602 70,405 23,215 116,222

ZEHME Accumulated depreciation (8,529) (22,089) (20,780) (51,398)

REFE Net carrying amount 14,073 48,316 2,435 64,824
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2022F 12 A31H
M202%F1 /18 ¢
AR

31 December 2022
At 1 January 2022:

HENEKE

Leasehold

improvements
ARETT
RMB'000

HE/NES
Furniture,
fixtures and
office
equipment
ARETFT
RMB'000

Motor
vehicles
ARBTT
RMB'000

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
RE-EER

Total
ARETTT
RMB'000

Cost 16,555 64,840 29,481 110,876

ZEtiE Accumulated depreciation (2,709) (15,645) (23451) (41,805)

REZE Net carrying amount 13,846 49,195 6,030 69,071
R202F1H18 At 1 January 2022, net of

BINR 2EHTE accumulated depreciation 13,846 49,195 6,030 69,071
RE Additions 5,283 1386 - 6,669
HE Disposals (15) (398) (898) (1,311)
FRITERME (f5t7)  Depreciation provided during the

year (note 7) (2461) (3210) (1,528) (7,199)

i KB Exchange realignment - 6 - 6
M202F 1273318 At 31 December 2022, net of

MR R E accumulated depreciation 16,653 46,979 3,604 67,236
R202F12A318 : At 31 December 2022:

B Cost 21,823 63911 22,947 108,681

RETIE Accumulated depreciation (5,170) (16,932) (19,343) (41,445)

REZE Net carrying amount 16,653 46,979 3,604 67,236

MR2023F 128310 AEEEMmESE
B AREES301,0007T (20224 « ) M H
TWE - BEMEBEERR - UER
BRYPAEEMNS TETREME
529) o

At 31 December 2023, certain of the Group's property, plant and
equipment with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB8,301,000
(2022: Nil) was pledged to secure certain bank and other borrowings
granted to the Group (note 29).
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14.

rREME 14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
B®RT TE
REYE REWHE
Investment
Completed properties
investment under
properties construction Total
ARETT ARETT AR%TT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
202261 A1 HAEREME  Carrying amount at 1 January 2022 457,300 1,329,600 1,786,900
NE Additions - 54954 54,954
NEEFE Fair value adjustments (87,900) (157,954) (245,854)
720224 12 H31 H X% 20234 Carrying amount at 31 December
1AMEREE 2022 and 1 January 2023 369,400 1,226,600 1,596,000
NE Additions - 19,217 19217
& B A T (F7 3t 38) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) - (150,000) (150,000)
NEERAE Fair value adjustments (6,500) (64,217) (70,717)
72023F 12 A31 BMEREE Carrying amount at 31 December
2023 362,900 1,031,600 1,394,500

NEENREWEMNPEAL - TR
203F N2AHBREBILEESER
HEMESRRNETERAG((EHS
B ETNFEESER BARE
1,394,500,0007% (2022%F : AR
1,596,000,000 7T.) ©

2023 12A318 AEBREAE

A AR #1199,579,0007T (20224 « AR

#51,199,579,0007T) & TR EMEEE

iR AERE FAEBME THRITR
H e (B EE29) ©

AFEER
HE2023FN2022F12A31BIEFE -

AEBREMETIFEREATTBRE
ABE (B #ETRFEEFE -

XoEE

Fﬁﬁ?ﬁ"ﬁﬁ:ﬁrgZ&ﬁ%
xﬁ&ﬁiﬂtﬁﬁ pan

RAEE 5§ HE-HIEWER
TEFEER ﬁﬁﬁj)\ﬂzmﬂ%_“
NEEFE (20224 : ) o

The Group's investment properties are situated in Chinese Mainland
and were revalued on 31 December 2023 based on valuations
performed by Hongkong Jincheng Surveyors Limited (“HJS"), an
independent professionally qualified valuers, at RMB1,394,500,000
(2022: RMB1,596,000,000).

At 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s investment properties
with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB1,199,579,000 (2022:
RMB1,199,579,000) was pledged to secure certain bank and other
borrowings granted to the Group (note 29).

Fair value hierarchy

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the fair value
measurements of the Group's investment properties used significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3).

In the opinion of the directors, for all investment properties that are
measured at fair value, the properties have been used in their
highest and best use.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
(2022: Nil).
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14. IREWE &)
AEEBR(E)
AT AR B E RS E REEY
2 (BT B AR -

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Set out below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and
the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

172

33

EERH

Valuation technique

EXTUBRAANE

Significant unobservable inputs

REME

Investment properties under construction

MEFIH
Weighted average

2023
2023

2022
2022

TE LN A EEBE(EBTHRLER) AR¥68ZE116 T ARKT/Z116TT
Retail Income approach Estimated rental value (per sq.m. and per month) RMB68-116 RMB77-116
REEEXR©Y)
Long term vacancy rate (%) 5-10 5-10
RAEILE 0
Capitalisation rate (%) 4.25-5 425-5
BE BEREREE REIRE-FVHIE8REH AR¥780T  AR¥780T
Hotel Discounted cash flow approach  Average daily room rate in the first year of completion RMB780 RMB780
BERSERE M
Stabilised rental growth rate (%) 4 5
BEAEE @)
Stabilised occupancy rate (%) 70 70
BEE & ()
Discount rate (%) 7.8 78
ERIKREYSE
Completed investment properties
g HRBEREE e EE (BT RREAR) ARM80T ANRE4TT
Retail Discounted cash flow approach  Estimated rental value (per sq.m. and per month) RMB80 RMB74
BEASERE®
Stabilised rental growth rate (%) 4 4
BRI (%)
Discount rate (%) 6 6.5
W& e BEEYAIARER) ARM80T AR 74T
Income approach Estimated rental value (per sq.m. and per month) RMB80 RMB74
REZEX )
Long term vacancy rate (%) 10 10
BAILE %)
Capitalisation rate (%) 4,25 425
SESHEMRAR AR Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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DN ERBRE)

RIEFBRRSREZE X FEDHEAR
REMAERON SN BEBREEN
FH(BREERRKEE) 1T -
ZIES R EREN —ERREER
EFEA - MHITERBR T EARTER R
TnE  WEELEEMRBEANIRD
RE #BERaX-REBEETHEH
RALR K -

BenegnHERBLRATIRHANE
EREOmESRY EAREEE
B ERABHEEMFRE - EEOF
BREXMHETR(BYERNN—E
FiE) e s - e MRS RERBIA
HEZ=E A kEFE - KEUEE -
HEEE #EEH KENASER
REMEEMERFMAET - % — &7
EHRE WA TR - ERFAER R TR
RERNSREAGBTSE BRER
g

REBWAOE - ETDREBEHRBEEOM
SHSWAFETABERCET  WiE
EERMENERKEEN  H2EH
BRALBRSHET  ERERIMED
EE AR R 5] - b B K i AR
ZEo

MAHEBERESFEREERFAE
2 WO BRREYERTEKNRE
g REZEER HPREXLE
AR BB ARIRE I, B EEBIRE
WERFERERD, LN -

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Under the discounted cash flow method, fair value is estimated
using assumptions regarding the benefits and liabilities of ownership
over the asset’s life including an exit or terminal value. This method
involves the projection of a series of cash flows on a property
interest. A market-derived discount rate is applied to the projected
cash flows in order to establish the present value of the income
stream associated with the asset. The exit yield is normally separately
determined and differs from the discount rate.

The duration of the cash flows and the specific timing of inflows and
outflows are determined by events such as rent reviews, lease
renewal and related reletting, redevelopment or refurbishment. The
appropriate duration is driven by market behaviour that is a
characteristic of the class of property. The periodic cash flow is
estimated as gross income less vacancy, non-recoverable expenses,
collection losses, lease incentives, maintenance costs, agent and
commission costs and other operating and management expenses.
The series of periodic net operating income, along with an estimate
of the terminal value anticipated at the end of the projection period,
is then discounted.

Under the income approach, valuations are based on the
capitalisation of net rental income derived from the existing
tenancies with due allowance for the reversionary income potential
of the properties or made with reference to comparable market
transactions and with consideration of adjustments to reflect
differences in transaction timing, location and tenure.

A significant increase/decrease in the estimated rental value and the
rental growth per annum in isolation would result in a significant
increase/decrease in the fair value of the investment properties. A
significant increase/decrease in the long term vacancy rate, the
discount rate and the capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a
significant decrease/increase in the fair value of the investment
properties.
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15. 8 15. LEASES
ZF%VE%EW’FEA The Group as a lessee
REBpEEEMAMAZEMEHE The Group has lease contracts for office premises used in its
E&H) HEHN T 2284 - operations, which have lease terms between 2 to 8 years.
(@ FERAEEE (@) Right-of-use assets
RAFE REBHNERAEEE The carrying amount of the Group's right-of-use assets and
REELRFEOT the movements during the year are as follows:
N B
Office premises
2023 F 2022 5
2023 2022
ARBTR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
M1A1H At 1 January 28,440 2,010
NE Additions - 34,000
AEREHELH Depreciation charged during the year (5,705) (7,555)
ME H, 38 B Exchange realignment 377 (15)
®12H31H At 31 December 23,112 28,440
(b) HEEE (b) Lease liabilities
RAREE AEENHEBER The carrying amount of the Group's lease liabilities and the
HERZESHHET : movements during the year are as follows:
2023 £ 2022 6
2023 2022
ARBTR AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
B A BREE Carrying amount at 1 January 30,377 2,012
WHE New leases = 34,000
RAFE R T FLE Accretion of interest recognised
during the year 1,552 1,883
INE: Payment (6,717) (7,540)
P 5 Exchange realignment 324 22
K12 A31 BREREE Carrying amount at 31 December 25,536 30,377
paR = Analysed into:
mENE Current portion 5,445 5,162
EMENEB D Non-current portion 20,091 25215
HEABBZIBMASTRES M The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 46
MR T 46 5 T © to the consolidated financial statements.
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15. A& (»)
REBEAERBA(E)
() WMEEREIHRNTCEELT :

15. LEASES (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases
are as follows:

2023 & 2022 4F
2023 2022

AR®BTRT ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000

HEBGNE Interest on lease liabilities 1,552 1,883
FREEEITES H (M 7) Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets

(note 7) 5,705 7,555

FIHAERNMEIRSEZ  Expense relating to short-term leases and

AR ZEHHAER other leases with remaining lease terms
HmAERBARZ ended on or before the end of the
GrATTBRX) (B#E7) reporting period (included in
administrative expenses) (note 7) - 396
RERERNERE Total amount recognised in profit or loss 7,257 9,834

(d HERSRLEBRESTBR
K390 HEE -

FEBERHEA

AEERBSEHELHREREYZE (M
T14) BEMARPRO=BEEDE -

AEERFARRHES WA BARE
32,019,000 7T (20224 : A R ¥ 16,823,000
JC) - B IBEHN R A M IRE M EES o

(d)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 39(c) to
the consolidated financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) consisting of
three commercial properties in the PRC under operating lease
arrangements. Rental income recognised by the Group during the
year was RMB32,019,000 (2022: RMB16,823,000), details of which are
included in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
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15. HE (#) 15. LEASES (Continued)
REH VEZ%EWFEA (&) The Group as a lessor (Continued)
ARG S EAEE TR RREE K The future aggregate minimum rental receivables under non-
Me@sEmT cancellable operating leases are as follows:
2023 2022 FF
2023 2022
ARBTR AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
—FR Within one year 13,149 15,555
—FRERMFA After one year but within two years 11,272 15,896
WEEBLER=ZFR After two years but within three years 10,522 9,371
—FERERENFR After three years but within four years 7,120 7,059
WERERAFA After four years but within five years 6,671 3,096
hFi& After five years 9,797 6,606
st Total 58,531 57,583
R2023F 12H31H A& EREB % At 31 December 2023, certain of the Group's right of rental income
BAR®E6471,0007C (2022F : AR with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB6,471,000 (2022:
6471,00070) & TH S WD 1ER RMB6,471,000) was pledged to secure certain bank and other
o ERR T AEENSE TRITEE borrowings granted to the Group (note 29).

fi f& K (B FE29) ©
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6. B EE 16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

LoAL

Software
2023 F 2022 £

2023

AR®T
RMB’000

2022

ARETTT
RMB'000

REY] At the beginning of the year:
BXAR Cost 16,058 15,776
EET Accumulated amortisation (10,961) (9,455)
BREFE Net carrying amount 5,097 6,321
RE) - LM BT At the beginning of the year, net of
accumulated amortisation 5,097 6,321
NE Additions - 282
HEWBRR (ME38) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) (161) -
FRE B (M) Amortisation provided during the year
(note 7) (1,056) (1,506)
R - R R T i At the end of the year, net of accumulated
amortisation 3,880 5,097
RER : At the end of the year:
B Cost 15,726 16,058
g5 Accumulated amortisation (11,846) (10,961)
REEE Net carrying amount 3,880 5,097
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17. REBELENRKRE

17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2023 20226
2023 2022
ARETRT AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
DMEEEEE Share of net assets 216,955 276,352
DEAREEEMNER Receivables from joint ventures classified as
BEMRENIEA current assets 382,341 381,575
B R Impairment allowance (8,444) (2,971)
373,897 378,604
BRAEECEFEBEER 28 KR The receivables from joint ventures are unsecured, interest-free and
ZREE (WEA)  RERELHEB repayable on demand, where applicable, an impairment analysis is

EREDARL M RR KR SR E N
NERETRED T -

ERAEBERFBANRERGEZSWT -

performed at each reporting date by considering the probability of
default and the timing and amounts of future cash flows.

The movements in impairment allowance of receivables from joint
ventures are as follows:

2023 F 20225

2023 2022

ARBTR ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

REA At the beginning of the year 2,971 -
ERERBERE Impairment losses recognised 5,473 2,971
RER At the end of the year 8,444 2,971

EHEEEELEAEEFE L BB
DARSEYMEREIBE BNABEAEN
FIE - HABBRAG - BEERE
R R A S MR B 1 O e ok Bk
TR IEE o 72202312 A318 0 5
B A221%(20224F : 0.78%) ©

178

The ECLs are estimated by applying a loss rate approach with
reference to the historical loss record of the Group and the amount
payable to the relevant contractors for the Group's property
development projects. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as
appropriate. The loss rate as at 31 December 2023 was 2.21% (2022:
0.78%).
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17. REEEENRE @) 17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
REBEELEFBOT - Particulars of the Group's joint ventures are as follows:
EUTES
Percentage of
EMRHRRA  ERMREBLRE AR REE  EEEA TEEY
Registeredand  Place of registration ~ Ownership Voting Profit
paid-up capital and business interest power sharing Principal activity
HEEREHEXARLA" ARB19%608400T  RE/HRERM 49% 49% 4% NERE
(Mfmm))
Hunan Development Gaoxin Properties RMB196,078400  PRC/Chinese Mainland 49% 49% 49%  Property development

Company Limited** (‘Hunan Gaoxin")

BHEREREXBRAR AR%3000007  FE/HERD 50% 50% 50% NERE
(IRIES])

Xuzhou Huijing Jiacheng Properties RMB30,000,000  PRC/Chinese Mainland 50% 50% 50%  Property development
Company Limited*
("Xuzhou Huijing’)

Htat - Notes:

N EEECEBRARAIRERSE - The above joint ventures are indirectly held by the Company.

* BIEFBUZEELARNEGRAFA © * Registered as a domestic limited liability company under PRC law.

# AR ZE N A I & s R IE =AY 2 ¢ The English name of these companies represents the best effort made
NEE WERXEBEIIBEARAE by management of the Company to directly translate its Chinese
BEEEHZEPXEBMER - name as it did not register any official English name.

HE20BFNANBIEEFE  HES During the year ended 31 December 2023, Hunan Gaoxin, which is

FHRAREENERGELE  KF considered material joint venture of the Group, engaged in property

YIERT  WHRARREAR- development and is accounted for using the equity method.
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17. REELENRE &)
TENAHESTNHEERES B
REHRENTAEEELER &
A MISRE MR G LE -

17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information
in respect of Hunan Gaoxin adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements.

2023 F 2022 4

2023 2022

AR%STR ARBTTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

B EE Current assets 1,417,955 1,369,961
ERBEE Non-current assets 158,585 170,692
nBEE Current liabilities (935,375) (869,471)
ERBAG Non-current liabilities (198,400) (199,000)
BEFE Net assets 442,765 472,182

HAREBERAEEDENEREIR © Recondiliation to the Group's interest in the
joint venture:

NEE A EL G Proportion of the Group’s ownership 49% 49%
EREE Carrying amount of the investment 216,955 231,369
W as Revenue 106,745 311,880
FR(ER), S5 A (Loss)/profit for the year (29,417) 8,997
2 (EBB), /WA BLE Total comprehensive (loss)/income (29,417) 8,997

TEUPAEBANTEANAE LR
BB BB T AR -

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of
the Group's joint ventures that are not individually material:

2023 F 20224

2023 2022

ARBTRT ARETET

RMB’000 RMB'000

DMEEEREZFRNEE Share of the joint ventures’ loss for the year 32 16
DEEERELHEEEMERE Share of the joint ventures’ total comprehensive

loss 32 16

AEEREBELEKREN
FRmAaE

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
investment in joint ventures -

45,083

AEEERIEEREEBLRAEDESRM
ESMEE RAREBEAECENES
BEAAEEEZAELEPHRELS
BAREETESZEBREZABELEN
BINGE - AEERAFEREFRE
REEZEEACEBENSEI R AA
R 1,457,000 7T (2022 4F : AR 7,532,000
7T) B A R#300230007C (20224 : AR
5 28,566,000 7T) °

180

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of
a joint venture Xuzhou Huijing because the share of losses of the
joint venture exceeded the Group’s interest in the joint venture and
the Group has no obligation to take up further losses. The amounts
of the Group’s unrecognised share of loss of this joint venture for the
current year and cumulatively were RMB1,457,000 (2022:
RMB7,532,000) and RMB30,023,000 (2022: RMB28,566,000),
respectively.

TESIZERREBRAE]  Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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18. R—RBELENRE 18. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE
2023 2022 FF
2023 2022
ARETR ARBTET
RMB’000 RMB'000
DHEEFE Share of net assets 7,295 1,648
REBsEEREFBOT - Particulars of the Group's joint ventures are as follows:
EUTED
Percentage of
EMRERRA  ERREBLE AR REE  EEA TEEH
Registeredand  Place of registration ~ Ownership Voting Profit
paid-up capital and business interest power sharing Principal activity
RETRHABRHERE AR¥3000000  RE/HERMY 40% 40% 40% NERE
BRRA)
Dongguan Fengshang Apartment Real RMB3,000,000  PRC/Chinese Mainland 40% 40% 40%  Property development

Estate Development Company Limited*

Kt - Notes:

NEABMERARNRIBEEE - The above joint ventures are indirectly held by the Company.

* BIEFBUZEELARNEGRAR © * Registered as a domestic limited liability company under PRC law.

# R ZE QA A AR i The English name of these companies represents the best effort made
NEWE WHEXEBEIARQFE by management of the Company to directly translate its Chinese
BEEEMNZERXEREMmMER - name as it did not register any official English name.
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18. R—REELENKRE »)
TREMAEETBERNER 2B E

18. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The following table illustrates the financial information of the Group's

EZHIBER

associate that is not individually material:

2023 F 2022 F
2023 2022
ARBTRT AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
DL E R EFEBE Share of the associate’s loss for the year (1,053) (587)
DhEE P E L EBEERE Share of the associate’s total comprehensive
loss (1,053) (587)
REBR—RBEDPEREN Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
ARME 4 (E investment in an associate 7,295 1,648

19. HEFMABUMHEEN LM 19. LAND HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

2023 F 2022 4F

2023 2022

AR%TR ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

FYIRMEAE Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 1,823,722 1,710,951
NE Additions 73,951 789,166
BB AT (BtaE37) Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) 424,721 -
WOR 2= A &3R5 E Write-down to net realisable value (1,245) (676,395)
FRRHEE Carrying amount at the end of the year 2,321,149 1,823,722

FEHR R IEE S ERRA Current portion expected to be recovered

U [a] B BN HAEE 5 within normal operating cycle (513,011) (381,000)
JERNERER 5 Non-current portion 1,808,138 1,442,722

R2023F 12A31H AREBEZRHEZ

B A ARM1432,7140007T (20224 = A
R # 836,492,000 70) # #5 1 7 8 DA i 1
EMETIHEERR  UERETA
EBEME TRITREMER (FFEE29) ©

182

At 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s land held for
development for sale with an aggregate carrying amount of
RMB1,432,714,000 (2022: RMB836,492,000) was pledged to secure
certain bank and other borrowings granted to the Group (note 29).

SESHEMRAR AR Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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20. 1EEWE

FEHIRN LR 2 & B Uk el &

20. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

2023 &
2023

2022 5
2022
ARBFIT
RMB'000

AR®T
RMB’000

Properties under development expected to be

TERME - recovered within normal operating cycle:

—FNRA Within one year 315,000 621,000

—F1& After one year 2,817,198 3,001,833
3,132,198 3,622,833

R2023F12A3H  AKEEZRMEA
BB AN RE1378604,0007T (20224 = A
R #1,0139060007C) & THEEZWEDS
EEA - LB T AEENS TIRTT
N E A (i FE29) ©

21. HEHENCRTITYME
R2023F 1283 B AKEEZERMEA
B /A AR 417365000 7T (20224 © AR
#5214,547,00070) 9B TRIEHENE
WITMEDIERR  NERR T AEEH
K E TRT REME R (FFE29) »

22. € 5 BWERM

At 31 December 2023, certain of the Group's properties under
development with an aggregate carrying amount of
RMB1,378,604,000 (2022: RMB1,013,906,000) was pledged to secure
certain bank and other borrowings granted to the Group (note 29).

21. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

At 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s completed properties
held for sale with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB417,365,000
(2022: RMB214,547,000) was pledged to secure certain bank and
other borrowings granted to the Group (note 29).

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2022 4
2022
ARBFIT
RMB'000

2023 F
2023

AR®T
RMB’000

B 5 RERR Trade receivables 11,907 21,572
VERIERE L] Impairment allowance (2,238) (642)
IREFE Net carrying amount 9,669 20,930

B 5 RUR IR E HEE SN RUR
Ko MERBRERTPRREBER
B BRI AS - AEBE NSKEE R
JRE W B R N 28 B A BR AR R R AR P - 3
mEEEEHERZ -

Trade receivables represent receivables arising from the sale of
properties. Consideration in respect of properties is payable by the
customers in accordance with the terms of the related sale and
purchase agreements. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables and overdue balances, which are
reviewed regularly by management.
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ESBRWERR &)
%m$$@mﬁ%EW$%ﬁ%M%ﬁ
CEFAE MUEBEEACERBRE
R o 7N 5 3 4 LB 5 R UK R R
BAITAEARKEMERALER - B5
U BR R T E B o

RERE FHRUIRFIZK A R B Hsk
BEAMYHIREEEENRRS T
T

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Since the Group's trade receivables are related to a number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables
are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the year,
based on the revenue recognition date or invoice date and net of

loss allowance, is as follows:

2023 F 2022 5

2023 2022

AR T ARETF T

RMB’000 RMB'000

—F R Within 1 year 9,669 20,930
HES Total 9,669 20,930

RERSBEH NEBERAE BV H
HEERFE O FTRT AR M AL T AL TR A
EEBRFELEE ZREAFYME

BORWERKAZHNTEREER
- B RIGRFUREBEREZ S
T

At each reporting date, the Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade
receivables. The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
trade receivables are as follows:

2023 F 2022 5

2023 2022

ARBTR AREBTET

RMB’000 RMB'000

REA) At the beginning of the year 642 -

ERERBIERE Impairment losses recognised 1,596 642

RER At the end of the year 2,238 642
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23, JA{FFRIE - HitEUWFIERE 23. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

mEE OTHER ASSETS
2023 & 2022 5
2023 2022
AR¥ T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
T FRIE Prepayments 869,751 1,668,937
A LR AR Cost of obtaining contracts 43,661 61,676
HibrsIE Rk e Other receivables and deposits 755,344 1,090,518
1,668,756 2,821,131
B B Impairment allowance (74,206) (40,713)
@t Total 1,594,550 2,780,418

FFALIESNCREESBRAF B
B PSR R B3R ER - LA 2 TBHERE
EEE(ER)  NEREAHEEE
WA AR AR RRERENEE RS
B UGEITRED T

HpEURBRE EHRERR 28 RR
%*1&5&3’9%’7%&% ReTREHE
e BRAVELBREAEXREE
B

fﬁiﬁ‘fﬁ’\lﬁ ’rHJJEHSZ IE)SZ%M&EAEK

The financial assets included in the above balances were categorised
in stage 1, 2 and 3 for the measurement of ECL, where applicable, an
impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by
considering the probability of default and the timing and amounts
of future cash flows.

Other receivables mainly represent deposits with contractors which
are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand.
Deposit mainly represent rental deposits and has not experienced
any significant credit loss in past.

The movements in impairment allowance of prepayments, other

receivables and other assets are as follows:

2023 20224

2023 2022

ARETRT ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000

REH] At the beginning of the year 40,713 -
HEWB AR Disposal of subsidiaries (5,121) -
EERBEBE Impairment losses recognised 38,614 40,713
RER At the end of the year 74,206 40,713

TERERIE - H IR IE R E E A
E%E@TE,B;@EEEEE%%$%@EEESE
FOBE N AN B W) 3 R 2508 B FE AT AR A
BEFIE  RABERAMG - BEX
SR EE R RERABRNRMIBEER

T2 FEORI R R4 78 R 05, o 722023 6F 12 A 31
B H) B 18 R 5 4.45% (20224F ¢ 1.44%) o

ECL on the prepayments, other receivables and other assets balances
are estimated by a loss rate approach with reference to the historical
loss record of the Group and the amount payable to the relevant
contractors for the Group's property development projects. The loss
rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions, as appropriate. The loss rate as at 31
December 2023 was 4.45% (2022: 1.44%).
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24, I D FEHETAERXZ2EFE 24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
= PROFIT ORLOSS

25.

186

2023 & 2022 4

2023 2022

AR T AREF T

RMB’000 RMB'000

EARAERE (RAFE) Listed equity investments, at fair value 1,265 2,515
HEAh3E FTESIRE (FEAFE) Other unlisted fund investments, at fair value 43,046 96,888
@t Total 44,311 99,403

LLHXZIK&#t B WO B D AR
RFEFABRBRZEMEE  REKE
BRRERELFFMARINARERFE -

WAV EFABE ZEREENRFR

The above equity and unlisted investments were mandatorily

classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as their

contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and

interest.

Details of the fair value hierarchy of the financial assets at fair value

BRHFFIBEN IR E M EHREM 45 - through profit or loss are set out in note 45 to the consolidated
financial statements.
REMIRITLER 25. CASH AND BANK BALANCES
2023 F 2022 4F
2023 2022
AR T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
Re RIRTTHES Cash and bank balances 6,009 27,269
2RI & Restricted cash 120,151 50,999
RekRESEEYD Cash and cash equivalents 126,160 78,268
Bt - Notes:

()

(b)

R2023F 12 A3 BNIE S RIRITER
BIETFE KA R #120,147,000 7T (2022
F: AR #50,994,00070) ° R 1E A&
EETHWBARMBRTERENEEE
HRERE  ZSWBRARABES
MERNTEERBTABTERITES ©

ZEFREANARINME L RES
MMERBERAREERBER -

R2023F 12831 HRNE S RIRITER
BIEERFRARE 40007 (2022 F -
AR®ES50007T) - BIBFEANEEE TH
BARMBENEHERME RS
ZEWBARABRAETRITEST
AFIBEBER -

ESIERABR /AT Huijing Holdings Company Limited

(a)

(b)

Included in the cash and bank balances as at 31 December 2023 are
deposits of RMB120,147,000 (2022: RMB50,994,000). According to
relevant loan facility agreements signed by certain subsidiaries of the
Group with the banks, these subsidiaries are required to place the pre-
sale proceeds of their properties at designated bank accounts. The
deposits can only be used for the payment of property development
costs incurred by the subsidiaries and the repayment of the relevant
loans.

Included in the cash and bank balances as at 31 December 2023 are
guarantee deposits of RMB4,000 (2022: RMB5,000). According to
relevant loan facility agreements signed by certain subsidiaries of the
Group, the subsidiaries are required to place deposits at designated
bank accounts as a guarantee.
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25. RERMITHER (2 25. CASH AND BANK BALANCES (Continued)
RIEHR - $$@Tﬁz/\§ﬁ§§ﬂﬁzfﬁ At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
& NMIBTHES A AR 1252480007 the Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB125,248,000 (2022;
(2022%F + AR¥781120007T) © AR RMB78,112,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
TR HEAEMER R I - BRIEHR currencies, however, under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange
P H N B B A 1DI) B2 A B - 5 BB AT BB Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
EERT AEEEESBEREET Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
INEEBHIRTHARE L BAEME exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
¥ o conduct foreign exchange business.

FRIRITOIR SREST B HRITERN Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
EREVEBFE - RITERTDIERER deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy
RIFE28 B B30 2 D ac s O 8R1T o banks with no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of the
Re RIRTHAARRERERE AN TERS cash and bank balances approximate to their fair values.
26. & 5 B ERM 26. TRADE PAYABLES
2023 F 20226
2023 2022
ARSI ARBTE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ERNE=FTHNE FHER Trade payables to third parties 1,149,698 1,292,612
FET @ f’m‘ﬁ?ﬁiﬁﬂ %'J Trade payables to related companies
A AR E RN controlled by Mr Lun Ruixiang 141,175 49,477
#wEt Total 1,290,873 1,342,089
RERE G ENRFIZERE B 8RR An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the year,
AT - based on the invoice date, is as follows:
2023 F 20225
2023 2022
ARSI ARETE
RMB’000 RMB'000
—FR Within 1 year 485,545 569,631
—EMF 1 to 2 years 388,978 648,690
HB R More than 2 years 416,350 123,768
#wEt Total 1,290,873 1,342,089
EORENERREER T8 B— The trade payables are unsecured and interest-free and are normally
BIRBAEEEREYENERETEE settled based on the progress of the construction of the Group’s

properties under development.
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27. HENF
STEH

RIE - EREERIE

27. OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND

ACCRUALS

2023 F 2022 4

2023 2022

AR TR ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

H A fE A 5RIR Other payables @ 349,283 433,992
Bz & Deposits received 22,314 34,379
st &R Accruals 262,101 139,117
RS Dividends payable 118,312 115,138
FERFE Interests payable 309,228 72,033
AR S Provisions for litigation b) 25,098 11,423
IR E L Financial guarantee contract () 7,591 8,755
1,093,927 814,837

(@ HitENFBARERER THERR

(a)

Other payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable

—FRNEE- within one year.

(b) FRAABETIRIEANE B AR MY (b)  The provisions for litigation is made based on the opinion of the
EEFARGAIREENERRER Group’s legal adviser on the possible outcome and liabilities due to
HER M - litigation cases by suppliers.

FRAABEEHMT ¢ The movements of provisions for litigation are as follows:
2023 20224
2023 2022
AR TR AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
RE ] At the beginning of the year 11,423 -
NE Additions 13,675 11,423
RER At the end of the year 25,098 11,423

(© F2023F12A31H  AEBRAEP
B THIRIBEE mRTIRE B IR -
TRMERINESNRERARY
2,500,969,0007C (20224 : AR
2,956,8450007T) * W E AEFBHE
A-AEEVERERSEE EREKR
mh ok E At 5 A AR -

BRAOBBRT  AEBELHEHY
BHER  AEEYBERERFBHNE
EHMBRERMT0 - FBEERHBEE
EREREEELE -

188

(0)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group provided financial guarantees to
bank in respect of mortgage facilities granted to customers. The loan
facilities granted by the financial institutions were RMB2,500,969,000
(2022: RMB2,956,845,000), of which was fully utilised by the customers.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over the guarantees.

The Group does not provide financial guarantees except for limited
circumstances, details of the Group's financial guarantees are included
in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements. All guarantees are
approved by the directors and senior management.

ESIERABR /AT Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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27. HEitEAFIE s Siz$€ XFE 27. OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND
;'I' E Fﬁ ACCRUALS (Continued)

© (&) (©)  (Continued)

HHRERREOHERBEREEEERE The financial guarantee contracts are measured at the higher of the
BRNHERSEINGR R T RABW ECL allowance and the amount initially recognised less the cumulative
AsBEzENRSETE -BPEE amount of income recognised. The ECL allowance is measured by
BERERDBEBAEFESERREE estimating the cash shortfalls, which are based on the expected
B MRSERDBEEERAA (B payments to reimburse the holders (i.e., the financial institutions) for a
TEREE) EENERBROREMNK credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to
MBRAEEEHREEBA (BIEF) I receive from the debtors (ie., the customers). During the year, a ECL
AmEMEBEMEEN - FR - AR allowance of RMB1,164,000 (2022: RMB8,755,000 was provided) was
EPMBMAEE BRI EEIBHRE reversed as a result of a deterioration of the financial position of the
EEEB AR 1,1640007T (20226 : &F customers.

ARG 7550007T) °

28. SHAE 28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
AEECHAUATHRZEBANEGHNE The Group has recognised the following revenue-related contract
f& - liabilities:

2023 F 20226

2023 2022

ARETR ARETE

RMB’000 RMB'000

YIS E TR GRIA Receipts in advance for sale of properties 1,162,247 2,513,734
NEBIRBE M HEE S HFTET W E The Group receives payments from customers based on billing
KAEPWEGRIE - BB MEE schedules as established in the property sale contracts. Payments are
EENEIT 2 BIHE - usually received in advance under the contracts which are from the

sale of properties.
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29. 5t BER1T R H{th{& =K 29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS
2023 F 024
2023 2022
BERFI= AMA AR¥TRT EBRAE IHE ARETT
Effective Effective
interest INEEN
rate Maturity RMB’000 rate Maturity RMB'000
i Current
RITER—FEAF  Bankloans — secured RER/
2024
On demand/ 203 F
5.15%-13% 2024 2,713,338  5.25%-13% 2023 1,339,270
HtEHX —AEA  Otherloans — secured BRER/
2024
On demand/ 20234
7.7%-14% 2024 1,299,533 9.2%-14% 2023 299,800
N+ —EDER Subtotal — current 4,012,871 1639070
FEENER Non-current
RITER—HEAE  Bankloans — secured WUER
20306
- - - 5.15%-7.15%  2024-2030 1,623,192
HtEHX —AEF  Otherloans — secured WUER
20306
- - - 12%-125%  2024-2030 600,000
et —FERNER Subtotal — non-current = 2,223,192
@it Total 4,012,871 3,862,262

2022 5
2022
ARBTT
RMB'000

2023 F
2023

AR®T R
RMB’000

V= Analysed into:
EERITER Bank loans repayable
—ilﬁjﬁzgﬂz Within one year or on demand 2,713,338 1,339,270
F_F In the second year = 139,715
E=ZhF (BEEERSF) In the third to fifth years, inclusive = 515,930
AFUE Beyond fifth years - 967,547
NEt Subtotal 2,713,338 2,962,462
EEHEAMER Other borrowings repayable
—FASRER Within one year or on demand 1,299,533 299,800
E_F In the second year = 600,000
FZEZhF (BREEEMRT) In the third to fifth years, inclusive = -
NEF Subtotal 1,299,533 899,800
#st Total 4,012,871 3,862,262
190 SESIEIRAMRZAF]  Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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REEZETRITREMEFTIATS
FTRERA KR

(i) BHRAEBERBREHARAEEDL
B A R #1,432,714,000 7T (2022
£ AR 836,492,000 7T) B
ER B A H &/ i (5
19)

iy BEHRAEBEEHEBEARE
1,378,604,000 7C (2022 F : AR
1,013,906,000 7T.) H) 7E 32 ¥ % (M
££20)

i) EHASEBR@BAAEBARE
417,365,000 7C (20224 : AR ¥
214,547,00070) MFIEHEMNE
% ITE (isE21)

v BEHRASBEEEHLEEARE
1,199,579,000 7T (2022 4F : AR ¥
1,199,579,000 7T ) K 3% & ¥ % (B
14)

v HEALAEEEEAEARE
6,471,000 (20225 : AR ¥
6,471,000 7T) B9 7H & W s

v BEAEEEEREARE
8,301,000 (20224 : &) ¥

wi) MBERRBEM|AEBERNET
P /8 2 B O R ©

AEERmEARM3757,6380007T
(20224 + ANRM3614,1340007T) ~ A
R #255,233,0007T (20224F : AR¥E
248,128,000 7T) KY IR 1T & H M & 5K 5 7))
NWARB RZETE -

MR2023F 128318 K XNEHRITR
H b 18 7 A R ¥ 2,072,688,000 7T (2022
F B)RAEESZAMEARE+T A
IEnBEBEIEARDAEE -

R2023F 12318 AEBKREEE
AR 4258 A A R #51,170,243,000 7T (2022
FEB)NETRITERK -

Notes:

Certain of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are secured or
guaranteed by:

(i) pledges over the Group’s land held for development for sale
with an aggregate carrying amount at the end of the reporting
period of RMB1,432,714,000 (2022: RMB836,492,000) (note 19);

(if) pledges over the Group's properties under development with
an aggregate carrying amount of RMB1,378,604,000 (2022:
RMB1,013,906,000) (note 20);

(ifi) pledges over the Group's completed properties held for sale
with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB417,365,000 (2022:
RMB214,547,000) (note 21);

(iv)  pledges over the Group’s investment properties with an
aggregate carrying amount of RMB1,199,579,000 (2022:
RMB1,199,579,000) (note 14);

(v) pledges over the Group's right of rental income with an
aggregate carrying amount of RMB6,471,000 (2022:
RMB6,471,000);

(vi)  pledges over the Group's property, plant and equipment with
an aggregate carrying amount of RMB8,301,000 (2022: nil); and

(vil)  pledges over the Group's equity interests in certain subsidiaries
as at the end of the reporting period.

The Group’s bank and other borrowings with carrying amounts of
RMB3,757,638,000 (2022: RMB3,614,134,000), RMB255,233,000 (2022:
RMB248,128,000) are denominated in RMB and United States dollars,
respectively.

The cross defaulted bank and other borrowings amounted to
RMB2,072,688,000 (2022: Nil) are classified as current liabilities from
non-current liabilities in the Group's consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group failed to repay certain bank loans
with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB1,170,243,000 (2022: Nil).
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29. 5t BRITREMERK -

it - (#)

() 2023FE N A2H HEAQXRET
M B AR 2 EEEREENRT
EH (RG] EEREZERERET
R ARER (DEBRD) - S R—K1{E
gar((Exra) R re ARE
15000 B & o 2 @AM E K B
ARIEBMB AR MELAREER
BENEIEREASEABEHDARE
15450 B & T °

RIpEHR®% - HR2024F2H238
RUEERFIRILENIT AR RHET
WEAREERETEREAERFE
AR 15450 B & TT ©

) R2023F12A8H  —REEEEN
RI([BEEBERQA]) AAARHEEW
BAREREBEERMREEERUSD
REFRDR -BEEELAAEKROMEM
MEBAREEAREEERASERE
SR E N ANREE394008 8T ¢ &)
BEEEARHBENBARRERS
MEFRNE TEESREELIBES
HEMBZHE  ZTEEAZERE-
HEGAUERRMLAEBRS ZRSE
AR DTEESTH o

30. BEERE

29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(e) On 2 November 2023, an enforcement case related to a trust loan (the
“Case”) was submitted to the Middle Civil Court of Dongguan,
Guangdong (R A R H & AR IERT) (the “Court’) against
certain subsidiaries of the Company relating to a past-due pledged
loan lent by a trust company (the “Trust Company”) with a principal
amount of RMB150.00 million, requiring the relevant subsidiaries of
the Company to repay the Trust Company the outstanding principal
and interests of the trust loan amounting to approximately RMB154.50
million.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 23 February 2024,
the case was decided and enforced by the Court that certain
subsidiaries of the Company should repay the loan with a principal
and interests of the trust loan amounting to approximately RMB154.50
million.

) On 8 December 2023, a civil legal proceeding concerning a loan
dispute has been filed by an asset management company (the “Asset
Management Company”) due to the breach of loan repayment by the
relevant subsidiaries of the Company. The Asset Management
Company requested (i) the relevant subsidiaries to repay the
outstanding principal of the loan together with accrued interests
amounting to approximately RMB394.00 million; and (ii) the Asset
Management Company shall have the priority in compensation over
the proceeds from the auction or sale of certain assets or equity
interests pledged by the relevant subsidiaries for the loan. The civil
legal case proceeding is still in progress as of the date of approval of
the consolidated financial statements.

30. SENIOR NOTES

2023 & 2022 5
2023 2022
ARETx ARBEF T
RMB’000 RMB'000

2023 F B R B 2023 Senior Notes
FiNG7A Principal 762,863 731,729
B Interest 145,680 40,944
1@zt Total 908,543 772,673

2022 5
2022
ARBFIT
RMB'000

2023 &
2023

AR®T
RMB’000

DA Analysed into:
—FRNEEEAS Principal repayable within one year 762,863 731,729
192 ESZERAEBRZAE  Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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M2021E7 228 KARRIBEITAS
48 %8 /138,000,000 7T (M AR
951,320,000 70) BB £ Z & ([ 2022 F 18
REE] ERFEFEI25%E - WK
20227 A21 BE|H -

R2022F7A218  KRAGBE BT
N4 485 5 107,600,000 F T (H) A R #E
716,554,00070) ~ FREF T 125% T B &

MN2023F7 208 R BN ELEERE
(M20B3FBEZE]) TR BREL
AR A R A SR8/ 2022 FE 5%
EiR - 5T - N$ 8 5107,600,0003%
TLHI0NFEAZBW S mER
7K 4 %830,400,000 3 JTL B B EAE S ©

HE2023F1N2ANABIEFE X2 R
F B 4858 5 128,148,000 E 7T (H) AR UK
908,543,0007T) HI 203 FE A ZHED R
20237 A20BEIH - WEEMEE -
ZERAIMNFE RSB AL E ERE
S EBEMEE NAELOS N -

R2023F12A3HEREEZGZA VT
WEBEAE - AEEIWARERE2023F
BEZENER S RFIESE 131,983,000
Er (HER AR 9357360007T) °

MMHERARBRBERENZTA
FRETSZLHEE a8 - AR B AEER
HHBAEASRRELETNED
B (R2BMERNRE) ME=ED
HHIR Rt BRI ME - BEE 2 Ak
O EARE -

REBNERRBIAETIE LA
AR RE T EB R R AREIERLR -

Notes:

On 22 July 2021, the Company issued senior notes (“2022 Senior
Notes”) with an aggregate principal amount of US$138,000,000
(approximately RMB951,320,000) bearing interest at 12.5% per annum
and due on 21 July 2022.

On 21 July 2022, the Company completed an exchange offer by
issuing senior notes ("2023 Senior Notes”) with an aggregate principal
amount of US$107,600,000 (equivalent to RMB716,554,000) bearing
interest at 12.5% per annum and due on 20 July 2023 to exchange the
2022 Senior Notes with same principal amount. Upon completion, the
2022 Senior Notes with principal amount of US$107,600,000 were
cancelled and the remaining principal amount of US$30,400,000 were
settled in full.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the 2023 Senior Notes with
an aggregate principal and interest amount of US$128,148,000
(approximately RMB908,543,000) which matured on 20 July 2023
without any settlement. Such non-payment of interest or overdue
principal have caused an event of default under the senior notes
agreements.

Subsequent to 31 December 2023 and up to the date of approval of
the consolidated financial statements, the Group did not repay
principal and interest in total of US$131,983,000 (equivalent to
RMB935,736,000) for 2023 Senior Notes.

The Company, at its option, can redeem all or a portion of the senior
notes at any time prior to the maturity date at a pre-determined
redemption price (principal amount plus applicable premium) plus
accrued and unpaid interest up to the redemption date, as set forth in
the written agreements between the Company and the trustees of
the senior notes.

The senior notes of the Group are denominated in United States
dollars and are secured by pledges over the equity interests of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.
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31.

194

TR EBRE 31. PROVISION FOR LAND APPRECIATION TAX
2023 2022 F
2023 2022
ARBTR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
R1A1E At 1 January 675,357 637,404
RFERIBIERANIE (A 170)  Charged to the statement of profit or loss
during the year (hote 10) 51,734 50,140
FRHFR Payment during the year (63,891) (12,187)
R12A31H At 31 December 663,200 675,357
BIER1994F 1 A1 B AR L i According to the requirements of the Provisional Regulations of the

BT E T IB R E R 199551 A 27
H A4 9 R B L b 3 (A B 1T K ) B B
A R E R SR EERE i
FRE BFREMNBREEENTE
W %5 29 78 122 38 (B RE #Y 30% & 60% 2 3 B
WL IRER  WHELEEBEEE
V) IS ERE T B 1B 7] F1R TR B 48 5H 20%
BIBRHN o

AEECDRETBEEBREEE AR
ZHE  EETRAEL S E T B

ERTHBRENABRAANREEREY
XRBEARTRET  HBEERAY
AETRERBEOEERLER

PRC on LAT effective from 1 January 1994, and the Detailed
Implementation Rules on the Provisional Regulations of the PRC on
LAT effective from 27 January 1995, all gains arising from the sale or
transfer of state-owned land use rights, buildings and their attached
facilities in Chinese Mainland are subject to LAT at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% of the appreciation value, with an
exemption provided for the sale of ordinary residential properties if
their appreciation values do not exceed 20% of the sum of the total
deductible items.

The Group has estimated and made a provision for LAT according to
the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are subject to the determination
by the tax authorities upon completion of the property development
projects and the tax authorities might disagree with the basis on
which the provision for LAT is calculated.

SESHEMRAR AR Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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32, IRIEFRIE
RERMELCHBEERBEEHNT -

32. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year

are as follows:

BEEHBEEE Deferred tax liabilities
TR EH Wi
REM-IRE AARE mEEH
MEMEE mEL DNREAR
Arising from
Arising from prepayment Fair value
revaluation of of land adjustments
investment appreciation from
properties tax acquisition Total
ARBT R ARBT R AR®T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R202%1 818 At 1 January 2022 142,907 2,949 21,645 167,501
RERIBRERANE, Charged/(credited) to the
(5t A) (Btat10) statement of profit or loss
during the year (note 10) (61,463) 3,046 - (58,417)
72022F 12 A31H K% At31 December 2022 and
203F1 1R 1 January 2023 81,444 5,995 21,645 109,084
5 W18 2 7] (M7 38) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) (4,406) - (11,639) (16,045)
HEREBERZE Disposal of a joint venture - - (10,006) (10,006)
RERIBRERANT A Credited to the statement of
(Kizz10) profit or loss during the year
(note 10) (17,679) (5,184) - (22,863)
2023F 12 A31H At 31 December 2023 59,359 811 - 60,170
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32.

196

B IE (2) 32. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)
BELEREEE Deferred tax assets
Sl T 50
& THIBE
E’JES%EF@FE T B i T 7 A
Arising from Arising from
losses available provision
for offsetting of land
against future appreciation
taxable profits tax Total
ARBTFT ARETFT ARBFTT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R202%F1A1H At 1 January 2022 9611 159,351 168,962
RERBREAGIR),FHA  (Charged)/credit to the statement of profit
(B 10) or loss during the year (note 10) 9611) 9488 (123)
R20234%1 818 At 1 January 2023 - 168,839 168,839
HEWB AR (H:E38) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) - (15,383) (15,383)
MNERBZEEAFTA (AL 10)  Credited to the statement of profit or loss
during the year (note 10) - 12,344 12,344
R2023F 128318 At 31 December 2023 - 165,800 165,800

R2023F 124318 AEBEEFE RN
EXENADABNEEEAARE
793,531,000 7T (2022 F + A R #& 233,379,000
L) EAREEEANTEREER
F - AREKEEEEBERGRNRRER
TlmF o WERZEEIBRRRLERIE
BE AAERBEFER AT K8
AR e B AN FIIEETE -

Eilt » REEAS TN EANMK T
RZEWNBRARIBE2008F1 A1HEE
ERAEFDIRBRESBSIENT - A
SERBERABE A% 10% °

2023 F K 2022F 12 A31H  AEE
I 48 k72 A B R AR ST B9 BT B R R B B
- FE 0 F 89 AR B 22 1) BT FE A ) TR A0 A
BMRIELERIE - ARAEERAE  ZE
MBS A B A B R KA g DR 52 5
&AH 202312318 BRFPER
tﬁﬁt%@ﬂﬁ’]&ﬁ*ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁiﬂ?ﬁttﬁ@*’

BEEFHBEEENEREHBEAGRNA
AR 8167335300070 (2022F + AREE
1,744,324,0007C) °

The Group had unutilised tax losses arising in Chinese Mainland of
RMB793,531,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB233,379,000)
that can be carried forward for five years from the year in which the
losses arose for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets had not
been recognised in respect of these losses as it was not considered
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the tax
losses could be utilised.

The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in
respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. The applicable
rate is 5% or 10% for the Group.

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the
Group's subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future.
The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately
RMB1,673,353,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB1,744,324,000).

SESHEMRAR AR Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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33. A 33. SHARE CAPITAL
fi% 12 Shares
2023 F 20224
2023 2022
ARBTRT ARETFET
RMB’000 RMB'000
VERE Authorised:
10,000,000,000 f% & Az T 1B 10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of
0018 7T 2 i ig HK$0.01 each 90,141 90,141
EBITRER - Issued and fully paid:
5,254,000,000 B& & I& E (B 5,254,000,000 ordinary shares of
0018 7T 2 il g HK$0.01 each 47,972 47,972
RARIRAZE BT A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as

follows:

EEREE EBREE

Nominal
Number of value of
ordinary shares ordinary shares
ARET T
RMB'000
JETE Authorised:
202261 A1 H -~ 20224 At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022,
12H318 20231 H1B R 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023
2023 12 A31H 10,000,000,000 90,141
555
EEREE ERTRAE R RE st
Number of
ordinary shares Issued Share
inissue capital premium Total
ARBTR  ARMTR ~ ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R202F1 818 At 1 January 2022 5,254,000,000 47972 843471 891,443
W FRERE 2021 final dividend - - (106,351) (106,351)
20226124318 + 2023F  At31 December 2022, 1 January 2023
1ATBR203%F12831H  and 31 December 2023 5,254,000,000 47972 737,120 785,092
B E Share options
RRRERET S RIBEERET SR Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options
02 B 2 FFIBE N R A B R MY granted under the share option scheme are included in note 34 to
FE34 the consolidated financial statements.
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34.

198

BB e fE 5T 2

R A T 20195 1R ) — B IR T )
(TBRAMEENBREE]) - UB
AREEEERGRN EHERBNE B
SEEREIMRED - ERAMRE
AR B2 A ERSREREAA
AEFRALEAMES -

HRAFREBERERER B R 201954
Be B4R - W 202091 A 16 BH @ °
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@: BREOERENZHTREHHE SR
0RANER - ERHERENITERH
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FARBEERAFEESHE —RETE
RARITEZ BEWT -

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme in 2019 (the “Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group's operation. Eligible participates of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme include the Company's directors and other employees of
the Group.

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme became effective on 6 April 2019
and expired on 16 January 2020.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 10 days
from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of
RMB1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the granted
options commences from the respective first vesting date up to the
fifth anniversary date of it. The exercise price of each option granted
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be 50% to 70% of the
final offer price (i.e. HK$1.93 on 16 January 2020).

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme during the year:

2023 F 2022 FF
2023 2022

InRE 15 It 15
THEE BREZE TEE  BREHE
Weighted Number Weighted Number
average of share average of share
exercise price options  exercise price options
BT TR BT TR
HKS ‘000 HKS ‘000
R1A1H At 1 January 1.0488 51,400 1.1092 65,500
F R UK Forfeited during the year 1.3510 (1,150) 13294 (14,100)
R12A31H At 31 December 1.0419 50,250 1.0488 51,400

HE2023F M2022F12A31HIEFE -

No share options were exercised during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

B AR T -
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34, IR E () 34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
REEER - MARITEZBEREZITE The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
BRITEBRET outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
BREHE TEE TS
Number of share options Exercise price Exercise period
2023 F 20224 BRABT
2023 2022 HKS per share

39,100,000 39,100,000 0.9650 16-01-2020 2 15-01-2025

16-01-2020 to 15-01-2025

4,550,000 4,550,000 1.2545  16-01-2020 2 15-01-2025

16-01-2020 to 15-01-2025

3,800,000 4,950,000 13510  16-01-2020 % 15-01-2025

16-01-2020 to 15-01-2025

1,400,000 1,400,000 13510  17-07-2020 & 16-07-2025

17-07-2020 to 16-07-2025

1,400,000 1,400,000 13510  04-03-2021 % 03-03-2026

04-03-2021 to 03-03-2026

50,250,000 51,400,000
HE203F12A31BILEE  K&EE The Group recognised a share option expense of RMB3,022,000
TSR B AR A 7 2 A R 3,022,000 7T (2022 (2022: RMB7,266,000) during the year ended 31 December 2023.

£ AR 72660007T) °
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34, BBGHERTEl »)
BRERE ST
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RMEEKR BREHSAAHAEEAER
HEET &
FOEBRE - BEARGEEEARSE
T BBITE R ARITE 2 BRI E
% 77 50,250,000 % AN 2 &) E8 S0
EEAMNIR AN (40 B B 77
47,540,000 7T (FH& 7 52,356,000 7T) °

BEAS

Vesting date

REESE RS (HEEEERH]) B Az @ ERRBHEZE
EEEFEBERHEEBFEAZBH

At any time on or after the relevant vesting date (the “Relevant Vesting Date”) to the date
immediately before the first anniversary of the Relevant Vesting Date

REAEBERPREEBFRE RN ENEMERE
EREEFRBEEHE _ABFHAZBH

At any time on or after the date falling on the first anniversary of the Relevant Vesting Date to the
date immediately before the second anniversary of the Relevant Vesting Date

REESE R PE RS E Bz BN EREHEZE
EERNMEERPE=EBEF Az B H

At any time on or after the date falling on the second anniversary of the Relevant Vesting Date to
the date immediately before the third anniversary of the Relevant Vesting Date

RIEERE R PE=EBAF A E Az BN ERREHEZE
EEEFEBEEHENEBSFHA 2 BH

At any time on or after the date falling on the third anniversary of the Relevant Vesting Date to the
date immediately before the fourth anniversary of the Relevant Vesting Date

RIEMREE PR MEBF R E A BN EMKER
EERAERBERHEREBFHAZ B

At any time on or after the date falling on the fourth anniversary of the Relevant Vesting Date to
the date immediately before the fifth anniversary of the Relevant Vesting Date

AN AR A 50,250,000 1M AR AT

B K&
XAl AR

issue expense).

SESHEMRAR AR Huijing Holdings Company Limited

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The share option vesting method is as follows:

BRETESE
ARG 2
BSES L
Maximum
percentage of
underlying shares
in respect of

the options

may be vested

20%

20%

20%

20%

20%

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 50,250,000
share options outstanding under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.
The exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under
the present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of
50,250,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional
share capital of RMB47,540,000 (equivalent to HK$52,356,000) (before



ACEAN

NN

BA 15 R R P 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BUZ20234F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

S
R
50,

/NG

N

N

HN»)&F

N
&

(a)
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SHRAaMBHmRLERY  REE
5

7 %w%h%ﬁ% EAN/NCIES )

50,0007 (& RAT{E 2 BEARHE - 491 7R
ERHBEETRMANI096% °

ERAFELEBEFENRBESER
PR ERaEHRED -

EEREEE

R4 P B2 35k K 5 AR B K 2 Y
MEARMEHSEMA - S48
BB ARARPEARS
Al - 15 10% B9 BR B 18 40 FI B =05 5F
BHHFH ERELEBREINH
50%sE A& A - RIKIER P BIEAIR
NABREM B AR A E IR 4B AP
HETRH EZTABKEBETA
TR 8 B 18 Sl B I N AR AN (M 82
BEHEBTB IR 25%FZME
) o REERTARERTEBH
SN - BTMERRESIREDIR °

e
RERERELRIBREHEEEAES -

REARDE QR ERFAE
H=EAADIK
ANEARERHNESEEAD
I 8 7N 5% [ At AR ¥ 55 A W B B
RA AR A TEORE -

BEAXf#E
RSB AN 4R U R IR
REmELH IR

At the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements,
the Company had 50,250,000 share options outstanding under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, which represented approximately
0.96% of the Company’s shares in issue as at the date.

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for
the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

(a) Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the articles of
association of the subsidiaries established in the PRC, each of
the relevant subsidiaries is required to appropriate 10% of its
net profits after tax, as determined under the PRC generally
accepted accounting principles, to the statutory surplus
reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of its registered
capital. Subject to certain restrictions set out in the relevant
PRC regulations and in the articles of association of the
relevant subsidiaries, the statutory surplus reserve may be
used either to offset losses, or to be converted to increase the
share capital provided that the balance after such conversion
is not less than 25% of the registered capital. The reserve
cannot be used for purposes other than those for which it is
created and is not distributable as cash dividends.

(b) Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents reserve arising pursuant to the
reorganisation.

(c) Distribution to the equity owners of subsidiaries
upon the reorganisation
Distribution to the equity owners of subsidiaries represents
the consideration paid by the Group to the equity owners in
respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries pursuant to the
reorganisation.

(d) Capital reserve

The Group's capital reserve represents the gain or loss arising
from the acquisition of non-controlling interests.
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6. EEEKIELERIEZNE S 36. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH

BEZMBLT MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
TREINANEBEHERERFEERES The following table lists out details of the Group's subsidiaries that
([FEZERER]DMBARMNEFE - TX have material non-controlling interests (“NCI”). The summarised
W B BB B R A R ] K 85 financial information disclosed below is before any inter-company
Al © eliminations.
SESRHAE 2RER  BHEALR
Dongguan Huijing Fuyang Chengdu
East Automobile Xinggang®  Project Companies*
2023 F 2023 2022 WF
2023 y) 2022 2022
ARETT T ARETFT
RMB'000 { RMB'000 RMB'000
FEREREDN NCI percentage 59.2% 59.2% 49% 49%
PREFEREROER  Loss for the year
B# allocated to NC (51) (481) (204,326) (167581)
RBEBHEERERN  Accumulated balances on NC
Z5te atreporting date 350,261 350312 (5,4898) 63,440
Wiz Revenue = - - 2559
BRx Total expenses (85) 815) (416992) (344562)
FRER Loss for the year (85) (815) (416,992) (342,003)
ENZEBREE Total comprehensive loss
for the year (85) (815) (416992) (342,003)
RBEE Current assets 400,337 399,394 380,664 753
FrBEE Non-current assets 1 1 180,754 17681
RBaE Curtent liabilties (46,502) (45479) (482,276) (246,463)
FRPAG Non-current liabilties - - (33325) 3,000
BEEBMARS Net cash flows used in operating activities
MEFH (6) (72,121) (16,852) (43411)

REEDHARSREFE  Netcash flows used in investing activities - - - -
BEEDASHALTEFE  Netcash flows from financing activities = . . _

BeRALEEY Net decrease in cash and
BOER cash equivalents 6) (72121) (16852 @411

¢ AEEHZE203F12A3ALFES ‘ The Group disposed of Fuyang City Xinggang Properties Company
EEGTEBEEEARAA(REGE Limited ("Fuyang Xinggang"), Chengdu Lida Real Estate Development
B KELERMERERERAF Co, Ltd, Pujiang Gaoyu Xinda Real Estate Co,, Ltd and Pujiang Gaoyu
BIBERTEEEXARAREKET Zhongxinhai Real Estate Co., Ltd (together as “Chengdu Project
FETFPESEEERAR (KB Companies”) during the year ended 31 December 2023 (note 38).
#HEE AR (MFE3s) -

FARBDIFERERFEBENLERNBE L Most of the non-controlling interests during the year were contributed by the

disposed subsidiaries.
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37. WEE—=RTEBHREXNFL

|

HZ2023F12A31BLEE
R2023F 1 A48 REBEMEBILE =
U R S A R A B (14585
§81)100% ix e - IMINEERS - BRIEE —
THREMEREIN  MERETERE
BRETMELE At B=ERA K

BRmFESY TEREBSM  mMaW
BEE -SEEEMS  WERAA

R # 423,800,000 7T 2 7 Be & 14 25 B $E 1
WHE BB T A #AIEEREE

37. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY THAT IS NOT
A BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 December 2023

On 4 January 2023, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in
Dongguan Shangyi Clock Company Limited (“Shangyi Clock”) from
an independent third party. At the time of acquisition, Shanyi Clock
had not actively engaged in any business except for holding a piece
of land for property development and accordingly, in the opinion of
the directors, the acquisition of Shangyi Clock does not constitute a
business combination but an acquisition of assets. For accounting
purpose, the cost of acquisition of RMB423,800,000 has been
allocated to the following identifiable assets and liabilities of Shangyi
Clock as at the date of acquisition as follows:

ARBTT
RMB'000

Fris s & =5 E - Net assets acquired:
Wz HERHE Property, plant and equipment 4,991
FEFRBE A HEN i Land held for development for sale 424,721
ReRBEEED Cash and cash equivalents 1,403
EMERHIE  EeREFTER Other payables, deposits and accruals (7,315)
AHRFEERTE Total identifiable net assets 423,800
BRAKER=RENESRESTHOT Analysis of cash flows in respect of the acquisition of Shangyi Clock is
as follows:
ARBTIT
RMB'000

DHTWT Satisfied by:
RERE Cash consideration 423,800
WA FEHTER IR Prepayment made in prior years (423,800)
FrUR B3R & RIRTT 45 Cash and bank balances acquired 1,403
BIMERAFHE Total net cash inflow 1,403
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I}

38. HEMBE LT 38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
BZE2023F12A831HLLEE For the year ended 31 December 2023
2023 F
2023
HitaE AR¥T
Notes RMB’000
HEUNTSEMNEEFE Net assets disposed of:
W - BERZRE Property, plant and equipment 13 80
wEME Investment properties 14 150,000
mREE Intangible assets 16 161
R—KE 2 ENRE Investments in an associate 595
R—REELEMERE Investments in a joint venture 19,161
B IEEE Deferred tax assets 15,383
e Properties under development 558,903
FIELENERIME Completed properties held for sale 237,456
TR HIE - HEYRIAER EMEE  Prepayments, other receivables and other
assets 439,639
RekReFEY Cash and cash equivalents 2,567
B P ENERR Trade payables (384,705)
HMENRIE ZeREFER Other payables, deposits and accruals (214,556)
aHaE Contract liabilities (541,235)
EMSTHRE Provision for corporate income tax (126,353)
TG ER R Provision for land appreciation tax (61,531)
BERIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 32 (16,045)
FEERR A A Non-controlling interests (39,113)
40,407
HEMBARMNEE Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (33,407)
W B B4R Total consideration 7,000
AT AR I Satisfied by:
BRe Cash -
FTAE M FE W R IE A9 FE R B Consideration receivable included in
other receivables 7,000
7,000
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38. HEMEB QT (&)
HZEZ2023F12A31BLEFEE (&)
ReMReSEYWREFEOMUOT

39.

RerE
PN E IR & RIRTTHER

38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued)

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents is as
follows:

2023 fF
2023

AR®T
RMB’000

Cash consideration -
Cash and bank balances disposed of (2,567)

FFAREEEMEREREN
fﬁ@&iﬁ@ﬁﬁ%/llbﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included
in cash flows from investing activities (2,567)

BZE2022F12A31BLEE
2022 F WL ENBRA -

FAnERERME

(a)

FEFERERS

TR AEEBRBEBEBHABM
HELRHNFERAEEERTEE
EZIERESEIND R AE (2022
F: AR ¥34,000,0007T) K&
(20224 © AR ™ 34,000,0007T) °

For the year ended 31 December 2022

There is no disposal of subsidiaries in 2022.

39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS
(@) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities of nil (2022: RMB34,000,000) and
nil (2022: RMB34,000,000), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for office premises.
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9. IFARERERMEE ) 39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(b) REETHEENABED (b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities
STESIT
HEAE BARE RH AR
Interest-
bearing bank
Lease Senior and other
liabilities notes borrowings
AREF T AREFIT AREFIT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R202F1A1H At 1 January 2022 2012 915,930 3,596,241
FERAY Interest expenses 1883 123,986 -
NE Additions 34,000 - -
Em Redemption - (54,523) -
MEBREREELNEH Changes from financing cash flows (7,540) (282,631) 266,021
B 5B Exchange realignment 2 69,911 -
R202F1N A3 R At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
2023F1A1H 30,377 772,673 3,862,262
FBF L Interest expenses 1,552 115,580 -
NE Additions - - -
RERSREEENES) Changes from financing cash flows 6,717) - 150,287
BE i 8 B Exchange realignment 324 20,290 322
R2023F 12 A31H At 31 December 2023 25,536 908,543 4012871
() HERESRHLE (c) Total cash outflow for leases
STARERERZHER SR The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of
WERIT cash flows is as follows:

2023 & 2022 5
2023 2022

ARETR AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000

BMEERBN Within financing activities 6,717 7,540
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40.

41.

B R R
RIBEIAR - AR TRARR

RAREEMEZPREDN
RBRMERRITER

40.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

The Group had the following financial guarantees as at the end of
the reporting period:

2022 5
2022
ARBFIT
RMB'000

2023 F
2023

AR®T
RMB’000

Guarantees given to banks in

connection with mortgage facilities
provided to customers of the

Group's properties

2,500,969 2,956,845

izt -

AEBGETRITAAEEFIEHENET
MEZPELNIZBREREER - RIZE
REHFRR  WEPENNRBFOA - A
AEERREEEROEPRNRITHKREE
RIRA S RAEMEETME R -

R Ed 2P MEMELRTRITERR
BERNERR  BEEPEONRIBHN
R IRITEREERTEE  LKBRAA
GEEEE S iE

AEBENERBEXHBRZBEFEES
RMEDELRELYEMEEEL BEA
REFPHANBDER —EMEFN -

BERR

AR R BIRT R E RN EEER
ZHE RRRAMBREMES
192202129

41.

Note:

The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted by
certain banks to the customers of the Group’s completed properties held for
sale. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantee arrangements, in case of default
on mortgage payments by the customers, the Group is responsible to repay
the outstanding mortgage principals together with any accrued interest and
penalties owed by the defaulted customers to those banks.

Under the above arrangement, the related properties were pledged to the
banks as collateral for the mortgage loans, upon default on mortgage
repayments by these customers, the banks are entitled to take over the legal
titles and will realise the pledged properties through open auction.

The Group’s guarantee period starts from the start of grant of the relevant
mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance and registration of property
ownership certificates to the purchasers, which will generally be available
within one to two years after the customers take possession of the relevant
properties.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group's assets pledged for the Group’s bank and other
borrowings are included in notes 15,19, 20, 21 and 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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42, FiE
REBMNREHAREG AT A LERE :

42. COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following contractual commitments at the end
of the reporting period:

2022 FF
2022
ARBFIT
RMB'000

2023 F
2023

AR®T R
RMB’000

BERTHE R Contracted, but not provided for:
e Properties under development 1,886,771 2,379,630
TERIREYE Investment properties under construction 296,553 313,829
FRWEEERBEBE LI Purchase of land through acquisition of
assets and liabilities 283,975 480,560
st Total 2,467,299 3,174,019

43. BT X%
(a) BRERA BIRS IR H iy J5 AT R
B 59N+ 7R S B AN 4F ¥ B
ETATEARS

feln e o EEHI AT

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the
following material transactions with related parties during the

year:

2022 5
2022
ARETFIT
RMB'000

2023 &
2023

AR®T
RMB’000

Companies controlled by Mr Lun Ruixiang:

BEKAR Construction costs 23,555 3,584
WMAEHEMT Office rental expenses 426 155
ERERX Management fee expense 23,056 10,014
BEERBRA Management fee income 434 424
HEMX Selling expense 20,553 2,647
KERX Operating expense 1,067 9,100
SEDE: Joint venture:
FMEHKA Interest income - 15,957
ZEXRSHTIBRBESTHRABED These transactions were carried out in accordance with terms
R FIR IR A B IR S R 13 1T - and conditions in accordance with the terms mutually agreed

208

by both parties.
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43.

44.

45.

BREARS @

43.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) XEBEXTEEBASNHE (b) Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group

2023 2022 4F

2023 2022

ARETR ARBTET

RMB’000 RMB'000

e BB NREYER Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 8,403 14,420

BB IEAT Discretionary bonuses 477 33

J/X st e 45 S5 1) B AR AR B =2 Equity-settled share option expense 1,619 3,965

RIS EIHER Pension scheme contributions 290 574
XNTEEERBAEN Total compensation paid to

i 15 MR key management personnel 10,789 18,992

REZHHME - FHFBEARN
,v-"?/:.\ﬁﬁ%i&?%WH‘SO

BEERNI SR T A

R2023F K2022F 12 A31H - BIEA
FEFABZZMEERATEFE
SN AEERFBSREERAEY A
RHENARY RN SREERSREE -

EMIANATFERQFEE
& 4%

2023 F K 2022F 12 A31H  AEE
THRTAMEEE (RZAFEFTARB
B OREEREBEAZEERN BEQF
EeEER

EREHE  ERKE—REALED
RUHOR - B 5B - 5t ATEA R
A A BUSE R AN S BE
E RS RRTES BIEAER

AR BN S BEE B

SRS FHABTREMBERD
R 5 HE MRS RETANA

FEEHEmEMES

44,

45.

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 8
to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, other than the financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss which are measured at fair value, all
financial assets and liabilities of the Group were financial assets and
financial liabilities at amortised cost, respectively.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of the
Group's financial instruments, other than financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and senior notes, reasonably approximate to
their fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of receivable from a
joint venture, trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets, cash and bank
balances, trade payables, financial liabilities included in other
payables, deposits received and accruals, the current portion of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

£} 2023 Annual Report 209



AR e BT R P R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B2 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

210

AEBETRMTIAQXATVEFERKERESF
HUBKEEFTENRAMEHAEE
E-RABMBHRERRNERVBEE
H-NEBEMERH  QARMBIE R
TENBEZFETON  LWREME
RANEIEHARE - HELRAEE
B B

MAEBERGAE M EARRNRALIEUAR
FEFAENEEREE FERITEHE
fhfESRIEBN A D MR EE R E QN FE
HE TEETABIR - BELEZER
B B AR 935,736,000 7T (2022 4F © A
R 782,671,0007T) * WEBTERF IR -

TREENBENRATFEREERS
ZBHERR S CRATBRHERIN)
RRAIRB T AN SEARK -

NENTERBRR T RIEMLE AFE -

FRERITREMERZIEANHILLH A
FEBEBZAUER - FERRE EFE
HRERRUEN A TRRHE AR
KENRIBEARKIE R MEFTHE < 722023
FR202F12A3IB - AEBEH A
BT BIRITREMERZ KB EERE
fEATEAR Bt BRITREMER
BIERE I D 2 AFEREREERS -

The Group's corporate finance team headed by the finance manager
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the
fair value measurement of financial instruments. The corporate
finance team reports directly to the chief financial officer. At each
reporting date, the corporate finance team analyses the movements
in the values of financial instruments and determines the major
inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by the chief financial officer.

For the Group's assets and liabilities not measured at fair value in the
consolidated statement of financial position, the carrying amounts of
the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
approximated to their fair values and were determined as Level 3, and
the fair values of the senior notes were RMB935,736,000 (2022:
RMB782,671,000) and were determined as Level 3.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liguidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the
fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.
The Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 was assessed to
be insignificant and the fair values of the non-current portion of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings approximate to their
carrying amounts.
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45, SR TEMNMAFEERAFEE 45. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

[BER &)
ETBRAREZ AFEDERTS®RE
BT ELmESREZAFENER
BRI ERRIZEENBERMERAE
EQATFE RELABRFEELE
EeARRESBRA AHERMAME
HZ AT ATFE GIASRE T B RE)
MAFEHEBEEZS GIABRD) BAE
BAREHRZEBEZIGE -

AT RIFLTESEREBENEANTA
BEBARBEME

fh{E R

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of the listed equity investments are based on their
quoted market prices. The fair values of unlisted fund investments
are based on adjusted net assets approach by adjusting the book
value of assets and liabilities of the investees to their fair value. The
directors of the Company believe that the estimated fair values
resulting from the valuation technique, which are recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position, and the related
changes in fair values, which are recorded in profit or loss, are
reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate values at the
end of the reporting period.

Set out below is a summary of the significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of unlisted fund investments:

EXRTUBRBARE

Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs

FLMESKRE KREBIFEEX

Unlisted fund
investments

Adjusted net asset
approach

WERERRAMNEERBRBEZAFER
moEA 1% BB ETRESKREDN

NFAE AN, B A R 389,000 7T (2022
F: ARE#969,0007T) °

WIRERBIZEERBERN
FEHEFABREHEQTE
(ARMTFT)

Book value of assets and liabilities of
the investees adjusted to their fair
value (RMB'000)

43,046 96,888

A 1% increase/decrease in the fair values of assets and liabilities of
the investees would result in an increase/a decrease in the fair value
of the unlisted fund investments of RMB389,000 (2022: RMB969,000).

RERN A TFEFEEE=ANEFH0N The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 during
N the year are as follows:

2023 £ 20226

2023 2022

ARBTRT AREBTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

W1 ATE At 1 January 96,888 176,568
u% & Disposal = (19,423)

RIBZERNATELE Change in fair value recognised in

the profit or loss (56,300) (72,395)

(RIS Exchange realignment 2,458 12,138

®12A31H At 31 December 43,046 96,888
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45. M THN X FERRFE

B =)
PRV E

TRERMEESRTAZAVEFE
B

BAFEFTENEE !
72023 12H31H

AR®BTR
RMB’000

45. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group’'s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2023

ERATHERZAPERE

Fair value measurement using

RIEB™ %
ZR{E
Quoted prices
in active
markets
(F—#)
(Level 1)

EXAERE EXTAHE
WABE WABE
Significant Significant
observable unobservable
inputs inputs
(B=8) (B=#)
(Level 2) (Level 3)

BATEFABRZ Financial assets at fair value
CHEE through profit or loss
— FARARKE - — Listed equity investments,
N ] at fair value 1,265 = = 1,265
— HAIEEMELIRE © — Other unlisted fund
BRATE investments, at fair value = = 43,046 43,046
@t Total 1,265 = 43,046 44,311

7A2022F12H31H

As at 31 December 2022

ERTIREZ R VEFE

Fair value measurement usmg

WERDS
ZRE
Quoted prices
in active
markets
E—8R)

(Level 1)

ARBTT (
RMB'000

BEAABE EATAER
B A\ BUE B ABUE
Significant Significant
observable  unobservable

inputs inputs
(FE=/) (B=H)
(Level 2) (Level 3)

BAFEFABRZ Financial assets at fair value
TREE through profit or loss
— FTRAEE — Listed equity investments, at
BATE fair value 2515 - - 2,515
— HfIEEMESKE ©  — Other unlisted fund
BRAFE investments, at fair value - - 96,888 96,888
MEt Total 2515 - 96,888 99,403
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NEEEBHR(E)
HE2023F K 202F 12 A31BILEFE
CREERCRABHERNE —RRSE
R EEBEIAATEE  NEE
ASBEBHE=R -

AEENTESHITABRFEABRITR
HiEFRARRES RRITER - %ZFE
BTANEIEENRRAEENEE X
BEKED AKEEZREMESRE
ENBE NESRKERRE S EMN
R DERELBRKRERD -

AEEEHTAEMEENTIRRERER
MEEE  FERRERDE SRR
EERaYRESABRERNEER
R ABMEHN T

R = = b
AREBMAZOTSMNEEB AR - =
2 MR AP IEHRR M T 20 AN E
B ET BIRTT M E M AE K o AN SR B I fE
RiTESmT A MM EmRE - AEE
RAFBRITER R A ERE R AR
B o

R2023F 128318 MERITREAM
B IR AR hn, 5 1% K BB H
ERFAE  AAEERBIEN (R
BWEBEAFNEAY) BBRFEMER
VR E R D, N K AR 16,701,000
JC (20224 + AR™16,6150007C) °

EERRE
AEEEHERE - HEKERESHT
ARBFERMBENEDORRED - R

SRIAFHERSNARRLRTA
R0 -

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were no
transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2
and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and
financial liabilities.

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings and cash and bank balances. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group's operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise
directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are
interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The directors review and
agree policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to risk for changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group's interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments
to hedge interest rate risk. The Group manages its interest cost using
variable rate bank borrowings and other borrowings.

At 31 December 2023, if the interest rate of bank and other
borrowings had increased/decreased by 1% and all other variables
held constant, the profit before tax of the Group (assuming no
capitalisation of interest expenses), through the impact on floating
rate borrowings, would have decreased/increased by approximately
RMB16,701,000 (2022: RMB16,615,000).

Credit risk

The Group has established a policy to perform the assessment of
whether a financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, by considering the change in the risk of
default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument.
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46.

214

SREMEBEEHENRIKE E) 46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

BEEEBRFERND R
TRHFINRNZAINBREBEAEEEZE
BERAETHNEEDSZLTEAINES
EERR (RIEEEMBERS K AL
TERNAIERS B R B[R LB ERE
FHERE) LR EERAD R -

F2fMeBnemEENREAE -

7202312831 H

KE—FKABLEN  Receivable from ajoint venture

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which is
mainly based on past due information unless other information is
available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets.

As at 31 December 2023

12188
BHEERE 2HRHEERSR
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs

F1ER F2MB F3MER L5 % A5
Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total

ARBTFRT ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR AR®ETR

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

JEMHIR 382,341 - - = 382,341
B HEKER Trade receivables = = = 11,907 11,907
S ATEMFIE - 4 Financial assets included in

EAGRER E prepayments, other receivables and

BENEREE other assets 664,015 63,742 27,587 = 755,344
Be MRTHEH Cash and bank balances 126,160 = = = 126,160
5 Total 1,172,516 63,742 27,587 11,907 1,275,752

JESERABR /AR Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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46. TRIEMEEEHENBE (A 46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

EoEBERELEBENIR(E) Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)
720225128318 As at 31 December 2022

£ 2HBEHEESE
2-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs

F1BE& F 2R F3MBE L%
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
}\E“Wn ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000

RE—FRABLE  Receivable from ajoint venture

IR 381,664 - - - 381,664
Z S RMER Trade receivables - - - 21572 21572

S AFERZIE  Efh Financial assets included in
FEMFIE R H A prepayments, other receivables and

BENESREE other assets 1,087,980 - 2538 - 1,090,518
ReERRITEH Cash and bank balances 78268 - - - 78,268
st Total 1547912 - 2538 21572 1572022
ERETHERBTEATBNRE K Management makes periodic collective assessments for financial
MEKRREBEREMEENSREE B assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets
BRL & IAESRERTEE as well as individual assessments on the recoverability of other
fHh JE Wi SR TR Y BT R B o $§‘§T§121 receivables based on historical settlement records and past
RAEHEEBERRT ATENRIE experience. The Group recognises an allowance for financial assets
MERGFIEREMEENS /R é Eﬁé‘ included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets based
% WHATIE M R BB EIE (nE) # on 12-month ECLs and adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic
TTAHE - data, if any.
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46. TRIAMEBEIEBENRKE (®) 46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

REBESER Liquidity risk

AEEMEERRFEROMBEE - The Group's objectives are to maintain a prudent financial policy, to
HERRBEEZRDESLE  WUHR monitor liquidity ratios against risk limits and to maintain a
VEZEARIE  BMRAKEEEES contingency plan for funding to ensure that the Group maintains
ReAENERBESTE - sufficient cash to meet its liquidity requirements.

TEBESREE (UAEHORUMRIIBER The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of
EREE (BREREHNMNENZANRE the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted cash
BRBRF R ENFBEMNF)) RRE flows (including interest payments computed using contractual
HRNBEBBER AR AREFEAIFEE rates, based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and
EXNEFEENT : the earliest date that the Group could be required to repay, is as

followvs:

2023 &
2023
—FRAR RE=ZF
BRERX REZF "E  REEQL

Within one
year or on Inthe In the third Beyond
demand secondyear tofifthyear fifth years Total
ARBTT AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2 5N EER Trade payables 1,290,873 = - - 1,290,873
=t A E B (F 2038 - Finandial liabilities included in

BUZE KR other payables, deposits

BEARESRAR  received and accruals 806,728 = = = 806,728
HEAE Lease liabilities 5,445 5,411 8,985 5,695 25,536
PERTTREM  Interest-bearing bank and other

R borrowings 4,378,196 91,247 252,109 43,082 4,764,634
BAEE Senior notes 908,543 = = = 908,543
Bt Total 7,389,785 96,658 261,094 48,777 7,796,314
BB SHER ¢ Financial guarantees issued:
EaEReE Maximum amount guaranteed

(KizF40) (note 40) 2,500,969 = = - 2,500,969
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46. TRIEMEEEHENBE (A 46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

REBESER (&) Liquidity risk (Continued)

—F N
REX RAENRE FEEy
Within one

year or on Inthe Inthe third Beyond
demand  secondyear  to fifth year fifth years Total
ARBTT ARBTRT ARETRT ARBTRT AR®TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

2 S EISER Trade payables 1,342,089 - - - 1,342,089
ST AEARER FIE + Financial liabilities included in
BUIZE KT other payables, deposits

BEAMESRAR  received and accruals 675,720 - - - 675,720
HE&E Lease liabilities 5,162 5339 12,287 7,589 30377
STEIRITREM  Interest-bearing bank and other

R borrowings 2,013,108 914,972 1761535 1,116,326 5,805,941
BEZE Senior notes 772,673 - - - 772673
et Total 4,808,752 920311 1,773,822 1,123,915 8,626,300
B2 M B SIEIR ¢+ Financial guarantees issued:

EakEReE Maximum amount guaranteed

(HtF40) (note 40) 2,956,845 - - - 2956845
FRINAR A B SRR TR 20 FTil - EEE As explained in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the
FEUSKETEIFREVE THME - UiE R & Directors have adopted or plan to adopt certain measures in order to
ERBBELREeRERRALE#FEAEE improve the Group’s financial and cash flow positions and to
RFBELE - maintain the Group’s as a going concern.
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46. TRIEEEBERER @)

EXER
AEEEAEENTEBRRRELE
BFFEKLENREN RRFFRRENEARL
R PFHEBLLEREAERRE
B~

AEBEEBEEARE  TEHEBLESBR
MESHHEENEE AEERGHEH
BRRER IS - MR FRERE kB
ITHRA BT L ARE - REH
MEAEEBERZ HMEIABFREE
2023F M 2022F 12 AHIEFET &
Big=

AEBERFEEAGBLE (AIAKE
MERFRRAED AR BIEEAR -
ERFRBREAERITREMER &
AEELRHERERRS MRS EED
UAEZRHERE - RBEMRENEE

46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it
in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

The Group monitors capital using a net gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by the total equity of the Group. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, senior notes and lease
liabilities less cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash. The
gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

BELERNT -

2023 F 2022 5

2023 2022

AR¥T T ARBEF T

RMB’000 RMB'000

FEIRIT REAMMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 4,012,871 3,862,262
BEEE Senior notes 908,543 772,673
HEBE Lease liabilities 25,536 30,377
o IR MIRTTES Less: Cash and bank balances (126,160) (78,268)
B FEE Net debt 4,820,790 4,587,044
B 4aTE Total equity 525,419 1318671
FEEAMGLE Net gearing ratio 918% 348%

47. HEHREIR

R203FNANHZEEREYBR
FLEZH  AEBE T EERITRE
fth {8 SRIE #9302 XE £ Ry AR & e A I
BB AR 4 A R ¥ 319,480,000 7T °

218

47. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Subsequent to 31 December 2023 and up to the date of approval of
these consolidated financial statements, the Group had further
defaulted or cross defaulted a repayment for certain interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings as well as accrued interest in total of
approximately RMB319,480,000.

SESHEMRAR AR Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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48.

AR TR FAR TR

- %

BEMR  ARRPBMRRKEF L0

48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2023 &
2023

AR®T
RMB’000

2022 5
2022
ARET T
RMB'000

kRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSET
R—RMBRAANEE Investment in a subsidiary = -
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
BATEF AR EREE Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 42,570 84,523

TEATRRIE ~ H A FEWGRIE & Prepayments, other receivables

HpEE and other assets 4,331 5,294
W EE R RIFUA Amounts due from group companies 1,155,692 1,119,397
fﬁfi\&fﬁu%%{g% Cash and cash equivalents 32 68
REBEEHAE TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1,202,625 1,209,282
REBEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
Hib e zaE - BliEe & Other payables, deposits received and accruals

EETER 170,510 140,456
BREE Senior notes 908,543 772,673
REBaEAE TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,079,053 913,129
REBEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 123,572 296,153
EEABERABAE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 123,572 296,153
EEFE NET ASSETS 123,572 296,153
ER EQUITY
BT A Issued capital 47,972 47,972
A Reserves 75,600 248,181
XA TOTAL EQUITY 123,572 296,153

" R A EWE
Lun Zhao Ming Lu Peijun
EFE BE
Director Director
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48. A B B AR5 &k (4 48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)
Kt Note:
REBRBEHRENT ¢ A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:
R EE BRERE ERfE R EE @it
Share  Share option Exchange  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
ARETT AR®FTT AR®ETTT ARETTT AR®ETTT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R202F1A1A8 At 1 January 2022 843471 86,631 (101,689) (352,085) 476,328
FREERZEEBAE  Lossand total comprehensive loss for
the year - - 39,804 (164,285) (124,481)
DRELENBIRELEE  Equity-settled share option
arrangements - 7,266 - 7,266
BRI RS ERT Transferring share option reserve upon
BERERERE the forfeiture or expiring of share
options - (12,736) - 8,155 (4,581)
200 FRERE 2021 final dividend (106,351) - - - (106,351)
R202F12ANAER At 31 December 2022 and
203F1A1H 1 January 2023 737,120 81,161 (61,885) (508,215) 248,181
FREERZEEEBAE  Lossand total comprehensive loss for
the year - - 11444 (186,941) (175497)
DRELENBRELE  Equity-settled share option
arrangements - 3,022 - 3,022
B AL ERT Transferring share option reserve upon
BERERERE the forfeiture or expiring of share
options - (2,118) - 2,012 (106)
R2023%F 128318 At 31 December 2023 737,120 82,065 (50,441) (693,144) 75,600
49, it EBTIE SRR 49. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B mARN204FIABHEEETEH
E IR T EE o

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 28 March 2024.
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